
CITY OF WOODBURN 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
NOVEMBER 12, 2019– 7:00 P.M. 

ERIC SWENSON, MAYOR 
DEBBIE CABRALES, COUNCILOR WARD 1 

LISA ELLSWORTH, COUNCILOR WARD II 
ROBERT CARNEY, COUNCILOR WARD III 

SHARON SCHAUB, COUNCILOR WARD IV 
MARY BETH CORNWELL, COUNCILOR WARD V 

ERIC MORRIS, COUNCILOR WARD VI 

CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 270 MONTGOMERY STREET 
 
 

This facility is ADA accessible. If you need special accommodation, please contact the City Recorder at 503-980-
6318 at least 24 hours prior to this meeting. 

 
**Habrá intérpretes disponibles para aquéllas personas que no hablan Inglés, previo acuerdo.  
Comuníquese al (503) 980-2485.** 
 
November 12, 2019 Council Agenda  Page i 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND FLAG SALUTE 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
3. ANNOUNCEMENTS AND APPOINTMENTS 

 
Announcements: 
A. City Hall will be closed November 28 and 29 for the Thanksgiving 

Holiday.  
 
The Library will be closed November 28 but will be open from 10 a.m. to 
2 p.m. on Friday, November 29. 
 
The Aquatic Center will be closed November 28 but will be open from 7 
a.m. to 6 p.m. on Friday, November 29. 
 
Transit Services will be closed on November 28 but will be open normal 
business hours on Friday, November 29. 

 

   
B. The City Council meeting scheduled for November 25, 2019 is 

cancelled.  The next City Council meeting will take place on December 
9, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. 

 

 
Appointments: 
None.   
 

4. WOODBURN POLICE DEPARTMENT SWEARING-IN CEREMONY 
 
5. 15 MINUTE BREAK 
 
6. COMMUNITY/GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS 
 

None.   
 
 
 
 



 
November 12, 2019 Council Agenda  Page ii 

7. PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS   
 
Proclamations: 
None.   
 
Presentations: 
None.   
 

8. COMMUNICATIONS  
None.   

 
9. BUSINESS FROM THE PUBLIC – This allows the public to introduce items for Council 

consideration not already scheduled on the agenda. Comment time will be 
limited to 3 minutes. 

 
10. CONSENT AGENDA – Items listed on the consent agenda are considered routine 

and may be adopted by one motion.  Any item may be removed for discussion 
at the request of a Council member.  

  
A. Woodburn City Council minutes of October 28, 2019 1 
 Recommended Action:  Approve the minutes.  
   
B. Acceptance of a Temporary Public Utility Easement at 1800 W. Hayes 

Street (Nellie Muir School), Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 
052W12DD06300) 

4 

 Recommended Action: Accept the dedication of a temporary public 
utility easement granted by the Woodburn School District, owners of 
the property located at 1800 W. Hayes Street, Woodburn, OR 97071 
(Tax Lot 052W12DD06300).  

 

   
C. Acceptance of Two Public Utility Easements at 1800 W. Hayes Street 

(Nellie Muir School), Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300) 
9 

 Recommended Action: Accept the dedication of two public utility 
easements granted by the Woodburn School District, owners of the 
property located at 1800 W. Hayes Street, Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax 
Lot 052W12DD06300).  

 

   
D. Acceptance of two Warranty Deeds at 1800 W Hayes Street (Nellie 

Muir School), Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300) 
18 

 Recommended Action: Accept two right-of-way dedications granted 
by the Woodburn School District, owners of the property located at 
1800 W. Hayes Street, Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300). 

 

   
E.  Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 5-year Tax Abatement Agreement 

with Grating Pacific, LLC 
27 



 
November 12, 2019 Council Agenda  Page iii 

 Recommended Action: Authorize an Agreement with Grating Pacific, 
LLC for property tax abatement for Five (5) years under the Woodburn-
Gervais Enterprise Zone.  

 

   
F.  Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 5-year Tax Abatement Agreement 

with I & E Construction, Inc. 
39 

 Recommended Action: Authorize an Agreement with I & E 
Construction, Inc. for property tax abatement for Five (5) years under 
the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone.   

 

 
11. TABLED BUSINESS 
 

None.   
 
 
12. PUBLIC HEARINGS/GENERAL BUSINESS – Members of the public wishing to comment 

on items of general business must complete and submit a speaker’s card to the City 
Recorder prior to commencing this portion of the Council’s agenda.  Comment 
time will be limited to 3 minutes.  

 
A. PUBLIC HEARING 

Republic Service Rate Increase 
54 

 Recommended Action: Conduct a Public Hearing pursuant to 
Ordinance 2552 (Solid Waste Management Ordinance) to examine 
and consider the revised rate schedule and corresponding request 
for a rate increase proposed by United Disposal Service, Inc. dba 
Republic Services of Marion County-Woodburn (Republic Services). 

 

   
B. Council Bill No. 3112 - A Resolution Approving an Adjusted Rate 

Schedule for Providing Solid Waste Service Within the City of 
Woodburn and Repealing Resolution 2087 

70 

 Recommended Action:  Consider the proposed resolution authorizing 
rate increases of 12% for residential, commercial, and industrial 
customers, effective January 1, 2020.   

 

   
C. PUBLIC HEARING 

FY 2019/20 SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET REQUEST FOR CREATION OF PERS 
SIDE ACCOUNT 

 77 

 Recommended Action: Hold a public hearing on the FY 2019-20 
Supplemental Budget Request.  

 

   
D. Council Bill No.  3113 – A FY 2019-2020 Resolution Approving $733,333 

in Transfers of Appropriations in Various Funds and Approving the 
Creation of a Side Account Through the Contribution of $2,823,043 to 

 81 



 
November 12, 2019 Council Agenda  Page iv 

PERS 
 Recommended Action: adopt the attached resolution approving a 

supplemental budget in the amount of $733,333. 
 

   
E. PUBLIC HEARING 

Expansion of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 
 84 

 Recommended Action:  Conduct a public hearing on expanding the 
Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone to include the 108 acres of 
recently annexed industrial land located in the Southwest Industrial 
Reserve (SWIR) area west of I-5. 

 

   
F. Council Bill No. 3114 - A Resolution for Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise 

Zone Boundary Change 
 90 

 Recommended Action:  Consider the attached resolution 
recommending that the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais 
Enterprise Zone be expanded. 

 

   
G. Award a Contract for Final Design Services for the I-5 Pump Station 

and Force Main Upgrades to Murraysmith, Inc. 
 99 

 Recommended Action:  Award a Contract for final design services for 
the I-5 Pump Station and Force Main Upgrades for $537,850.00 to 
Murraysmith, Inc. and authorize the City Administrator to sign the 
Agreement. 

 

   
H. PUBLIC HEARING 

Pacific Valley Apartments DR 2019-03 
101 

 Recommended Action: Consider the staff memo and its attachments 
and testimony and uphold the Planning Commission approval with 
conditions.   
 
Alternate Outcomes 
 

The Council may instead act on the land use application to: 
1. Approve with modified conditions; or 
2. Deny, based on WDO criteria or other City provisions. 

 

 
13. PLANNING COMMISSION OR ADMINISTRATIVE LAND USE ACTIONS – These are 

Planning Commission or Administrative Land Use actions that may be called up 
by the City Council.   

 
A. Call-Up Briefing:  Planning Commission Approval of a Modification 

to Conditions of Approval for Salem Health Clinic at 105 N. Arney 
Rd (MOC 2019-01) 

 218 

 Recommended Action: Staff recommends no action and briefs 
the Council on this item pursuant to Woodburn Development 
Ordinance (WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The Council may call up this 

 

http://www.ci.woodburn.or.us/sites/default/files/WDO%20Ordinance%20-%20January%209%2C%202017.pdf#page=203


 
November 12, 2019 Council Agenda  Page v 

item for review if desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review of 
this decision. 

   
B. Call-Up Briefing:  Planning Commission Approval of Conditional 

Use, Design Review, Street Exception, and Variance Applications 
for Heritage Elementary School at 440 Parr Rd (CU 2019-02, DR 
2019-02, EXCP 2019-02, & VAR 2019-01) 

219 

 Recommended Action: Staff recommends no action and briefs 
the Council on this item pursuant to Woodburn Development 
Ordinance (WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The Council may call up this 
item for review if desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review of 
this decision.   

 

   
C. Call-Up Briefing:  Planning Commission Approval of Conditional 

Use, Design Review, Street Exception, and Variance Applications 
for Lincoln Elementary School at 965 & 1041 N. Boones Ferry Rd 
(CU 2019-06, DR 2019-08, EXCP 2019-04, & VAR 2019-06) 

221 

 Recommended Action: Staff recommends no action and briefs 
the Council on this item pursuant to Woodburn Development 
Ordinance (WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The Council may call up this 
item for review if desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review of 
this decision.   

 

 
14. CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
15. MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
16. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
  
 None.  
 
17. ADJOURNMENT  
 
 
 
 

COUNCIL GOALS 2019-2021 
 

              Thematic Goals 
 

1. Create an inclusive environment where residents participate and are engaged in the community (that is vibrant, safe 
and active).  

 
2. Promote an environment that encourages sustainable economic health maximizing our geographic, workforce, 

cultural and community assets.  
 

              Strategic Goals 
 

3. Create an inclusive environment where Woodburn residents want to participate and are engaged in the community.  
 

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo
https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo
https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo
https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo


 
November 12, 2019 Council Agenda  Page vi 

4. Develop innovative funding sources to help support the completion of capital improvement projects.  
 

5. Grow and support strategic partnerships for economic health.  
 

6. Explore the development of a non-profit consolidation facility. 
 

7. Improve Communication and Coordination with School District on matters of mutual interest. 
 

8. Completion of the First Street remodel. 
 

9. Completion of Phase 1 & 2 of the Community Center Project including the formation of an ad hoc steering committee 
to review and recommend design. 

 
10. Creation of the Dick Jennings Community Leadership Academy. 

 
11. Develop a strategy to limit PERS liability. 

 
12. Establishment of a Woodburn 20 year community-visioning plan. 

 
 
 



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 28, 2019 

Page 1 - Council Meeting Minutes, October 28, 2019 

  
 DATE  COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL, CITY OF WOODBURN, COUNTY OF 

MARION, STATE OF OREGON, OCTOBER 28, 2019 
 

CONVENED   The meeting convened at 7:02 p.m. with Mayor Swenson presiding. 
 

 ROLL CALL 
Mayor Swenson Present  
Councilor Carney Present 
Councilor Cornwell Present 
Councilor Schaub Present 
Councilor Morris Absent 
Councilor Ellsworth Present 
Councilor Cabrales Absent 
 
Staff Present: City Administrator Derickson, City Attorney Shields, Economic Development 
Director Johnk, Operations Director Stultz, Community Development Director Kerr, 
Economic Development Assistant Setzer, Lieutenant Shadrin, Communications Coordinator 
Moore, Senior Planner Cortes, City Recorder Pierson 

 
  
 ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 City Hall, the Library, and the Aquatic Center will be closed on November 11 in observance 

of Veterans Day.  
 
 The City Council meeting scheduled for Monday, November 11 has been moved to Tuesday, 

November 12.   
 
 The Aquatic Center will be closed from November 11-15 for maintenance projects to be 

completed.   
 
 COMMUNITY/GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS 
 John Zobrist, Interim Director of the Woodburn Area Chamber of Commerce and Economic 

Development Assistant Setzer provided a presentation on the Tourism Advisory Committee 
events they have been working on and their goals moving forward. 

 
 PROCLAMATION 
 Mayor Swenson read a proclamation declaring November 2019 as Small Business Month.  
  
 PRESENTATIONS 

Housing Needs Analysis Work Session - Senior Planner Cortes provided a staff report.  Tim 
Wood with FCS Group, provided information to the City Council on the Housing Needs 
Analysis. Councilors provided comments and asked questions. Carney stated that he is pleased 
with the document but his preference is that it is submitted without Appendix B.  
 
 

1



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 28, 2019 

Page 2 - Council Meeting Minutes, October 28, 2019 

 
 John Morgan stated that the November 2, 2019 Goal Setting follow up retreat will include a 

review of the City Council’s goals and the status of them, what is working and what City 
Councilors would like to discuss.  Councilor Carney stated that he would like to review policy 
and procedures. Councilor Cornwell stated that she would like discuss the Council’s goal of 
finding innovative funding sources. Councilor Ellsworth stated that she would like focus on 
where the City is going in the next 20 years and how we move forward with our goals and 
some relationship building. Councilor Schaub stated that she was hoping to go over the 
strategic goals and what’s been accomplished and also go over the policy and procedures. 
Mayor Swenson added that he would like to discuss the roles of the Mayor, Council and staff.  

 
 BUSINESS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 Brett George spoke in favor of the Housing Needs Analysis.  
 
 CONSENT AGENDA  

A. Woodburn City Council minutes of October 14, 2019, 
B. Woodburn Planning Commission minutes of September 26, 2019, 
C. Community Center Citizens Advisory Committee minutes of September 4, 2019, 
D. Woodburn Recreation and Park Board minutes of September 19, 2019, 
E. Crime Statistics through September 2019. 
Carney/Ellsworth… adopt the Consent Agenda. The motion passed unanimously. 

  
COUNCIL BILL NO. 3111 - A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE CITY OF 
WOODBURN'S 2020 U.S. CENSUS COMPLETE COUNT COMMITTEE 
Carney introduced Council Bill No. 3111. City Recorder Pierson read the bill by title only 
since there were no objections from the Council. On roll call vote for final passage, the bill 
passed unanimously. Mayor Swenson declared Council Bill No. 3111 duly passed. 
 

 CALL-UP BRIEFING:  PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL OF DESIGN 
REVIEW, PROPERTY LINE ADJUSTMENT, AND VARIANCE APPLICATIONS 
FOR PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS AT 1310 & 1340 N. PACIFIC HWY (DR 
2019-03, PLA 2019-03, & VAR 2019-02)  

 Community Development Director Kerr provided a staff report.  
  
 Fred Muraviov, 1297 Greenview Dr. stated that he is in favor of the City Council calling this 

item up for review.  
  
 Ulf Bjorkland, 1281 Greenview Dr., spoke about the impacts these apartments would have on 

him and suggested an alternate plan.  
 
 Kim Bjorklund, 1281 Greenview Dr., spoke about the impacts the apartments will have on 

her home and stated that she would like to see an alternate plan.   
  
 Sandra Camacho, 1235 Greenview Dr., spoke about the impacts this apartment will have on 

2



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
OCTOBER 28, 2019 

Page 3 - Council Meeting Minutes, October 28, 2019 

them.  
 
 Craig Ronhouson, expressed his concerns for this project and the impacts the traffic will have 

on the neighborhood.  
   
 Alex Muraviov, 1297 Greenview Dr., stated that there is an ordinance in regards to these 

properties that refers to keeping their privacy and to protect these properties from shadowing.  
  
 Cornwell/Carney… call up item for review.  On roll call the vote was 2-2 with Councilors 

Ellsworth and Schaub voting nay. Mayor Swenson voted aye to break the tie and pass the 
motion.  Community Development Director Kerr stated that he will set the public hearing for 
the City Councils November 12, meeting.  

 
 CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 The City Administrator reported the following:  
 

• Attended the ICMA conference last week and that it was very worthwhile.  
 

• Notices will be going out to the public who are putting yard debris in the right-of-ways 
as this is an ordinance violation.   
 

• Leaf drop off this year will be at Legion Park 
 

 

 MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
 Councilor Cornwell stated that she looks forward to Saturday’s meeting.  
   
 Mayor Swenson stated that he attended the Love Inc. Banquet.  
   
 ADJOURNMENT 

Ellsworth/Schaub… meeting be adjourned.  The motion passed unanimously.   
The meeting adjourned at 9:02 p.m. 

 
 
APPROVED                                                            
                      ERIC SWENSON, MAYOR 

 
 
ATTEST                                                                               
               Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
               City of Woodburn, Oregon 

3



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney ___x___ Finance ___x__ 

                       November 12, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Eric Liljequist, Public Works Projects & Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Acceptance of a Temporary Public Utility Easement at 1800 W. 

Hayes Street (Nellie Muir School), Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 
052W12DD06300) 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Accept the dedication of a temporary public utility easement granted by the 
Woodburn School District, owners of the property located at 1800 W. Hayes Street, 
Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300).  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The property owner is required to provide the temporary public utility easement 
in order to satisfy the conditions of approval of Design Review (CU 2019-04). 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The temporary public utility easement is a 10-foot wide easement dedication 
located 5’ west of the easterly property boundary, adjacent to the future road 
named Killian Springs Parkway.  The 10-foot wide public utility easement provides 
a temporary construction easement to construct public utilities.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no cost to the City for the Temporary Public Easement. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A Copy of the Temporary Public Utility Easement document is included as Exhibit 
“A” and Exhibit “B”.  

4



5



6



7



8



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __x____ City Attorney ___xx___ Finance __x___ 

                 November 12, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Eric Liljequist, Public Works Projects & Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Acceptance of Two Public Utility Easements at 1800 W. Hayes Street 

(Nellie Muir School), Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300) 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Accept the dedication of two public utility easements granted by the Woodburn 
School District, owners of the property located at 1800 W. Hayes Street, 
Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300).  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The property owner is required to provide two public utility easements in order to 
satisfy the conditions of approval of Design Review (CU 2019-04). 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The first easement is a 5-foot wide public utility easement dedication located 
along the easterly property boundary, adjacent to the future road named Killian 
Springs Parkway.  The second easement is a 5-foot wide public utility easement 
dedication located at the northwest corner of the property boundary. The 5-foot 
wide public utility easements provide a permanent easement and right-of-way to 
construct, reconstruct, and operate public and franchised utilities.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no cost to the City for the Public Easements. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A Copy of the two Public Utility Easement documents is included as Exhibit “A” 
and Exhibit “B” for each dedication.  

9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __x____ City Attorney ____x__ Finance __x___ 

              November 12, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Eric Liljequist, Public Works Projects & Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Acceptance of two Warranty Deeds at 1800 W Hayes Street (Nellie 

Muir School), Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax Lot 052W12DD06300) 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Accept two right-of-way dedications granted by the Woodburn School District, 
owners of the property located at 1800 W. Hayes Street, Woodburn, OR 97071 (Tax 
Lot 052W12DD06300).  
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The property owner is required to provide the two right-of-way dedications in 
order to satisfy the conditions of approval of Design Review (CU 2019-04). 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The first public right-of-way dedication is a 20-foot wide strip located along the 
easterly property boundary, adjacent to the future road named Killian Springs 
Parkway.   The second public right-of-way dedication is a 5-foot wide strip located 
at the northwest portion of the property boundary that borders Cascade Drive 
and W. Hayes Street. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no cost to the City for the Warranty deed. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A Copy of the Warranty Deed documents is included as Exhibit “A” and Exhibit 
“B” for each dedication.  

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney ___x___ Finance _x____ 

                                                             November 12, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director 
   
SUBJECT: Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 5-year Tax Abatement Agreement with 

Grating Pacific, LLC 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Authorize an Agreement with Grating Pacific, LLC for property tax abatement for Five 
(5) years under the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone.   
 
BACKGROUND:   

Pursuant to Oregon state statutes, Enterprise Zones may be created by local 
governments to encourage business investment through property tax abatement.  
The Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone provides an abatement of property taxes to 
eligible businesses on qualifying investments for a period of three (3) to five (5) years. 
The boundary of the Zone includes the entire city limits of both Woodburn and Gervais.  
Standard incentives are available to eligible businesses in an enterprise zone, subject 
to authorization, timely filings and job creation criteria.  

 
DISCUSSION: 

Grating Pacific, LLC is expanding its current facility at 2775 N Front Street, adding 
approximately 19,000 square feet to their existing build and new equipment and 
machinery for their industrial business operation.  This property is within the boundaries 
of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone. 
 
Grating Pacific, LLC completed an Enterprise Zone Authorization Application for their 
proposed investment of $4,000,000 comprised of a 19,000 s.f. building and qualifying 
machinery and equipment.  The application reflects 28 existing jobs in the district with 
the creation of 5 additional jobs with this expansion; meeting the enterprise zone 
requirement of creating a minimum of 10% new jobs for consideration of abatement.   
 
To receive consideration of an extended tax abatement, the applicant (Grating 
Pacific, LLC) must pay new employees 150% of Marion County’s average wage, or 
$67,134 (at the time of application).  Grating Pacific, LLC has committed to pay this  
 

27



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
wage per the Agreement.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

Property taxes on new investment will be abated for a period of five years. 
 

28



WRITTEN AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF WOODBURN ENTERPRISE ZONE  

SPONSOR TO EXTEND PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE  

YEARS FOR 2020-2025 

 
The sponsor of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone comprising the governing body of City of 
Woodburn (hereinafter “Zone Sponsor”) and Grating Pacific, LLC (hereinafter “Firm”) do hereby 
enter into an agreement for extending the period of time in which the Firm shall receive an 
exemption on its proposed investments in qualified property in the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise 
Zone contingent on certain special requirements. 
 
The Zone Sponsor and the Firm jointly acknowledge that subject to timely submission and approval 
of an application for precertification and the satisfaction of other requirements under ORS 285C.050 
to 285C.250 (2005). The Firm is eligible for three years of complete exemption on its qualified 
property; that nothing in this agreement shall modify or infringe on this three-year exemption or the 
requirements thereof, and that this agreement becomes null and void if the Firm does not qualify for 
these three years of the exemption. 

 
The Zone Sponsor extends the Firm’s property tax exemption an additional two years on all property 
that initially qualifies in the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone on or before the assessment year 
beginning on July 1, 2020 and, thus, sets a total period of exemption of five consecutive years during 
which statutory requirements for the standard three-year enterprise zone exemption must also be 
satisfied and maintained. 
 
In order to receive the additional two years of enterprise zone exemption granted herein, the Firm 
agrees herewith pursuant to ORS 285C.160 (3) that for each year of the exemption, all of the Firm’s 
new employees shall receive an average level of compensation equal to or greater than 150 percent of 
the county average annual wage ($67,134 per annum), in accordance with the definitions and 
guidelines in Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR), Chapter 123, Division 674, which provides that: 
 

1. Such compensation may include non-mandatory benefits that can be monetized; 
 
2. At the time of precertification, 150% of the Marion County average wage is 

$67,134 per year; 
 
3. Only employees working at jobs filled for the first time after the application for 

precertification but prior to July 1 following the first full year of the exemption 
and performed within the current boundaries of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise 
Zone are counted; and 
 

4. Only full-time, year-around and non-temporary employees engaged a majority of 
their time in the Firm’s eligible operations under ORS 285C.135 are counted, 
regardless if such employees are leased, contracted for or otherwise obtained 
through an external agency or are employed directly by The Firm. 
 

The Zone Sponsor does not request any requirement of the Firm and relinquishes all rights to 
make the additional two years of property tax exemption granted herein contingent on additional 
requirements that might otherwise be reasonably requested under ORS 285C.160 (3) for urban 
zones. 

29



 
 
 
 

ACCEPTING FOR THE SPONSOR OF 

THE WOODBURN-GERVAIS  

ENTERPRISE ZONE: 

 

By:   _____________________________ 

Scott Derickson 

City Administrator_____________________ 
(Printed Name) 

Date:  _______________________________ 

 

 ACCEPTING FOR FIRM:  

GRATING PACIFIC. LLC 

 

 

By:   

Ron Robertson 

President_____________________________ 
(Printed Name) 

Date:  _______________________________ 

 

30



! Form OR-EZ-AUTH I Oregon Enterprise Zone Authorization Application* 

Complete form and submit to the local enterprise zone manager before breaking ground or beginning work at the site. 
Applicant 

Enterprise zone or rural renewable energy development zone (where business firm and property will be located) Email 
Woodburn - Gervias Enterprise Zone ronrobertson@gratingpacific.com 
Name of business finn Phone 
Grating Pacific LLC ( 800 ) 942-4041 

Mailing address City State ZIP code 
2775 N. Front Street Woodburn OR 97071 
Location of property (street address if different from above) City State ZIP code 

I 
Contact person Title County, TRS map ID number, and Tax lot number of site Marion, 

R339693, C000147 /0 51 W0 5 D 01 90 2 Ron Robertson President 

My firm expects to first claim standard property tax exemption in the following (up to three) year(s):_2_0_2 _0 _ -_2_0_2_2 ________ ___ 
D Check here if your firm has or has had another exemption in this enterprise zone. 
I&] Check here that your firm commits to renew this authorization application. Renew this application on or before April 1 every two calendar 

years, until the tax exemption on qualified property is claimed. 
� Check here if requesting an extended abatement of one or two additional years of exemption. Extended abatement is subject to written 

agreement with local zone sponsor before this application is approved and to additional state or local requirements. 

Zone manager use only (after written agreement but before authorizing firm): 

County average annual wage: $67,143 Year Total exemption period: 40 or 5  x Consecutive years (check one) 

Business eligibility 

Eligible activity-Check all activities that apply to proposed investment within the enterprise zone: 

� Manufacturing I&! Fabrication 
I&! Assembly D Processing 

D Bulk printing I&! Shipping D Agricultural production D Energy generation 
D Software publishing D Storage D Back-office systems 

D Other-describe the activities that provide goods, products, or services to other businesses (or to other operations of your firm}: 

D Check here if your business firm does or will engage in ineligible activities within the enterprise zone (such as retail sales, health care, 
professional services, or construction}. Describe below (or in an attachment) these activities and their physical separation from "eligible activities": 

Special cases-Check all that apply: 
D Check here if a hotel, motel, or destination resort in an applicable enterprise zone. 
D Check here if a retail/financial call center. Indicate expected percent of customers in local calling area: ____ __ %. 
D Check here if a "headquarters" facility. (Zone sponsor must find that operations are statewidEH"egional in scope and locally significant) 
D Check here if an electronic commerce investment in an e-commerce enterprise zone. 

Employment in the enterprise zone (see worksheets on last page) 
Don't count FTEs, temporary, seasonal, construction, part-time jobs (32 hours or less per week}, or employees working at ineligible operations. 

Existing Employment-My business firm's average number of full-time employees in the zone over the past 12 months is-"2'""8 _____ _ 
New Employees-• Hiring is expected to begin on (date or month and year): _D_e_c _2_0_1_9 ____ _ 

• Hiring is expected to be completed by (month and year): __ D ___ e�c � 2�0�2�1 ____ _ 
• Estimated total number of new employees to be hired with this investment is: 5

Commitments-By checking all boxes below, you agree to the following commitments as required by law for authorization: 
I&] By April 1 of the first year of exemption on the proposed investment in qualified property, I will have increased existing employment within 

the zone by one new employee or by 10%, whichever is greater. 
I&] My firm will maintain at least the above minimum level as an annual average employment during the exemption period. 
I&] When the exemption claim is filed by April 1 following each calendar year of exemption, total employment in the zone will also not have 

shrunk by more than 85% at one time or by more than 50% twice in a row, compared to the highest such figure with any previous claim. 
� My firm will comply with local additional requirements as contained in: (1) a written agreement for an extended abatement, (2) zone sponsor 

resolution(s) waiving required employment increase, or (3) an urban enterprise zone's adopted policy, if applicable. 
I&] My firm will verify compliance with these commitments, as requested by the local zone sponsor, the county assessor or their 

representative, or as directed by state forms or administrative rules. 
� My firm will enter into a first-source hiring agreement before hiring new eligible employees. (This mandatory agreement entails an obligation 

to consider referrals from local job training providers for eligible job openings within the zone during at least the exemption period.) 

150-303-029 (Rev. 10· 18) ·Also for Rural Renewable Energy Development Zones. 

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



Agenda Item 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney ___x___ Finance __x___ 

November 12, 2019 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 

FROM: Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director 

SUBJECT: Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 5-year Tax Abatement Agreement with 
I & E Construction, Inc. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Authorize an Agreement with I & E Construction, Inc. for property tax abatement for 
Five (5) years under the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone.   

BACKGROUND:   

At the September 9, 2019 meeting, the City Council approved a five-year enterprise 
zone tax abatement agreement with Ivanov Investment Group, LLC.  Upon further 
review and discussion with the Marion County Assessor’s office, it was determined that 
the enterprise zone application and subsequent documentation should be in the 
name of the operating company (I & E Construction, Inc.) as opposed to the 
investment/holding company Ivanov Investment Group, LLC. 

Therefore, the attached represents a corrected Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 
Five-year Tax Abatement Agreement with I & E Construction, Inc. Execution of this 
Agreement will annul and replace the prior agreement that had been approved with 
Ivanov Investment Group, LLC.  

DISCUSSION: 
Pursuant to Oregon state statutes, Enterprise Zones may be created by local 
governments to encourage business investment through property tax abatement. 
The Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone provides an abatement of property taxes to 
eligible businesses on qualifying investments for a period of three (3) to five (5) years. 
The boundary of the Zone includes the entire city limits of both Woodburn and Gervais. 
Standard incentives are available to eligible businesses in an enterprise zone, subject 
to authorization, timely filings and job creation criteria.  

Ivanov Investment Group, LLC purchased the industrial property located at 2215 
Progress Way, Woodburn for the purpose of constructing a 28,000 square foot facility 
to house their construction business.  This property is within the boundaries of the 
Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone.  Ivanov Investment Group, LLC will lease said  

39



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 2 

property to I & E Construction, Inc. 

I & E Construction, Inc. completed an Enterprise Zone Authorization Application for 
their proposed investment of $3,100,000 comprised of a 28,000 s.f. building and 
qualifying machinery and equipment.  The application reflects four existing jobs will be 
located on the site as well as one new job, meeting the enterprise zone requirement of 
creating a minimum of 10% new jobs for consideration of abatement.   

To receive consideration of an extended tax abatement, the applicant (I & E 
Construction, Inc.) must pay new employees 150% of Marion County’s average wage, 
or $67,134 (at time of application).  They are committed to do this per the Agreement. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 

Property taxes on the new investment will be abated for a period of five years. 

40



WRITTEN AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF WOODBURN ENTERPRISE ZONE  

SPONSOR TO EXTEND PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION TO FIVE CONSECUTIVE  

YEARS FOR 2020-2025 

 
The sponsor of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone comprising the governing body of City of 
Woodburn (hereinafter “Zone Sponsor”) and I & E Construction, Inc. (hereinafter “Firm”) do hereby 
enter into an agreement for extending the period of time in which the Firm shall receive an 
exemption on its proposed investments in qualified property in the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise 
Zone contingent on certain special requirements. 
 
The Zone Sponsor and the Firm jointly acknowledge that subject to timely submission and approval 
of an application for precertification and the satisfaction of other requirements under ORS 285C.050 
to 285C.250 (2005). The Firm is eligible for three years of complete exemption on its qualified 
property; that nothing in this agreement shall modify or infringe on this three-year exemption or the 
requirements thereof, and that this agreement becomes null and void if the Firm does not qualify for 
these three years of the exemption. 

 
The Zone Sponsor extends the Firm’s property tax exemption an additional two years on all property 
that initially qualifies in the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone on or before the assessment year 
beginning on ______________________, 2020 and, thus, sets a total period of exemption of five 
consecutive years during which statutory requirements for the standard three-year enterprise zone 
exemption must also be satisfied and maintained. 
 
In order to receive the additional two years of enterprise zone exemption granted herein, the Firm 
agrees herewith pursuant to ORS 285C.160 (3) that for each year of the exemption, all of the Firm’s 
new employees shall receive an average level of compensation equal to or greater than 150 percent of 
the county average annual wage ($67,134 per annum), in accordance with the definitions and 
guidelines in Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR), Chapter 123, Division 674, which provides that: 
 

1. Such compensation may include non-mandatory benefits that can be monetized; 
 
2. At the time of precertification, 150% of the Marion County average wage is 

$67,134 per year; 
 
3. Only employees working at jobs filled for the first time after the application for 

precertification but prior to July 1 following the first full year of the exemption 
and performed within the current boundaries of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise 
Zone are counted; and 
 

4. Only full-time, year-around and non-temporary employees engaged a majority of 
their time in the Firm’s eligible operations under ORS 285C.135 are counted, 
regardless if such employees are leased, contracted for or otherwise obtained 
through an external agency or are employed directly by The Firm. 
 

The Zone Sponsor does not request any requirement of the Firm and relinquishes all rights to 
make the additional two years of property tax exemption granted herein contingent on additional 
requirements that might otherwise be reasonably requested under ORS 285C.160 (3) for urban 
zones. 

41



 
 
 
 

ACCEPTING FOR THE SPONSOR OF 

THE WOODBURN-GERVAIS  

ENTERPRISE ZONE: 

 

By:   _____________________________ 

 

____________________________________ 
(Printed Name) 

Date:  _______________________________ 

 

 ACCEPTING FOR FIRM:  

I & E CONSTRUCTION, INC. 

 

 

By:   

 

____________________________________ 
(Printed Name) 

Date:  _______________________________ 

 

42



I Form OR-EZ-AUTH i Oregon Enterprise Zone Authorization Application* 

Complete form and submit to the local enterprise zone manager before breaking ground or beginning work at the site. 
Applicant 

Enterprise zone or rural renewable energy development zone (where business firm and property will be located) Email 

Woodburn, OR Skylar@iecon.us 
Name of business firm Phone 

l&E Construction, Inc ( 503 ) 655-7933 
Mailing address City State ZIP code 
9550 SE Clackamas Rd. Clackamas OR 97015 

Location of property (street address if different from above) City State ZIP code 

2215 Progress Way Woodburn OR 97071 
County, TRS map ID number, and Tax lot number of site 

I 
Contact person Title 

Marion County, MAP 05-1W-08BC, Tax Lot 500 Skylar Ribelin Project Engineer 

My firm expects to first claim standard property tax exemption in the following (up to three) year(s):_2 _0 _1 _2 _-2_0_2_5 ___________ _
D Check here if your firm has or has had another exemption in this enterprise zone. 

I&] Check here that your firm commits to renew this authorization application. Renew this application on or before April 1 every two calendar 
years, until the tax exemption on qualified property is claimed. 

� Check here if requesting an extended abatement of one or two additional years of exemption. Extended abatement is subject to written 
agreement with local zone sponsor before this application is approved and to additional state or local requirements. 

Zone manager use only (after written agreement but before authorizing firm): 

County average annual wage:$ 67,134  Year   |  Total exemption period: 40 or 5  X Consecutive years (check one) 

Business eligibility 

Eligible activity-Check all activities that apply to proposed investment within the enterprise zone: 

D Manufacturing D Fabrication D Bulk printing D Shipping D Agricultural production D Energy generation 
D Assembly D Processing D Software publishing D Storage D Back-office systems 
[RJ Other-describe the activities that provide goods, products, or services to other businesses (or to other operations of your firm): 

Maintenance Facility 
I&] Check here if your business firm does or will engage in ineligible activities within the enterprise zone (such as retail sales, health care, 

professional services, or construction). Describe below (or in an attachment) these activities and their physical separation from "eligible activities": 
Company is in construction industry but facility will be used exclusively as a maintenace facility to store equipment and machinery 

Special cases-Check all that apply: 
D Check here if a hotel, motel, or destination resort in an applicable enterprise zone. 
D Check here if a retail/financial call center. Indicate expected percent of customers in local calling area: ______ %. 
D Check here if a "headquarters" facility. (Zone sponsor must find that operations are statewide-regional in scope and locally significant) 
D Check here if an electronic commerce investment in an e-commerce enterprise zone. 

Employment in the enterprise zone (see worksheets on last page) 
Don't count FTEs, temporary, seasonal, construction, part-time jobs (32 hours or less per week), or employees working at ineligible operations. 

Existing Employment-My business firm's average number of full-time employees in the zone over the past 12 months is_4:.___ _____ _ 

New Employees-• Hiring is expected to begin on (date or month and year): 
• Hiring is expected to be completed by (month and year):

5/1/2020 
1/1/2021 

• Estimated total number of new employees to be hired with this investment is: 1

Commitments-By checking all boxes below, you agree to the following commitments as required by law for authorization: 
I&] By April 1 of the first year of exemption on the proposed investment in qualified property, I will have increased existing employment within 

the zone by one new employee or by 10%, whichever is greater. 
I&] My firm will maintain at least the above minimum level as an annual average employment during the exemption period. 
� When the exemption claim is filed by April 1 following each calendar year of exemption, total employment in the zone will also not have 

shrunk by more than 85% at one time or by more than 50% twice in a row, compared to the highest such figure with any previous claim. 
� My firm will comply with local additional requirements as contained in: (1) a written agreement for an extended abatement, (2) zone sponsor 

resolution(s) waiving required employment increase, or (3) an urban enterprise zone's adopted policy, if applicable. 
I&] My firm will verify compliance with these commitments, as requested by the local zone sponsor, the county assessor or their 

representative, or as directed by state forms or administrative rules. 
I&] My firm will enter into a first-source hiring agreement before hiring new eligible employees. (This mandatory agreement entails an obligation 

to consider referrals from local job training providers for eligible job openings within the zone during at least the exemption period.) 

150·303·029 (Rev. 10-18) ·Also for Rural Renewable Energy Development Zones. 

43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney ___x___ Finance __x___ 

 November 12, 2019 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Jim Row, Assistant City Administrator 
 
SUBJECT: Rate Adjustment for United Disposal Service, Inc. dba Republic 

Services of Marion County-Woodburn  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Conduct a Public Hearing pursuant to Ordinance 2552 (Solid Waste 
Management Ordinance) to examine and consider the revised rate schedule 
and corresponding request for a rate increase proposed by United Disposal 
Service, Inc. dba Republic Services of Marion County-Woodburn (Republic 
Services).  
 
Consider the proposed resolution authorizing rate increases of 12% for 
residential, commercial, and industrial customers, effective January 1, 2020.   
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 
 
Republic Services serves 5,668 residences and 376 businesses with trash, 
recycling, yard debris, and other curbside pickup services.   They also provided 
3,120 industrial hauls in 2018.  According to Republic Services, 18 collections 
vehicles haul materials from over 22,000 containers within the City.  
 
In January 2018, the City Council adopted Ordinance 2552, which put into 
place a new solid waste franchise agreement.  The Ordinance was amended in 
February 2018 to correct typographical errors and the Agreement is set to expire 
in February 2025.   
 
Section 4 of the franchise agreement addresses rates and criteria for increasing 
refuse collection rates. In short, the agreement provides that the Franchisee 
(Republic Services) shall have the right to charge and collect reasonable 
compensation from those to which it furnishes franchised services. Under Section 
4, the Council may approve or deny a rate increase based upon, but not limited 
to, the following criteria:  
  
 Increases in operating or capital costs; 
 Increases in taxes, fees, and other governmental assessments; 
 Increases in City population;  

54



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
 Extension of City boundaries;  
 Increase of intensive residential, commercial or industrial 

development within the City;  
 Changes in solid waste or recycling technology; 
 Changes in regulatory requirements;  
 Inability of Franchisee to adequately handle increased needs for 

said service; 
 The rates in other cities for similar services; and, 
 The public interest by assuring reasonable rates to enable 

Franchisee to provide efficient and beneficial service to user of 
the service.  

 
The last garbage and recycling collection rate increase was in September 2016, 
when the City Council authorized a rate increase of 10.2% for residential, 15.6% 
for commercial, and 11.2% for industrial customers. The following table shows 
rate increases for residential curbside service over the past 15 years and the 
proposed increase in 2020.  
 

2005 2006 2010 2012 2014 2016 2020*
8.0% 4.0% 6.6% 3.2% 4.0% 10.2% 12.0%

Table 1. Residential Curbside Collection Rate Increases

 
 
*proposed 
 
 
The increases in 2016 were substantial because the Marion County Board of 
Commissioners had recently adopted significant increases in solid waste disposal 
fees, including a 30% increase in the per ton tipping fee for franchised garbage 
haulers.    
 
On August 12, 2019, Republic Services submitted their initial rate proposal to the 
City, requesting a 12% increase across all service and customer types.  Staff 
asked Republic Services for additional information, which they submitted on 
September 24.  Their rate increase is requested to address two issues.  First, as is 
the case with most businesses, Republic Services is seeing their operational costs 
rise.  Secondly, disruptions in the global recycling market are having a negative 
effect on Republic’s finances.  With China purchasing dramatically less 
recyclable material from the United States and decreases in the commodity 
value of recyclable materials over the last few years, Republic’s revenue from 
the sale of such material has decreased significantly.  In fact, now Republic 
Services and other haulers must often pay recycling processers to take materials 
for which they used to be paid.  

55



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 3 
 
 
 
A representative from Republic Services of Marion County will attend the City 
Council meeting to present justifications for the rate increases and answer any 
questions you might have.  
 
Rate of Return (ROR) Discussion 
 
Solid waste franchises around the state of Oregon typically target a projected 
Rate of Return (ROR) of 8% to 12%. The rationale behind this level of return is to 
recognize the capital-intensive nature of the industry and the risk therein. The 
goal is to compensate the franchisee with sufficient cash flow to allow for the 
routine purchase of replacement vehicles and containers provided to residents 
and businesses.  
 
In the past, the City agreed to support the approach of funding capital 
replacement programs via the revenues generated in Republic Services’ Rate of 
Return, and not as an operations expense – thus, it should be noted that the 
Rate of Return targeted by Republic Services supports the capital expenditures 
for the service program provided to customers. Republic Services supports this 
position in their proposal. 
 
 Rate Increase Justification 
 
According to Republic Services, their projected 2019 Rate of Return (ROR) is 
6.1%.  They indicated that if the City Council does not approve the requested 
rate increase, the projected ROR in 2020 would fall to 3.8%.  A 12% collection 
rate increase, effective January 1, 2020, is projected to result in a 10% ROR in 
2020, keeping within the 8-12% ROR standard for solid waste franchise 
agreements. Table 2 shows recent historical and projected financials, including 
projections for 2020, both with and without the requested rate increase.  
 

56



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 4 
 
 

Revenue $5,020,441 $5,020,441 0.0% $5,020,441 $5,622,893 12.0%

Costs (ops, 
salaries, admin, 

taxes) $4,610,840 $4,714,077 2.2% $4,830,820 $5,062,256 7.4%

Net Income $409,601 $306,364 -25.2% $189,621 $560,637 83.0%

Rate of Return 8.2% 6.1% 3.8% 10.0%

Table 2. Rates of Return with Differing Curbside Collection Rates*

2018
2019 NO Rate 

Change % Change
2020 NO Rate 

Change
2020 WITH 

Rate Change % Change

 
 
* Source: Republic Services Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2018, 2019, and 2020 projected 
 
With a 12% increase in curbside collection rates, Republic Services projects 2020 
revenue as $5,622,893. After all operational and administrative costs are paid 
($5,062,256), Republic projects a 2020 net income of $560,637, which is 10% of 
total revenue and the ROR.    
 
Note: Republic Services’ Statement of Income was not audited. The information 
provided to the City was used as the basis for our discussions and the analysis 
included in this Agenda Item.  Republic also provided the City with a 
comparison of the curbside collection rates charged in the Woodburn franchise 
to those in other area communities, which is included in their attached proposal. 
This summary shows the proposed rates for Woodburn as slightly higher in some 
cases, and slightly lower in others when compared to other jurisdictions. All in all, 
staff found the proposed rate increase places the City in a comparable position 
to the other communities used in the comparison.   
   
Rate Impacts 
 
Republic Services’ proposed rate increase of 12.0% is reflected in the attached 
proposed fee schedule and in the following residential fee table: 
 
 
 
 

 

57



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 5 
 
 

Table 3. 
Republic Services of Marion County 

Proposed Monthly Curbside Collection Rates for Woodburn Residents 
 

Service Current Monthly 
Rate 

Proposed Monthly 
Rate 

20 gal cart*  $22.92 $25.67 
20 gal cart with no recycling/yard waste 
service  

$20.63 
 

$23.10 

35 gal cart* $26.12 $29.25 
65 gal cart* $37.03 $41.47 
90 gal cart* $41.88 $46.91 
On Call Service per pick-up $14.00 $15.40 
Additional 65 gal Yard Debris cart   $12.00 $13.20 
Recycle Only  $10.00 $11.00 
Additional Can, Bag, or Box $9.25 $10.18 
Return for Service Fee $15.00 $16.50 
 
*These options include garbage, recycling & yard debris curbside collection 
 
Each new cart rate reflects a 12% increase over current rates, and each 
additional service reflects a 10% increase.  
 
The 35-gallon garbage cart weekly pick-up is the most popular option selected 
by Woodburn residential customers. Table 3 compares this service cost between 
Woodburn and surrounding municipalities.  
 

Mt. Angel Aurora Hubbard Silverton**
Woodburn 

Current 
Woodburn 

Proposed

35 gallon cart* $26.45 $33.77 $30.01 $32.68 $26.12 $29.25

 Table 4. Monthly Rate Comparisons between Local Municipalities

 
 
* collection service includes garbage, recycling and yard debris collection 
** proposed, not yet approved 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The requested rate adjustment will increase rates by 12% across all customer 
categories, increasing Republic Services’ overall revenue by a similar 
percentage.  The 12% increase to residential users will result in increased costs 

58



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 6 
 
 
ranging from $2.75 (20-gallon cart) to $5.03 per-month (90-gallon cart), 
depending on the garbage cart size.  
  
Republic Services pays the City a franchise fee equal to 5% of their net revenue, 
which is projected to be approximately $252,000 in calendar year 2019.  Without 
a rate increase, Republic expects the franchise fee to be similar in 2020.  If the 
rate increase is approved, the franchise fee is anticipated to increase to 
approximately $282,000 in 2020.  This revenue supports general fund programs, 
such as police, the library, and Recreation and parks.  
 
Attachments 
Republic Services’ Rate Increase Proposal 

59



City of Woodburn

2019 Rate Increase 
Packet

Republic Services of Marion County

60



Printed on Recycled Paper

Letter to City of Woodburn 2019 Rate Increase

2

61



Financial

3

62



Printed on Recycled Paper

Statement of Income and Schedule of Direct Expenses 2019 Rate Increase

4

63



Printed on Recycled Paper

Cost Structure

5

2019 Rate Increase

64



Printed on Recycled Paper

10 Year Cumulative Rate Increases versus West CPI-U

6

2019 Rate Increase

• 2016: 30% disposal rate increase at the Marion County Burner

• 2019: Prorated share of rate increase proposed

65



Rates

7

66



Printed on Recycled Paper

Current Rates vs. New Rates

8

2019 Rate Increase

67



Printed on Recycled Paper

Rate Comparison Table

9

2019 Rate Increase

68



Republic Services of Marion County
2215 N Front St

Woodburn, OR 97071
503.981.1278 •  republicservices.com

10

69



Page 1 – Council Bill No. 3112 
 Resolution No.  2144 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 3112 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2144 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN ADJUSTED RATE SCHEDULE FOR PROVIDING SOLID 
WASTE SERVICE WITHIN THE CITY OF WOODBURN AND REPEALING RESOLUTION 
2087  
 
 WHEREAS, Ordinance 2552 grants an exclusive franchise to United Disposal 
Services, Inc. (“United Disposal”), dba Republic Services of Marion County-
Woodburn to collect, transport, and convey solid waste, recyclables, yard 
debris and other materials in the City; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the City Council previously adopted Resolution 2087 which 
established certain rates; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Republic Services has requested an adjustment to its residential, 
commercial, and Industrial rates and has submitted satisfactory evidence to the 
City Council to justify the proposed rate schedule; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a public hearing to receive 
testimony and other evidence regarding the proposed rate schedule;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE,  
 
THE CITY OF WOODBURN RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. That the Council finds that the rates proposed by United 
Disposal Inc., dba Republic Services of Marion County-Woodburn are fair and 
appropriate under the existing franchise.  In making this determination, the 
Council has considered the following factors pursuant to Section 4 of Ordinance 
2552: 
 

(1) increases in operating or capital costs; 
 

(2) increases in taxes, fees, and other governmental           
assessments; 

 
(3)    increases in City population;  
 
(4)    extension of City boundaries;  
 
(5)    increase of intensive residential, commercial or industrial    
        development within the City;  

70



Page 2 – Council Bill No. 3112 
 Resolution No.  2144 

 
(6)   changes in solid waste or recycling technology; 
 
(7)   changes in regulatory requirements;  
 
(8)   inability of Franchisee to adequately handle increased       
       needs for said service; 
 
(9)   the rates in other cities for similar services; and  

 
(10) the public interest by assuring reasonable rates to enable 

 Franchisee to provide efficient and beneficial service to    
        user of the service.    

 
 Section 2. That the rate schedule affixed as Exhibit “1” and by this 
reference incorporated herein, is approved. 
 
 Section 3. The rate schedule approved in Section 2 of this resolution shall 
be effective January 1, 2020. 
 
 Section 4. Resolution 2087 is repealed effective January 1, 2020. 
 
 
Approved as to form:      
 City Attorney  Date 
 
 Approved:   
  Eric Swenson, Mayor 
 
Passed by the Council   

Submitted to the Mayor   

Approved by the Mayor   

 
Filed in the Office of the Recorder   
 
 
ATTEST:   
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
  City of Woodburn, Oregon 
 

71



Pick-up dates: Mon/Fri.
Included with service weekly: Trash
Bi-weekly: 65G Mixed Recycle Cart and Bin

Size Package 
Price

20 gallon
REGULAR $25.67

OPT OUT - 35g RC CART $23.10

35 gallon
REGULAR $29.25
NON-CURB 
HARDSHIP
OWN CAN
65 gallon

REGULAR $41.47
NON-CURB 
HARDSHIP
OWN CAN
90 gallon

REGULAR $46.91
NON-CURB 
HARDSHIP
OWN CAN

Return fee: $16.50 Additional Yard Debris cart:
On-call pick-up: $15.40 65G: $13.20/month
Sharps: $19.80 90G: $13.48/month
Recycle only: $11.00
Extra can/bag/box: $10.18
Request to change or switch container: $24.20

(after allowed one change @ n/c)
Recycle/Yard cart contaminated: $18.70/cart

MFC Apts & Mobile Home Parks
(4 or more adjoining units, under one billing)

Size With Rec 
& Bin

35 gallon $31.63
65 gallon $43.07
90 gallon $48.57

City of Woodburn
Residential Rate Sheet

Effective 11/01/19

A late fee of 18% per annum with 
a $5.00 monthly minimum will be 
charged for non-payment after 30 
days from invoice date. 

A $27.50 Service Interupt Fee will 
be charged 45 days from invoice 
date.

Exhibit 1

72



Effective 

Size Commercial
Cart

MFC Apts & 
Mobile Home 

Parks

Extra Trip 
(EXT) Rate

35 gallon $26.80 $31.63 $21.70 Switch / Wash Out 45.10$               
65 gallon $39.49 $43.07 $24.85 Lock 27.50$               
90 gallon $52.18 $48.57 $28.05 Cart Redelivery Fee / No Pay 33.28$               

CBB $7.92 Return Trip Fee 16.50$               
Yard Cart $13.86

*One recycle cart is included with the service at no charge
*MFC Apartments & Mobile Home Parks are 4 or more adjoining units, under one billing.

Size
(Loose)

One
X/Week

Two
X/Week

Three
X/Week

Four
X/Week

Five
X/Week

Extra
Trip

1 yard $117.30 $232.25 $340.16 $443.38 $572.41 $44.30
1.5 yard $155.76 $308.40 $451.70 $588.77 $760.10 $53.95
2 yard $200.17 $396.33 $580.48 $756.63 $976.81 $65.05
3 yard $300.25 $594.49 $870.72 $1,134.94 $1,465.22 $90.05
4 yard $400.20 $792.39 $1,160.58 $1,512.75 $1,952.97 $115.05
5 yard $500.15 $990.29 $1,450.43 $1,890.56 $2,440.72 $140.05
6 yard $591.43 $1,171.03 $1,715.14 $2,235.59 $2,886.16 $162.85
8 yard $788.61 $1,561.46 $2,286.98 $2,980.96 $3,848.44 $212.15

Manual Service rate:
1-2 empties per week: $22.00/month/container
3-6 empties per week: $25.30/month/container
*Cardboard available w/weekly service for NO CHARGE
*Compacted containers charged @ 2.5 X's loose rate

TEMPORARY CONTAINERS

SIZE TOTAL DELIVERY DISPOSAL EXY
3 yard $165.90 $48.00 $117.90 $39.30/yard

Rent charge (*apply 7 days from delivery date):
Day:$8.00
Month: $94.00

$43.23 / yard

City of Woodburn
Commercial Rate Sheet

Effective 11/01/19

Additional Services

EXY (extra yardage): 

Exhibit 1

73



Rent charge (*apply 4 days from delivery date):
Temporary: Permanent: Screen box, per haul: 17.60$    

(more than two hauls/month) Relocate, per box: 62.98$    
Day: $13.75 Day: $9.35 Liner, per box: 62.98$    
Month: $154.00 Month: $112.20 Dry run, per box: 62.98$    

Overweight, per box: 187.00$  

Size Total Delivery Haul Disposal
GARBAGE

10 yard $360.26 $49.50 $167.76 $143.00
20 yard $524.68 $49.50 $189.18 $286.00
30 yard $504.45 $49.50 $213.72 $429.00 $200.48 /haul

*Weight limit is 10 tons/20,000 pounds

Unacceptable drop box items: $213.33 /haul
Hazardous materials, televisions, computer monitors and modems. 

Tires and appliances will incur additional disposal costs (per item); $226.11 /haul

Passenger without rims $6.60 $238.89 /haul
Passenger with rim $7.70
Truck without rims $12.10
Truck with rims $18.70 $238.89 /haul
Tractor-falls under hourly labor rate

Large appliances that contain Freon $38.50 $278.71 /haul
Large appliances without Freon N/C $97.07/ton disp.

10 yard

$97.07/ton disp.
15 yard

$97.07/ton disp.
20 yard

$97.07/ton disp.
25 yard

$97.07/ton disp.
30 yard

$97.07/ton disp.
40 yard

WTEF rate ($87.45)

City of Woodburn
Industrial Rate Sheet

Effective 11/01/19

COMPACTOR HAUL
*Disposal: 111% of 

Exhibit 1

74



TYPE OF SERVICE RATE
Hourly labor rates (port to port): 
$2.75/minute (two persons, one truck)
$3.85/minute (one person, one truck)
Special services not listed:
Hauler will charge the reasonable cost of collection and disposal. 
Charge to be related to a similar schedule fee where possible.

Appliances:
Large appliances that contain Freon (accessible @ curb) 37.40$     
Large appliances without Freon (accessible @ curb) 13.20$     

Bathtub/Sink/Toilet:
Fiberglass tub/shower 18.70$     
Cast iron tub/shower $ negotiable
Toilet 16.50$     
Sinks 16.50$     

Car Batteries:
Return to place or purchase or call recycle hotline for drop off locations,
503.588.5169
For Hauler to pick up at curb 16.50$     

Carpets:
Wet/dry $42.90/yard

Christmas Trees:
Tinsel or flocked trees-garbage disposal rates would apply 18.70$     

Residential Green-picked up at curb:
Two weeks following Christmas day: -$         

Commercial (accessible @ curb) 18.70$     

Large furniture: 37.40$     
(per item)
Small furniture: 25.30$     
(per item)
Hide-a-bed: 37.40$     
(per item)

Mattresses:
Twin mattress 13.20$     
Twin box spring 13.20$     
Double/queen mattress 18.70$     
Double/queen box spring 18.70$     
King mattress 25.30$     
King box spring 25.30$     

City of Woodburn
Supplemental Service Rate Sheet

Effective 11/01/19

Exhibit 1

75



Customers shall not place hazardous chemicals, paints, corrosive materials, hot ashes or dirt/rocks
into the carts or bins.
Damaged carts or bins due to noncompliance with the above restrictions, or unretrieved carts or
bins may be replaced by the hauler the below cost to the customers:

Damaged or unretrieved carts or bin:
Cart: 90.20$    Each
Bin 16.50$    Each

Vacation credit:
There will be a prorated credit allowed on the regular monthly charge for service which is canceled
for two weeks or more, when Hauler is notified no later than noon on the business day, excluding 
weekends, prior to the date of discontinuance.
No credit will be allowed for service which is canceled for less than two weeks. 

Return trip fee: 
Where the customer does not have the cart, container or drop box at the regular location ready to
be emptied when the hauler's truck arrives is subject to a return trip fee as detailed on the rate
structure spreadsheets.

Manual Service Charge:
Receptacle(s) must be located in a single location with acceptable vehicle turning radius and 
adequate drive up access. Receptacle(s) must be accessible without manual movement, if manual
movement by driver is required in order to service receptacle(s), 
a monthly manual service charge will apply.

Bankruptcy and account closures for failure to pay:
Payment of service provided and two months advance payment required for residential and
commercial service. Payment is due at delivery of service for industrial service.

Service interrupt fee/late fees:
A late fee of 18% per annum with a $5.00 monthly minimum will be charged for 
non-payment after 45 days from invoice date for all lines of business.

Flat fee of $27.50 will charged after 60 days of non-payment for all lines of
business.

Exhibit 1

76



Agenda Item 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ____x__ City Attorney ___x___ Finance _x____ 

November 12, 2019 

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council  through City Administrator 

FROM: Sandra Montoya, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: FY 2019/20 SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET REQUEST FOR CREATION OF PERS 
SIDE ACCOUNT 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Oregon Budget Law (ORS 294 .471(1)) provides for changes to adopted budgets 
through a supplemental process that requires the City provide notice of 
proposed changes, and if the changes are greater than 10% of any fund’s total 
expenditures, to hold a public hearing to discuss the proposed changes and 
accept public testimony on the changes. Like the adopted budget, 
supplemental budget requests must be balanced; in other words, net revenue 
and net expense for the request must be equal. Public notice via the Woodburn 
Independent was provided and the hearing will be held prior to consideration of 
the resolution. 

Consistent with the City Council FY 2019/20 Goals and current FY adopted 
Budget Policies, it is recommended that the City Council hold a public hearing 
and adopt the attached resolution approving a supplemental budget in the 
amount of $733,333. This amount will be transferred (see Exhibit A) into the City’s 
Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) Reserve Fund, bringing the City’s 
PERS Reserve Fund budget balance to $2,823,043, which is the maximum, per 
side account contribution that will be matched under the State’s funding 
program. 

The resolution authorizes the payment of $2,823,043 to the PERS Employer 
Incentive Fund (EIF) for the creation of a side account that will reduce the City’s 
existing liability and is expected to lower annual PERS costs to the City 

Background and Discussion:  

On June 11, 2019, Oregon Governor Kate Brown signed Senate Bill 1049 to 
reduce the costs public employers pay into the state Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS). The law aims to reduce the System’s unfunded liability 
by dedicating $100 million in lottery revenue from state sports betting for the 

77



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
creation of a matching fund. The EIF provides a 25% match on qualifying 
employer lump-sum payment(s) made between June 2, 2018 and August 31, 
2020.   
 
As of the December 31, 2017 the City has an unfunded actuarial liability (UAL) of 
$14.1 million on a payroll of $8.2 million. This results in an unfunded liability of 
173%, which enables Woodburn to apply for an EIF match effective December 
2, 2019. Using the calculations provided by the PERS actuary, a City contribution 
of $2,823,043 is eligible to receive $705,761 from the EIF program.   (Note: 
Additional contributions into separate side accounts will also be eligible for 
funding match, assuming EIF revenue is still available.)  
 
In FY 2018/19 the City Council approved the establishment of a PERS Reserve 
Fund for the creation of a PERS side account in anticipation of EIF program. The 
budgeted fund balance in FY 2019/20 is $2,089,710, meaning that the City’s 
PERS Reserve Fund is $733,333 short of making the maximum EIF contribution of 
$2,823,043. Because of the long-term financial benefit associated with reduced 
PERS costs to the City, it is recommended that the City transfer $733,333 to 
achieve the maximum return on the PERS side account (see Exhibit B). 
 
The recommendation is to fund the $733,333 by using a combination of prior/ 
current year savings in operations, or use of contingency. Should Council 
approve the resolution to increase budget authority and make the 
recommended transfers, the amendments shown on the following table will be 
made and the funds will be transferred to PERS on January 1, 2020. Once 
transferred to PERS, the funds will no longer be available for City operational use, 
but immediate PERS rate relief will be experienced.  
 
 
 

78



Exhibit A 

 

Funds Operating** Transfers Debt Contingency Total
General Fund 001*

Adopted 14,370,750$      408,290$           575,000$         3,761,890$        19,115,930$     
Change -                   460,000            -                  (460,000)           -                   
Amended 14,370,750        868,290            575,000           3,301,890         19,115,930       

Building Fund 123
Adopted 1,503,480          6,480                -                  1,322,040         2,832,000         
Change -                   28,000              -                  (28,000)             -                   
Amended 1,503,480          34,480              -                  1,294,040         2,832,000         

Street Fund 140
Adopted 2,787,780          2,095,750          -                  1,000,000         5,883,530         
Change -                   46,000              -                  (46,000)             -                   
Amended 2,787,780          2,141,750          -                  954,000            5,883,530         

Water Fund 470
Adopted 2,720,490          65,850              1,624,950        128,780            4,540,070         
Change (68,000)             68,000              -                  -                   -                   
Amended 2,652,490          133,850            1,624,950        128,780            4,540,070         

Sewer Fund 472
Adopted 4,383,060          1,046,200          4,469,000        798,660            10,696,920       
Change (99,000)             99,000              -                  -                   -                   
Amended 4,284,060          1,145,200          4,469,000        798,660            10,696,920       

IT Fund 568
Adopted 1,104,720          4,840                -                  193,440            1,303,000         
Change -                   21,000              -                  (21,000)             -                   
Amended 1,104,720          25,840              -                  172,440            1,303,000         

Insurance Fund 581
Adopted 868,340            690                   -                  547,970            1,417,000         
Change -                   3,000                -                  (3,000)              -                   
Amended 868,340            3,690                -                  544,970            1,417,000         

Urban Renewal Fund 720
Adopted 4,213,200          2,290                268,500           200,010            4,684,000         
Change -                   10,000              -                  (10,000)             -                   
Amended 4,213,200          12,290              268,500           190,010            4,684,000         

TOTAL
Adopted 31,951,820        3,630,390          6,937,450        7,952,790         50,472,450       
Change (167,000)           735,000            -                  (568,000)           -                   
Amended 31,784,820        4,365,390          6,937,450        7,384,790         50,472,450       

Fund
Reserve for PERS Fund 693

Resource or Revenues Fund Balance Transfers Misc Revenue Contingency Total
Adopted 1,667,000          362,710            60,000            2,089,710         
Change -                   735,000            -                  735,000            
Amended 1,667,000          1,097,710          60,000            -                   2,824,710         

Requirement or Expenditures Operating** Transfers Debt Contingency Total
Adopted 2,089,710          -                   -                  -                   2,089,710         
Change 735,000            -                   -                  -                   735,000            
Amended 2,824,710$        -$                  -$                -$                 2,824,710$       

Comments:  Transfer additional monies into Reserve for PERS Fund 693
* General Fund transfer includes Transit share of $28,000
** Operating includes personnel, materials and services and capital outlay

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED BUDGET CHANGES

79



Exhibit B 

Woodburn's PERS 12/31/17 Actuarial Valuation
Maximum EIF 
Contribution

Available 
FY19-20 Budget

Difference 
(Max - Budget)

City Contribution 2,823,043$         2,089,710$         733,333$            
PERS Match (EIF program 25% of contribution) 705,761$            522,428$            183,333$            

3,528,804$         2,612,138$         916,666$            

Unfunded Liability Balance (before contribution) 14,115,216$      14,115,216$      
PERS 12/31/17 UAL as % of Payroll (before contribution) 173% 173%

Unfunded Liability Balance (after contribution) 10,586,412$      11,503,078$      
PERS 12/31/17 UAL as % of Payroll (after contribution) 130% 141%

 

 

 

 

 

80



Page 1 – Council Bill No. 3113 
                Resolution No. 2145 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 3113 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2145 
 

A FY 2019-2020 RESOLUTION APPROVING $733,333 IN TRANSFERS OF 
APPROPRIATIONS IN VARIOUS FUNDS AND APPROVING THE CREATION OF A SIDE 
ACCOUNT THROUGH THE CONTRIBUTION OF $2,823,043 TO PERS  

 
  

WHEREAS, ORS 294.463(1)(a) permits “transfers of appropriations” within any 
fund “when authorized by official resolution or ordinance of the governing body”; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, ORS 294.463(2) limits “transfers of general operating contingency 

appropriations to not more than fifteen (15) percent of the total appropriations of 
the fund” unless adopted pursuant to a supplemental budget; and 

 
WHEREAS, transfers made pursuant to any of the above must state the need 

for the transfer, the purpose for the authorized expenditure, and the amount of 
the appropriation transferred; and 

 
WHEREAS, ORS 294.471(1)(a) permits supplemental budgets when “an 

occurrence of condition which had not been ascertained at the time of the 
preparation of a budget for the current year or current budget period which 
requires a change in financial planning”; and 

 
WHEREAS, ORS 294.473 requires the governing body to hold a public 

hearing on the supplemental budget when the estimated expenditures 
containing in the supplemental budget for fiscal year or budget period differ by 
ten (10) percent or more of any one of the individual funds contained in the 
regular budget for that fiscal year; and 

 
WHEREAS, the transfers contained herein are made pursuant to ORS 

294.463; and 
 
WHEREAS, the supplemental budget contained herein is made pursuant to 

ORS 294.471; and 
 
WHEREAS, a public hearing was held November 12, 2019 on the 

supplemental budget changes, NOW THEREFORE, 
 
THE CITY OF WOODBURN RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  That pursuant to the applicable ORS provisions cited above, the 

City Council hereby approves the transfers of appropriation and supplemental 

81



Page 2 – Council Bill No. 3113 
                Resolution No. 2145 

budget for FY 2019-20 in the amounts listed in Exhibit “A” and a contribution to 
PERS totaling $2,823,043 for the creation of a side account. 

 

 
 
 

Funds Operating** Transfers Debt Contingency Total
General Fund 001*

Adopted 14,370,750$        408,290$             575,000$                  3,761,890$   19,115,930$            
Change -$                   460,000$             -$                         (460,000)$     -$                       
Amended 14,370,750$        868,290$             575,000$                  3,301,890$   19,115,930$            

Building Fund 123
Adopted 1,503,480$         6,480$                 -$                         1,322,040$   2,832,000$             
Change -$                   28,000$               -$                         (28,000)$       -$                       
Amended 1,503,480$         34,480$               -$                         1,294,040$   2,832,000$             

Street Fund 140
Adopted 2,787,780$         2,095,750$           -$                         1,000,000$   5,883,530$             
Change -$                   46,000$               -$                         (46,000)$       -$                       
Amended 2,787,780$         2,141,750$           -$                         954,000$      5,883,530$             

Water Fund 470
Adopted 2,720,490$         65,850$               1,624,950$               128,780$      4,540,070$             
Change (68,000)$             68,000$               -$                         -$             -$                       
Amended 2,652,490$         133,850$             1,624,950$               128,780$      4,540,070$             

Sewer Fund 472
Adopted 4,383,060$         1,046,200$           4,469,000$               798,660$      10,696,920$            
Change (99,000)$             99,000$               -$                         -$             -$                       
Amended 4,284,060$         1,145,200$           4,469,000$               798,660$      10,696,920$            

IT Fund 568
Adopted 1,104,720$         4,840$                 -$                         193,440$      1,303,000$             
Change -$                   21,000$               -$                         (21,000)$       -$                       
Amended 1,104,720$         25,840$               -$                         172,440$      1,303,000$             

Insurance Fund 581
Adopted 868,340$            690$                    -$                         547,970$      1,417,000$             
Change -$                   3,000$                 -$                         (3,000)$        -$                       
Amended 868,340$            3,690$                 -$                         544,970$      1,417,000$             

Urban Renewal Fund 720
Adopted 4,213,200$         2,290$                 268,500$                  200,010$      4,684,000$             
Change -$                   10,000$               -$                         (10,000)$       -$                       
Amended 4,213,200$         12,290$               268,500$                  190,010$      4,684,000$             

TOTAL
Adopted 31,951,820$        3,630,390$           6,937,450$               7,952,790$   50,472,450$            
Change (167,000)$           735,000$             -$                         (568,000)$     -$                       
Amended 31,784,820$        4,365,390$           6,937,450$               7,384,790$   50,472,450$            

Fund
Reserve for PERS Fund 693

Resource or Revenues Fund Balance Transfers Misc Revenue Contingency Total
Adopted 1,667,000$         362,710$             60,000$                   2,089,710$             
Change -$                   735,000$             -$                         735,000$                
Amended 1,667,000$         1,097,710$           60,000$                   -$             2,824,710$             

Requirement or Expenditures Operating** Transfers Debt Contingency Total
Adopted 2,089,710$         -$                    -$                         -$             2,089,710$             
Change 735,000$            -$                    -$                         -$             735,000$                
Amended 2,824,710$         -$                    -$                         -$             2,824,710$             

Comments:  Transfer additional monies into Reserve for PERS Fund 693
* General Fund transfer includes Transit share of $28,000
** Operating includes personnel, materials and services and capital outlay

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED BUDGET CHANGES

82



Page 3 – Council Bill No. 3113 
                Resolution No. 2145 

 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form:          
         City Attorney    Date 
 
 
     APPROVED:       
       Eric Swenson, Mayor 
 
 
 
Passed by the Council         
Submitted to the Mayor         
Approved by the Mayor         
Filed in the Office of the Recorder       
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:       
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
  City of Woodburn, Oregon 

83



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____ Finance ___x__ 

 November 12, 2019 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director 

SUBJECT: Expansion of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

(1) Conduct a public hearing on expanding the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise 
Zone to include the 108 acres of recently annexed industrial land located in 
the Southwest Industrial Reserve (SWIR) area west of I-5. 

(2) Consider the attached resolution recommending that the boundary of the 
Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone be expanded. 

 
BACKGROUND: 
 

Woodburn was designated as an enterprise zone (EZ) in July 2010.  In January 2014 
Woodburn’s enterprise zone was expanded to include the City of Gervais and 
was designated the Woodburn –Gervais Enterprise Zone. 
 
The enterprise zone program provides important tools for communities to utilize in 
retaining and attracting new employers, while supporting the strategy of creating 
more local employment opportunities for our residents.  Enterprise zones 
encourage business investment through property tax relief.  In exchange for 
locating or expanding a business in an enterprise zone, eligible (non-retail) 
businesses receive total exemption from the property taxes normally assessed on 
new plants and/or equipment for a specified amount of time, which varies 
between the different community programs.  Eligible businesses typically include 
manufacturers, processors, shippers and a variety of operations that serve other 
organizations, as well as call centers and headquarter-type facilities.  Generally, 
construction, financial and retail activities are ineligible.  
 
Procedurally, notice to taxing districts must be provided 21 days in advance of 
City Council’s consideration.  Notice was sent to taxing districts on October 9, 
2019 (Attachment A).  The proposed expansion meets the procedural standards 
of state statutes. 
 

84



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
As required by statute, the Gervais City Council is anticipated to adopt a 
resolution (Attachment B) on November 7, 2019 supporting the expansion of the 
Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
The City Council is required to first hold a public hearing on the proposed 
expansion.  After consideration of public input, the Council may adopt the 
attached resolution for a boundary change of the enterprise zone.  Following 
Council’s adoption of the attached Resolution, the City’s Economic 
Development Director shall submit the requested boundary change to Business 
Oregon. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
Expanding the zone itself only costs staff time, however, expansion of the new 
area will have potential impacts on property taxes collected on new buildings, 
machinery, and equipment in the expanded area for 3-5 years after a subject 
business moves or expands their operations within the district.  
 
Attachments: 

• Letter to the taxing districts 
• City of Gervais draft Resolution 

85



1 | P a g e

October 8, 2019 

RE: Expansion of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone Boundary 

The City of Woodburn received Enterprise Zone designation in 2010 and expanded its boundaries to include the 
City of Gervais in 2014.  The City of Woodburn is seeking to expand the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 
boundary and bring in 108 acres of recently annexed industrial land located in the Southwest Industrial Reserve 
(SWIR) area west of I-5. 

The process requires both the City of Woodburn and City of Gervais to pass a resolution supporting the 
boundary expansion.  Following adoption of respective resolutions, the boundary change will be submitted to 
business Oregon for their approval. 

The current Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone boundaries as well as the proposed areas to be added include 
relevant tax codes, such that the zones could affect future property tax collections in your district. Therefore, as 
a taxing agency, you are being notified of the proposed amendment in order for you to provide comment on the 
proposal, either at the hearing or by sending comments. 

Gervais City Council: 
• At its hearing on November 7, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. at Gervais City Hall located at 592 4th Street, Gervais

the Gervais City Council will consider a resolution supporting the proposed boundary expansion.
• Comment to:  Susie Marston, City Manager, City of Gervais, 592 4th Street, Gervais or by email:

smarston@cityofgervais.com no later than 5:00 p.m. November 7, 2019

Woodburn City Council: 
• At its hearing on November 12, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. at Woodburn City Hall located at 270 Montgomery

Street, Woodburn the Woodburn City Council will consider a resolution requesting the proposed
boundary expansion.

• Comment to:  Heather Pierson, City Recorder City of Woodburn, 270 Montgomery Street, Woodburn
or email: heather.pierson@ci.woodburn.or.us no later than 5:00 p.m. November 12, 2019.

Please note that an enterprise zone only exempts new property that a job-creating business might build or 
install in the enterprise zone at some future time.  In addition, an enterprise zone exemption is temporary, 
usually lasting only three years, after which time the property induced by these incentives is available for 
assessment.  An extension to four or five years in total is possible in some cases providing that the business is 
paying their new employees at  wage of 150% of the County average wage ($67,134 annually).   

Attachment A

86

mailto:smarston@cityofgervais.com
mailto:heather.pierson@ci.woodburn.or.us


2 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
Finally, none of these property tax exemptions would be available to just any business.  Most commercial/retail 
operations would not be eligible.  Rather, the primary beneficiaries of enterprise zone benefits manufacturing 
and other traded-sector facilities. 
 
Should you have questions or require additional information, please feel free to contact the Zone Manager:  
 
  Jamie Johnk, Zone Manager 

Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 
270 Montgomery Street  |   Woodburn OR 
Phone:  503-980-6319      |   Email: Jamie.johnk@ci.woodburn.or.us 

  
Thank you for supporting the Woodburn-Gervais economic development and business communities. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Jamie Johnk 
Jamie Johnk, Zone Manager 
Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 

Attachment A

87

mailto:Jamie.johnk@ci.woodburn.or.us


Attachment B 

Resolution No. 19-010 Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone Boundary Change                                  Page 1 
 

CITY OF GERVAIS 
RESOLUTION NO. 19-010 

 
A RESOLUTION FOR WOODBURN-GERVAIS ENTERPRISE ZONE BOUNDARY 
CHANGE. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Oregon Enterprise Zone Act, Oregon Revised Statutes 285C.045-285C.250, 
authorizes the designation of Enterprise Zones, and provides for property tax abatement, job creation, 
and local municipal incentives to stimulate economic development in economically disadvantaged 
areas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in March, 2010, the Woodburn City Council adopted Resolution No. 1961, 
authorizing the City of Woodburn to apply for an enterprise zone, which was on July 1, 2010, 
awarded and designated as the Woodburn Enterprise Zone by the Director of Busines Oregon; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in January 2014, the Woodburn City Council adopted Resolution No. 2038, 
which provided for a  boundary expansion of the zone, incorporating the City of Gervais and 
designating the expanded zone as the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone by the Director of Business 
Oregon; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the designation of an Enterprise Zone does not grant or imply permission to 
develop land within the Zone without complying with all prevailing zoning, regulatory and 
permitting processes and restrictions of any and all local jurisdictions; nor does it indicate any public 
intent to modify those processes or restrictions, unless otherwise in agreement with applicable 
comprehensive land use plans; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this Enterprise Zone and the three (3) to five (5) year property tax exemptions it 
offers for new investments in plant and equipment by eligible business firms are critical elements of 
local efforts to increase employment opportunities, to raise local incomes, to attract investments by 
new and existing businesses and to secure and diversify the local economic base; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the officials of the City of Gervais and City of Woodburn are agreed in 
requesting a change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone that would add the 
areas indicated in the attached map (Exhibit A) and legal description (Exhibit B), such that the 
amended Enterprise Zone would be configured according to the attached map and description 
(Exhibits C and D); and 
 
 WHEREAS, special notification was sent to all affected taxing districts; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a public meeting was held in the City of Gervais on November 7, 2019, and a 
public meeting will be held in the City of Woodburn on November 12, 2019, to hear the response of 

88



Attachment B 

Resolution No. 19-010 Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone Boundary Change                                  Page 2 
 

the citizenry to the proposed change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 
requested herein; and 
 
 WHEREAS, this change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone would 
enable eligible business firms locating or expanding in the additonal 108 acres of industrial land in 
the city of Woodburn’s limits to be eligible for the Enterprise Zone Program, which would benefit 
the local area through encouraging new business investment, job creation, higher incomes for local 
residents, and greater diversity of economic activity. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Gervais to 
request a change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone as follows: 
 
 Section 1. That the City of Gervais requests a change in the boundary of the   
   Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone as shown in the attached maps and  
   legal descriptions (Exhibits A-D attached). 
 
 Section 2. That on behalf of the cities of Woodburn and Gervais, the City of   
   Woodburn Economic Development Director is hereby authorized to   
   prepare and submit technical memoranda to Business Oregon, along with  
   this resolution and other necessary documents, verifying that the requested  
   boundary change to the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone is in   
   compliance with the requirements of ORS 285C.115, so that the request  
   herein may be approved by order of Business Oregon’s department’s   
   director. 
 
 Section 3. That the change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise   
   Zone take effect on the date that this Resolution is adopted, or later as so  
   stipulated by Business Oregon in its determination following any revision  
   or resubmission of documentation by the Woodburn Economic   
   Development Director. 
 
ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Gervais this 7th day of November, 2019. 
 
 
 
        ______________________________ 
        Shanti M. Platt, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Timothy Rhyne, City Recorder 

89



Page 1 - Council Bill No. 3114 
 Resolution No. 2146 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 3114 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2146 
 

A RESOLUTION FOR WOODBURN-GERVAIS ENTERPRISE ZONE BOUNDARY 
CHANGE 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Oregon Enterprise Zone Act, ORS 285C.045-285C.250, 
authorizes the designation of Enterprise Zones, and provides for property tax 
abatement, job creation, and local municipal incentives to stimulate 
economic development in an economically disadvantaged areas; and  
 

WHEREAS, in March 2010, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 1961, 
authorizing the City of Woodburn to  apply for an enterprise zone, which was 
on July 1, 2010, awarded and designated as the Woodburn Enterprise Zone by 
the Director of Business Oregon; and 
 

WHEREAS, in January 2014, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2038, 
providing for a boundary expansion of the zone, incorporating the City of 
Gervais and designating the expanded zone as the Woodburn-Gervais 
Enterprise Zone by the Director of Business Oregon; and  
 

WHEREAS, the designation of an Enterprise Zone does not grant 
permission to develop land without complying with all prevailing zoning, 
regulatory and permitting processes; and 
 

WHEREAS, this Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone and the three (3) to 
five (5) year property tax exemptions it offers for new investments in plant and 
equipment by eligible business firms are critical elements of local efforts to 
increase employment opportunities, to raise local incomes, to attract 
investments by new and existing businesses and to secure and diversify the 
local economic base; and 
 

WHEREAS, the cities of Woodburn and Gervais are agree to request a 
change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone that would 
add the areas indicated in the attached map (Exhibit A) and legal description 
(Exhibit B), such that the amended Enterprise Zone would be configured 
according to the attached map and description (Exhibits C and D); and 

 
WHEREAS, special notification was sent to all affected taxing districts; 

and 
 

90



Page 2 - Council Bill No. 3114 
 Resolution No. 2146 

WHEREAS, a public meeting was held in the City of Gervais on 
November 7, 2019, and a public meeting was held in the City of Woodburn 
on November 12, 2019, to hear the response of the citizenry to the proposed 
change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone requested 
herein; and  
 

WHEREAS, this change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais 
Enterprise Zone would enable eligible business firms locating or expanding in 
the additional 108 acres of industrial land in the City of Woodburn’s limits to 
be eligible for the Enterprise Zone Program, which would benefit the local 
area through encouraging new business investment, job creation, higher 
incomes for local residents, and greater diversity of economic activity; NOW 
THEREFORE,  
 
THE CITY OF WOODBURN RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  That the City of Woodburn requests a change in the 
boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone as shown in the attached 
maps and legal descriptions (Exhibits A-D attached). 

 
 Section 2. That on behalf of the cities of Woodburn and Gervais, the City 
of Woodburn Economic Development Director is hereby authorized to prepare 
and submit technical memoranda to Business Oregon, along with this resolution 
and other necessary documents, verifying that the requested boundary change 
to the Woodburn – Gervais Enterprise Zone is in compliance with the requirements 
of ORS 285C.115, so that the request herein may be approved by order of Business 
Oregon’s department’s director. 

 
 Section 3. That the change in the boundary of the Woodburn-Gervais 
Enterprise Zone take effect on the date that this Resolution is adopted, or later 
as so stipulated by Business Oregon in its determination following any revision 
or resubmission of documentation by the Woodburn Economic Development 
Director.  
 
    Approved:_______________________________________ 
      Eric Swenson, Mayor 
 

Passed by the Council:             ________________________________ 

Submitted to the Mayor:             ________________________________ 

Approved by the Mayor:              ________________________________ 

91



Page 3 - Council Bill No. 3114 
 Resolution No. 2146 

Filed in the Office of the Recorder: ________________________________ 

 
 
 
ATTEST:  ______________________________________ 
     Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
                  City of Woodburn, Oregon  

92



EXHIBIT A: 

EXHIBIT MAP - ANNEXATION AREA 
LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 Of SECTION 11 

AND lHE NORTHEAST 1/4 (J' SECTI� 14. 
TOWNSHIP 5 SOUlH, RANGE 2 VEST, W.M., 

El.£SBAN MARTINEZ LOPEZ ET AL 
REEL 3159, PAGE 345 

(MARCH f 8, 2010) 

�LOT1
� t ANt-AIRE SUBDIVISION. 

' 

MARION COUNTY, OREGON 

SCALE 1" = 

L£NG1li = 242.21 1 

RADIUS = 1175.92' 
DELTA = 11'48'05" 

CHORD = S08'01'08"W 241.78' 

LENGTH = 200.13' 
RADIUS = 80305.00' 

oa TA = oua·34 • 
CHORD = so2·otsrw 200.13' 

REGISTERED 
PROFESSIONAL 

LANO SURVEYOR 

.JNtfJm 15.. 2002 

CLINTON H. STUBBS JR. 
55-469LS 

RENEWAL DATE; 06/30/tS 

-

C, 
V} 

\ 

i 

POINT OF BEGINNING 

e::: 

� 

� 
OARMA REAL ESTATE 

PARTNERStilP, LP 
:::, REEL 3326. PAGt 32 al 

(OCT. 18, 20t1) 

STATE HIGHWAY 219 

N"' 
� WOODBURN CHRUCH 
::: Of THE NAZARENE 
= VOL 766, PAGE 227 
� (NOV. 29, 1973) 
..t� 
5 

'MX)()LAND A'4£NUE 

EXISTING 
CITY LIMITS 

PARCEL 2 
PARllTION PLAT 
NO. 2004--105 

PREPARED FOR: JOB NAME: 1-5 LOGISTICS 
NORTHWEST SPECHT WOODBURN, LLC 

l0260 SW GREENBERG RO., 
SUITE T70 

PORTLAND, OR 97223 

,JO --=B"-N=U=M8=£R;;.;.;::_--"T=56;..;..7_-i 1815 NW 169th PLACE.

� sum: 2090 

BEAVERTON, OR 9 7006 
DRAWING NUMBER: 1567 ANNEX 

s 
PHONE: 503-848-2127 

URVEYING I 
FAX:50.3-848-2179 ,__D_R_AWN __ B_Y: ___ C_H_S _ ___, , nC. nwsurveyingOnwsrvy.com 

CHECKED BY: SFF 

93



Northwest 
S IJ 'R V E v J N Ci 

I Kl�\.� 169'1 Pl/let'. Suilc: '.:0'10
8t'3\•t.mOn. UR 97UOo 
·1 "teph,�n.;,; 503-S-1�-:! 12 "' 

Annexation Area Description 
�1arch 12. 2017 
'\fWS Project Numher 1567 

EXHIBIT B 

REGISTERED 

PROFESSIONAL 
LANO SURVEYOR 

JAl!lWT l :5, 2002 

CLINTON H. STUB 

55469LS 

RENEWAL DATE: 06/30/18 

A tract. ol land le>cat0d in rhe southeast one-quaner of Section I I and the nMtheast one-quarter of 
Section 1-L T\1wnship 5 South. Range 2 West \.Villamette Meridian, Marion Count). Oregon. and 
bcin� more particularly described as follow5� 

Beginning a1 the most wesrerl� nvrth\-\ot:S1 comer of Parcel :?. of Panilitm Pla1 No. 2004- l 05. Marion 
Count) Plat Records. said point being on the easterly bounda?) of that property conveyed to Darma 
Re�1I Estate PartnNship. LP on October l 8. 2011 by :.1 deed recorded in Rc:el 3326. Page 32. Marion 
County Deed Records: ll1encr along_ said easterly boundar> anJ tht: nonherly extension thereof. 
Non.h OJ �3,ror bt$t 1090.22 teet ro the northcerl:, right-of-\\ay linn1f State Highwa: 2 I 9 (50.00 
teet nonherl'.' trom the <.:enkrline thereof. when measured a1 righl angles!: Thence along said 
nonherl: right-ot�,\a'.' line. \.orth 88.:04·�·- \\:est 850.74 fed to an angk: point thereon. said point 
also being <.m th� southeaster]) line of that prupen) conve'.'ed to E.k. ban Martinez Lopez et al. on 
'vtan:h ! 8. 20 l O by a de.:"d recorded in Red .3159. Page 3-45. \1arfon C'ount: Deed Records: Them;e 
�Ion� th� soud1ea'iterl) line ofsai<l Lope.zprope�. S\1uth 37"' 15·-t-

r
- West �4.52 fe..:t to the

s<1uthcas1 corner thereof said point heing 30.00 feet non.her!: from thl' \.!enterline of Stare H.igb""a: 
219. "' hen measured at right angles: Thence '.\iorth 88°04 '-+•f° West �37.91 feet to the wes1crt_y
ng_h1-of-way line <.)f Butteville Road {30.00 feet westerly from th.e centerline thereof. v.hen
measur�d at right angles): Thence along saiJ 1Aes1erl: righH1f-wa� line. Sc,uth 13c5y 1 i .

. 
West

-l9.5.40 feet to a point ur curvature; Thence continuing along said VH�Sterly right-of-way line. 242.21
foct along the ::ire of a tangent circular cw-veto the le.ft. having a radius of 1175.92 feet. a delta
angk or I 1"-48'05 .. and a long chord or South 08°01 '08 .. Wes! �41.78 feet lO a point of tangency
111\!reon: Th�11ce �ontinuing al()ng said westcl'ly right-ot:wa> line. South 02°07' 11 ·· West 1611.35
f.:�t too point ofcurvarw-c: Thence continuing. along saiJ w<.:stcrly right-of:-v.ay line. 200.13 feet
along rhc arc of a tangent circular CUf\'e 10 the kft. ha\ ing a radiL1s of 80305.00 feeL a delta angle of
O"Os·3.r- and a long chord of South 0�00:rST West 200. 13 feet ma point of tangency thereon:
Jl1e11ce concim1ing along said ,\·e51erly right-of-way tine. outb O 1.;58'38 .

. 
WeSl 1517. 79 feet to ilS

intersection \\ith !he ,�e. terly e:-.:tension of the south line of said Dam1a Real Estate Partnership. LP
property: -n,enc1;;· along said westerly e,rension and continuing along said south line. South
88' Is· 1 T l::.ast 1248. l 6 feet to the northwester!) right-i1f·\.\ay line of Interstate .5 ( l 74.00 feet
northwester!� from the: centerline thereot: v.hen measurt:"u at right angle..-.): Thence along said
nt)rthv,;esterl� right-ot:wa) line. North 37°28' 11 ·· East J 3.: I feet lv tht> most easterly southeast
com('r of said Darma Real Estate Partnership. LP propert:,, said point also being the most southerly
�omer of P:.in:d 2 1,.1f Partition Plat �o. 2004-105: I hence along tht: west line of said Parcel 2. Nonh
01"43

.
32" J:�12968.35 feet to the Point of Btginning,

Tht.• basis of bearing� for this 1.kscription is Panitil)O Plat No. 1004-105. Marion Count:· Survey 
Rct:ords. 

94



 B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D
 N

E

  CROSBY RD NE

N 
PA

CI
FI

C 
HY

  

  NEWBERG HY  

N FRONT S
T  

  PARR RD NE

S 
PA

CIF
IC

 H
Y 

 

W HAYES ST  

N 2N
D ST  

N 1S
T S

T  

N 3R
D ST  

  B
ROW

N ST  

 A
S

TO
R

 W
Y 

  HARDCASTLE AV 

 LINCOLN ST 

 P
AR

K
 A

V 

 EAST LINCOLN RD NE

  O
GLE

 S
T  

W LINCOLN ST 

 W
IL

LO
W

 A
V

 

 U
M

PQ
U

A
 R

D
 

N 5T
H ST  

  S
TA

CY A
LL

IS
ON W

Y 
 

 HAZELNUT DR 

  G
AT

CH
 S

T 
 

 MT HOOD AV 
 A

R
N

EY
 R

D
 N

E

 S
A

LL
AL

 R
D

 

  STARK ST  

E CLEVELAND ST  

 COUNTRY CLUB RD 

 TUKWILA DR 

  MEADOW DR NE

  S
M

IT
H 

DR
  

  P
ROGRESS W

Y  

  C
OOLE

Y R
D N

E

  RAINIER RD  

S 
S

ET
TL

E
M

IE
R

 A
V

  

 P
R

IN
C

E
TO

N
 R

D
 

 BLAINE ST  

  E
VE

RG
RE

EN
 R

D 
NE

  C
OMMERCE W

Y  

  JAMES ST  

  TOMLIN AV  

  M
ER

ID
IA

N 
DR

  

  WILSON ST  

  HARRISON ST  

  E
LM

 S
T 

 

EV
E

R
G

R
E

EN
 R

D
 

  W
OR

KM
AN

 D
R 

 

TI
ER

R
A 

 L
Y

NN
  D

R

S 
C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R
 

  H
ER

M
AN

SO
N 

ST
  

  N
AT

IO
NA

L W
Y 

 

  WOODLAND AV  

  A
RNEY R

D  

 B
AY

LO
R

 D
R

 

 Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

 

 H
A

W
LE

Y
 S

T 

  LAUREL AV  

  MYRTLE ST  

 MCKINLEY ST 

 ALEXANDRA  AV 

  M
O

U
NT

AI
N 

VI
EW

 L
N

NE

  GRANT ST  

 S
TU

B
B

 R
D

 N
E

N
 C

AS
C

A
D

E
 D

R
 

N 4T
H ST  

  H
AL

L 
ST

  

  KING WY  

CHURCH ST

  P
ANA S

T  

  SERRES LN NE

  B
RY

AN
 S

T 
 

  J
UN

E 
W

Y 
 

S 
C

A
S

C
A

D
E

 D
R

  

E BLAINE ST  

  M
C

LA
UG

HL
IN

 D
R 

 

O
R

E
G

O
N

 W
Y 

  HIGH ST  

  VANDERBECK LN  

  AZTEC DR  

  L
EA

SU
RE

 S
T 

 

  EAGLE DR  

  LINDA ST  

  R
O

Y
 A

V
  

 IRONWOOD TR 

  DAHLIA ST  

  GOUDY GARDENS LN NE

 E
LA

N
A 

D
R

 

  C
O

RB
Y 

ST
  

 H
A

R
VA

R
D

 D
R

 T
H

O
M

P
S

O
N

 R
D

 

  D
OUD ST  

 ARNEY LN NE

  G
RE

EN
VI

EW
 D

R 
 

 JOHNSON ST 

  CAMAS ST  

  BRADLEY ST  

 C
A

R
O

L 
S

T 

  GEORGE ST  

  JORY ST  

 HOOPER ST NE

  D
EE

R 
RU

N
  

  OATS ST  

  A
UDR

EY
 W

Y 
 

 EAST HARDCASTLE RD NE

  R
A

N
D

O
LP

H
 R

D
  

  M
AR

SH
AL

L 
ST

  

  CONSTITUTION AV  

  BROADWAY ST  

 W
A

LT
O

N
 W

Y
  

  STEVEN ST  

 MAYANNA DR 

  D
ELLM

OOR W
Y  

  RYE ST  

  SANTIAM DR  

  E
LA

NA
 W

Y 
 

W
 C

LA
C

KA
M

A
S

 C
R

 

  P
A

LM
 A

V
  

  FIR ST  

  JUDY ST  

  C
OUNTR

Y L
N  

E 
C

LA
C

KA
M

AS
 C

R
 

  FINZER WY  

 P
AT

R
IO

T 
ST

 

  MCNAUGHT RD  

  NEKIA ST  

 KOENER RD NE

  BRIDLEWOOD LN  

  BARLEY ST  

  O
LI

V
E

 A
V

  

  S
TA

N
FI

E
LD

 R
D

  

W CLEVELAND ST  

 ARLINGTON AV 

  OSWALD ST 

 L
IL

A
C

 W
Y

 

 J
A

N
S

EN
 W

Y
 

  KOTKA ST  

 O
R

C
H

AR
D

 L
N

 

  WHEAT ST  

  C
O

ZY
 W

Y 
 

 S
Y

C
AM

O
R

E
 A

V 

  MILL ST  

 Q
U

E
E

N
 C

IT
Y 

B
V

 

  T
EN

 O
AK

S 
LN

 N
E

  KOI LN NE

  PAYNE ST  

  BEN BROWN LN  

  INDEPENDENCE AV  

 L
AW

S
O

N
 S

T 

  OXFORD ST  

  DUKE ST  

  CENTER ST NE

S 
3R

D 
ST

  

  CHERRY ST  

  K
EL

O
W

N
A 

ST
  

 R
E

V
ER

E 
S

T 

  T
OOZE A

V  

  GARDEN WY  

S 1
ST

 S
T  

  J
AN

A 
AV

  

  RAILROAD   NE

 J
O

Y
C

E
 S

T 
 

SPRAGUE LN

  C
O

M
ST

O
C

K
 W

Y
  

 F
AI

R
W

AY
 S

T 

  MONTGOMERY   ST  

  HAMPTON WY  

 NOVAYA LN NE

 BERNARD DR 

  VERA LN NE

  PLUM LN NE

  ALDER LN  

  H
AR

VE
ST

 W
Y 

 

 R
O

A
N

O
K

E 
S

T 

  TULIP AV  

  L
UBA S

T  

 M
IL

LE
R

 F
AR

M
 R

D
 

  TOUT ST  

 H
E

AT
H

E
R

 W
Y 

 A
N

N
A 

ST
 

  MARION ST  

  A CT  

  COMSTOCK AV  

  CITADEL ST  

  VASSER ST  

  ARTHUR ST  

  PLUM AV NE

 C
A

M
E

LL
IA

 W
Y 

  ACACIA AV  

  STANFORD ST  

 C
E

D
A

R
 A

V
 

 J
A

C
O

B
 S

T 

  SHALIMAR LP  

  K
EN

NE
DY

 S
T 

 

  MULBERRY DR  

 DOGWOOD DR
  BUNKER AV  

 SHENANDOAH LN

  LANDAU DR  

S 
2N

D 
ST

  

2N
D

 S
T

MCCORMICK ST

  AKSENIA ST  

  H
ILLY

ERS LN
  

  AUSTIN AV  

 R
O

B
E

R
T 

S
T 

 F
E

S
C

U
E

 A
V

 

  B
IR

D
S

 E
Y

E
 A

V
  

 C
A

H
IL

L 
W

Y
 

E LINCOLN RD 

  ECOLA WY  

FI
LB

ER
T

ST

 KOFFLER AV 

 CREIGHTON ST 

 WILLIAMS AV 

  B
O

ST
O

N
 S

T 

  C
H

AM
PI

O
N

S
H

IP
 D

R
 

N 6T
H ST  

 NEWPORT WY 

  CHARLES ST  

  GILBERT PL NE

FAIRWOOD CRESCENT

 M
A

R
 C

E
L 

D
R

 

  CARSON CT NE

 D
U

N
N

 C
T 

  G
R

AY
S

TO
N

E
 D

R
  

 H
A

R
D

EL
 C

T
N

E

  OREGON CT  

 C
O

N
C

O
R

D
 S

T 
 

  YEW ST  

  KELOWNA CT  

  MAPLE ST  

 M UIRFIELD  LN 

 H
E

R
IT

AG
E

 A
V

 

  PACIFIC CT NE

M
E

A
D

O
W

PA
U

LI
N

E
ST

 INGLEWOOD LN

  REDWOOD LN NE

 FOX GLOVE ST  

  G
RA

NI
TE

 S
T

  BRANDYWINE CT  

 P
A

R
K

 C
R

 

  B
RO

W
N C

T  

ED
G

EW
A

TE
R

D
R

SEVEN OAKS LN S

 S
E

N
AC

A 
C

T 

  R
AY

 J
 G

LA
TT

 C
R 

 

 CENTENNIAL DR 

  W
AL

KE
R 

CT
  

  ANDREA'S CT  

SEVEN OAKS LN

  THORN ST  
C

OL
O

NY
 S

T
 

CU
PI

D
S 

CT
  

  A
MITY CT  

 COOLEY CT 

 COUNTRY CLUB CT 

 HENRYS BV 

 COUNTRY CLUB TR 

CH
RI

ST
IA

N
SE

N
AV

PA
U

LU
S

C
T

CIR

  J
AN

A 
CT

  

  M
ARYLY

NN W
Y  

  SALLAL CT  

PINE
CR

  MT JEFFERSON AV  

TR
AC

Y
LN

  GOOSE CREEK RD 

  HAWTHORNE CR  

 UMPQUA PL  

  SMITH CT 

WOODCRESTCT
  S

TA
RK

 C
T 

 

  N
U

G
G

E
T C

T  

 N
O

R
TH

 C
T 

 

  H
E

R
O

N
 D

R
 

  PANA CT  

CO
LE

W
O

O
D

DR

BO
G

IE
C

T

HEMLOCKCIR

LE
XI

N
GT

O
N

CT

  A
U

TU
M

N 
BV

  

  M
ER

ID
IA

N 
CT

  

  GOOSE HOLLOW CT  

  M
A

P
LE

W
O

O
D

 C
T 

 

MILLER
CT

  VANDERBECK LN  

  B
 S

T 
 

  OAK ST  

  C
 S

T 
 

  F
RON

T S
T 

NE

  THOMPSON RD  

 H
A

R
VA

R
D

 D
R

 B
R

YA
N

 S
T 

 P
U

B
LI

C
 R

D
 N

E

N 6T
H ST  

 Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

 

  A
 S

T 
 

  D
 S

T 
 

  INDUSTRIAL AV    R
O

AN
O

KE
 S

T 
 

  CHURCH ST  

  A
 S

T 
 

  ART HUR ST  

  WARREN WY  

S 1
ST

 S
T  

SENECAL

 B
R

O
U

G
H

TO
N

 W
Y

  

N 7T
H ST  

JA
M

ES
TO

W
N

ST
  

JU
LI

E
C

T

CRESTLINE

ST

E HAYES ST  

GREENVIEWCT

  ASTOR CT  

CH
AR

LE
S

CT

  A
LE

TH
A 

ST
  

C
O

U
N

TR
Y

BRO
AD

  JUNE CR  

1S
T 

ST

  QU AIL RU N C R 

INDEPENDENCE
CT

  UMPQUA CT  

 D ESAN TIS DR

BARNST

 W
O

O
D

LA
N

D
 AV

 

W  LINCOLN  ST

W HAYES ST  

W HAYES  ST

VALE LN

 GARFIELD ST 

 STACY ALLISON WY 

 W
O

O
D

LA
N

D
 A

V 

  F
RONT S

T N
E

 C
H

AT
EA

U
 D

R
 N

E

  W
ILC

O
 H

Y N
E

  H
AZ

EL
N

UT
 D

R 
 

M
O

RE PL

  A
S

TO
R

 W
Y

  

 P
R

IN
C

E
TO

N
 R

D
 

  UMPQUA RD  
  SALLAL RD  

CLUB CR

  B
UT

TE
VI

LL
E 

RD
 N

E   W
ILLOW AV  

  PARR RD NE

  B
O

O
N

E
S 

FE
R

R
Y 

R
D

 N
E

N 
PA

CI
FI

C 
HY

  

S 
PA

CIF
IC

 H
Y 

 

CREEK DR

N FR
ONT S

T  

TROON AVE  

TURNBERRY AVE

SWEETWATER AVE

PALIMINO AVE

PR
A

IR
IE

 S
T

PA
R

A
D

IS
E

 S
T

VINE AV

BR
O

W
N

 S
T

  OXFORD ST  

REED AV

LINFIELD AV

BO
E

AN
 L

N

SK
Y

LE
R

 D
R

JONAH PL

JUNIPER

PATRICK WY

N 5T
H ST  

N 3R
D ST  

 B
LY

 L
P 

 A
L

S
E

A 
LP

 

  DEXTER L P  

  CANBY LP  

  JA NSEN WY  

  CASCADE DR  
  C

A
S

C
A

D
E

 D
R

  

  C
A

S
C

A
D

E
 D

R
  

TO
M

TENNANT DR

 MAR CEL
CT

TIERRA

LYNNCT

TIERRA
CT

DEL SOL
CT

PARKVIEW
CT

AL
EX

A
N

D
R

A
C

T

KEVIN

CTAMY
CT

O
LY

M
P

IC ST

  T
UK

W
IL

A 
DR

  

ROBIN AV

  ARNEY RD  Woodburn
£¤99E

£¤214

£¤99E

£¤211
£¤219

£¤214

§̈¦I-5

§̈¦I-5

º

Exhibit C

Disclaimer: This map is a graphic representation, using the most
current information available. However, it should not be
considered accurate for scaling. Plot Date: October 08, 2019

City of Woodburn
GIS

Legend Revised
Woodburn Enterprise Zone

95



MAP TAXLOT # PARCEL # ZONING SITUS ADDRESS
 ASSESSED 

VALUE ACRES
052W1100400 LOT 1 LI NO ADDRESS 27,410$                24.54
052W1100500 LOT 2 LI NO ADDRESS 34,230$                20.17
052W1100600 LOT 3 LI NO ADDRESS 27,080$                19.66
052W1402400 LOT 4 LI NO ADDRESS 27,080$                19.66
052W1402500 LOT 5 LI NO ADDRESS 30,050$                21.82

LI = Light Industrial

WOODBURN-GERVAIS ENTERPRISE ZONE                                                 
BOUNDARY EXPANSION

96



WOODBURN-GERVAIS  

ENTERPRISE ZONE PROGRAM 
Designed to encourage business investment through property tax 
abatement, the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone provides an 
abatement of    property taxes to eligible businesses on qualifying 
investments for a period of three (3) up to five (5) years.  The 
boundary of the Zone includes the entire city limits of both Woodburn 
and Gervais. 

Standard incentives are available to eligible businesses in an 
enterprise zone, subject to authorization, timely  filings and job 
creation criteria.  Standard incentives include: 

 Construction-in-Process Exemption - up to two years before qualified
property is placed in service, it can be exempt from local taxes.

 Three to five consecutive years of property tax exemption  on qualified
property, after placed in service.

ENTERPRISE ZONE BOUNDARY MAPS 

Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone 

Contact Information: 

Jamie Johnk, Zone Manager 

City of Woodburn 

270 Montgomery Street  |  Woodburn, OR  97071 

Phone:  503-980-6319  
Email: Jamie.johnk@ci.woodburn.or.us 

Exhibit D

97



 

 

 

 

 

 

WOODBURN-GERVAIS ENTERPRISE ZONE PROGRAM 

BUSINESS ELIGIBILITY 
Eligible businesses provide goods, products or services to other operations or organizations.  This 
includes manufacturing and industrial activities as well as processing, distribution, maintenance facilities, 
warehouses and operations that handle bulk clerical or post-sale technical support.   
 

Prior to investing in improvements or installing machinery/equipment on site, the Zone Manager must 
receive and approve an Application for Authorization, which contains pertinent process information. 

 

QUALIFIED PROPERTY 
A minimum investment of $50,000 in real property is required for enterprise zone consideration.    

Real property qualifying for the exemption includes (but is not limited to): new building construction, 
structural modifications or additions, and  newly installed machinery and equipment.  Nonqualified items 
include land, previously used property value, vehicles, rolling stock, and miscellaneous personal items. 
 

 

CRITERIA FOR QUALIFYING PROJECTS 
For the standard three-year enterprise zone exemption, the business should meet the following 
criteria: 

 Increase full-time, permanent employment by 10% 

 Maintain minimum employment level during the exemption period 

 Enter into a first-source agreement with local job training providers 

 Satisfy pre-existing local zone conditions 

 

Criteria for the extended tax exemption (for a maximum of a five-year  
exemption): 

 The business should meet the criteria for the three-year enterprise zone exemption as well as the 
following: 

 compensation of new workers must be at or above $67,134 annual wages (benefits can be used to 
reach this pay level); 

 there must be local approval by written agreement with the local zone sponsor; and the company 
must meet any additional requirements that the local zone sponsor may reasonably request.  

 

APPLICATION 
Businesses interested in the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone can obtain program information on 
Woodburn’s website at:  www.woodburn-or.gov or contact the Zone Manager: 

 

 Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director 

 City of Woodburn  

 270 Montgomery Street,  Woodburn OR  97071 

 Phone: 503-980-6319 

 Email: Jamie.johnk@ci.woodburn.or.us 

 

98



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __X____ City Attorney __X____ Finance ___X__ 

       November 12, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council (Acting as the Local Contract 

Review Board) through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Eric Liljequist, Public Works Projects & Engineering Director 
 
SUBJECT: Award a Contract for Final Design Services for the I-5 Pump Station 

and Force Main Upgrades to Murraysmith, Inc. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Award a Contract for final design services for the I-5 Pump Station and Force Main 
Upgrades for $537,850.00 to Murraysmith, Inc. and authorize the City Administrator 
to sign the Agreement. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Staff utilized a Request for Proposals (RFP) process to solicit engineering and design 
services for the I-5 Pump Station and Force Main Upgrades Project. The RFP was 
advertised on the City website and in the Daily Journal of Commerce. Staff 
received a total of three proposals that satisfied the requirements of the RFP.  Staff 
reviewed all three proposals in accordance with the RFP guidelines and state 
requirements (ORS 279C.105). After a thorough evaluation process, the City 
selected Murraysmith, Inc. as the highest-ranking proposer. City staff proceeded to 
negotiate a scope of work and fee for services to complete this preliminary design 
work. 
 
Murraysmith, Inc. is a well-qualified firm and familiar with the current City sewer 
system.  The negotiated contract for final design services for this project is in the 
amount of $537,850. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
Per the 2010 Woodburn Wastewater Facilities Plan, the I-5 Pump Station and Force 
Main Upgrades Project will provide an upgraded pump station and force main 
piping that will provide service for future customer types within the recently 
expanded urban growth boundary areas for this particular wastewater collection 

99



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
basin.  This contract award will facilitate both the project design completion and 
subsequent public bidding of the I-5 Pump Station and Force Main Upgrades 
Project.   
 
The original procurement process for soliciting these services and the contract 
award is in conformance with public contracting laws of the State of Oregon as 
outlined in ORS Chapter 279 and the laws and regulations of the City of Woodburn.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The Personal Service Contract will be funded from the approved 2019/20 fiscal 
year budget from the sewer fund. 
 

100



 Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____  

   November 12, 2019 
  
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
FROM: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director 
 Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A, Senior Planner 
 
SUBJECT: Council Call-up of Planning Commission approval of Pacific Valley 

Apartments (Design Review DR 2019-03 Property Line Adjustment PLA 
2019-03, & Variances VAR 2019-02) 

  
 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Consider the staff memo and its attachments and testimony and uphold the 
Planning Commission approval with conditions.   

Alternate Outcomes 

The Council may instead act on the land use application to: 

1. Approve with modified conditions; or 
2. Deny, based on WDO criteria or other City provisions. 

 

BACKGROUND: 
 
On October 10, 2019, Council called up the Planning Commission decision of 
October 10, 2019 for review as WDO 4.02.02 allows.  The Commission approved 
the request with the conditions recommended by staff.  Attached as background 
are the draft minutes form the Commission meeting and the staff report with its 
attachments.  An audio recording of the Commission hearing is available at this 
link: Oct. 10 Planning Commission audio. 

During the public testimony portion of the Commission meeting three neighbors 
testified.  They raised issues related to traffic, driveway alignments, building heights 
and the landscaping in between the multi-family and the single-family homes to 
the east.  After deliberation, the Commission voted to unanimously approve the 
proposal with all of the recommended conditions, including upgraded 
landscaping and limitations on outdoor lighting in lieu of constructing a wall along 
the eastern property line.   

101

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=T29WSAlMluE&feature=youtu.be


Honorable Mayor and City Council 
November 12, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
DISCUSSION: 

The Council hearing will be holding a quasi-judicial public hearing “de novo”, or 
“as new”.  The role of the Council to consider the entire record including the 
Commission decision and staff report as well as any testimony received at the 
hearing, and then apply the applicable criteria to determine if the application 
meets the requirements of the code.  If the application meets the approval 
criteria, the Council must approve it. If the application does not meet the 
approval criteria, the Council must deny it. The format of the hearing is outlined in 
more detail below. 

PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURES: 

1. Open Public Hearing 
2. Declarations: 

a. Potential Conflicts of Interest 
b. Ex-Parte Contacts 
c. Site Visits 
d. Challenges 

3. Public Hearing Statement 
4. Staff Report 
5. Testimony by Applicant 
6. Testimony by Proponents (those in favor) 
7. Testimony by Opponents (those against) 
8. Rebuttal by Applicant 
9. Public Hearing Closed 
10. Council Discussion 
11. Decision 
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None. 

 
 
Attachments: 
 
1. Planning Commission draft minutes (October 10, 2019) 
2. Planning Commission staff report (October 10, 2019) 

102



 

1 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

Woodburn Planning Commission Public Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

October 10, 2019 
 

CONVENED: The Planning Commission met at 7 p.m. in a public session in 
the City Hall Council Chambers, Chair Charlie Piper presiding. 
 
ROLL CALL: 
          Chair Piper Present 
          Vice-Chair Bandelow Absent 

Commissioner Aiken Present 
Commissioner Corning Present 
Commissioner Dos Reis Absent 
Commissioner Lassen Present 
Commissioner Berlin Present 

 
Staff Present:   

   Chris Kerr, Community Development Director 
   Colin Cortes, Senior Planner 

     McKenzie Granum, Assistant City Attorney 
 

Introduction 
Chair Piper opened the workshop/meeting at 7 p.m., and led the Commissioners 
in the flag salute.   
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
Minutes 
The minutes of September 26, 2019 were approved. 
  
Business from the Audience 
None 
 
Communication 
None 
 
Public Hearing 
Agenda item a.  Heritage Elementary School (CU 2019-02, DR 2019-02, EXCP 
2019-02 & VAR 2019-01), 440 Parr Rd. This application will be continued at the 
next Planning Commission meeting on October 24, 2019.  No audience member 
commented. 
 
Agenda item b. Pacific Valley Apartments (DR 2019-03, PLA 2019-03 & VAR 
2019-02) 1310 & 1340 N Pacific Highway. 
 
There were no ex parte conflicts of interest and no challenges from the audience. 

103



 

2 
 

This proposed application, which includes a design review, a property line 
adjustment and several variances, centers around a new apartment complex of 
204 apartments across ten conventional three-story walk-up buildings. Related 
improvements include highway frontage improvements, a public 
bicycle/pedestrian path (“Jacobsen” path), cross-access drive aisles and 
easements, and a right-of-way dedication. 
 
Robert Leeb, Principal In Charge, Leeb Architects, 308 SW 1st Ave, Ste. 200, 
Portland, OR 97204 has been working with staff to provide a 16 x 20 play shelter/ 
adult structure area by the clubhouse that would be partially under cover and 
integrated (while following the Woodburn guidelines) with the landscaping.  He 
noted that about 50% of the families were expected to have children. 
 
Senior Planner Cortes pointed out eight large existing trees that would remain, 
and noted that the pedestrian sidewalk has a spur that would assist people to 
access the private walkway system.  
 
In response to questions from Commissioner Corning about landscaping along 
the east property line, Senior Planner Cortes stated that the proposed 
landscaping would consist of two rows of evergreen shrubbery, consisting of 
crocosmia and emerald green arbor vitae (the latter of which could grow to a 
height of 15 feet), along with a number of additional trees and shrubs.  
 
Director Kerr said Condition V7-AW (page 58 of the staff report) gives more 
information about the enhancement of the landscape buffer and about the 
small/medium/large plant size categories. 
 
Chair Piper said that all species of plants are detailed in the landscape plan.  
 
 
Testimony: 
 
Proponents: None 
 
Opponents: Fred Muraviov, resident of 1297 Greenview Drive, Woodburn, a 
neighbor to the proposed apartments and is an opponent of the project.  He is 
especially concerned about the proximity of three-story Bldg. C to the eastern 
border of residential houses.  The planned arbor vitae will not reach a height that 
will obscure that third floor.  He advocated that Bldg. C be two stories, not three. 
 
Josh Escana, 155 N. Pacific Highway, across the street from the proposed 
development, talked about traffic flow and how consolidating to one driveway 
might slow increased traffic considerably. 
 
 

104



 

3 
 

Alex F. Muraviov, 17221 Boones Ferry Rd, Woodburn (and owner of 1297 
Greenview Dr) spoke.  He mentioned the proposal would have one driveway, 
said Street Corridor “G” was mentioned fifteen times [he appears to have meant 
in the staff report], and used a nearby map to show the corridor alignment.  He 
claimed no resident received notice [implying about the corridor specifically] and 
rhetorically asked when he was to be notified that they were coming to demolish 
his house.   
 
Mr. Leeb, Leeb Architects, spoke in rebuttal.  He said that the traffic consultant 
involved in the project was available for questions.   
 
Brian Davis, traffic consultant with Lancaster Engineering, said that the state 
highway is under ODOT’s jurisdiction, so they are limited as to what they can do.  
By aligning the driveway with the driveway on the other side of the highway, they 
minimized the number of possible conflict points, increasing traffic safety.  Under 
existing conditions, there is a left turn arrow onto Alexandra Avenue and they 
would recommend that ODOT give full function to that left turn.   
 
 
Senior Planner Cortes addressed the right-of-way for Alexandra Avenue.  The 
City is focused on long-range planning for street connections, being mindful of 
concern on the part of property owners that part of their property might eminently 
be taken for the good of the City.  Staff is attempting to identify and reserve a 
core where a portion of the street might be needed in the far future.  Should it be 
necessary, the City would be required to compensate property owners for any 
land acquired. For this project, the block of property is being broken up with 
flexible bike and walkway routes, being mindful of future possible street needs.  
Those Street Corridors “G” and “K” might never happen, but those two reserved 
corridors would leave fewer obstacles to creating future streets. 
 
Chair Piper spoke about the proposed conditions of approval and their 
conformance to WDO regulations.  He entertained a motion of the application 
package for Pacific Valley Apartments, 1310-1340 N. Pacific Highway, subject to 
the conditions of approval as recommended [in the staff report], and allowing the 
Chair to sign the Final Order.  Commissioner Corning made the motion and it 
was approved by Commissioner Berlin.  The motion was unanimously approved. 
 
Director Kerr encouraged audience members to fill out legal standing forms. 
 
Staff Update: 
None 
 
Adjournment 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:58 pm. 
  
 

105



 

4 
 

APPROVED______________________________          ______________ 
                         Charlie Piper, Chair                                           Date 
 
ATTEST      ______________________________           ______________ 
                      Chris Kerr                                                    Date 
         Community Development Director                     
                       City of Woodburn, Oregon 

106



 
 

Staff Report 
 
To: Planning Commission 

Through: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director  

From: Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A, Senior Planner 

Meeting Date: October 10, 2019 (Prepared October 3, 2019) 

Item: 1310 & 1340 N. Pacific Highway “Pacific Valley Apartments” (DR 2019-03, 
PLA 2019-03, & VAR 2019-02) 

Tax Lot(s): 051W08DC 00100 & 051W08DB 02800 

 
 
 

TTABLE OF CONTENTS 

ISSUE BEFORE THE PLANNING COMMISSION ..................................................................... 2 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .................................................................................................... 2 

RECOMMENDATION ....................................................................................................... 4 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL ............................................................................................ 5 

ACTIONS ..................................................................................................................... 16 

ATTACHMENT LIST ....................................................................................................... 16 
 
 
  

107



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 
Page 2 of 16 

Issue before the Planning Commission 

Action on a consolidated land use application package, Design Review DR 2019-03 (Type III) for 
an apartment complex of 204 dwellings, known as Pacific Valley Apartments, in the Commercial 
General (CG) zone, with Property Line Adjustment PLA 2019-03, and Variance VAR 2019-02 for 
seven variance requests. 
 
 
Executive Summary 

The subject property is along the east side of N. Pacific Highway (U.S. 99E) at the T-intersection 
of Alexandra Avenue with the highway and situated between the vacant commercial building 
previously occupied by Chu’s Eatery to the north, Al’s Garden & Home retailer to the south, and 
the Country Acres Estates Subdivision to the east. It is disturbed but undeveloped and contains 
along the westerly south property line corner the remains of vacated dead-end Jacobsen Road.  

The proposal is about site development into 204 apartments across ten buildings A-K.  The 
buildings are three-story walk-ups, conventional for new construction.  The unit mix is 36 one-
bedroom (18%), 150 two-bedroom (74%), and 18 three-bedroom (9%). 

The complex includes also a club house / leasing office, barbeque (BBQ) pit, play area, 
maintenance shed, four recycling and trash enclosures, and “Jacobsen path” – a public 8-foot 
wide concrete bicycle/pedestrian path along where Jacobsen Road was vacated long ago, which 
is along the western half of the south property line and connecting the on-site walkway system 
with the highway sidewalk.   

N.
 P

ac
ifi

c H
w

y 
at

 A
le

xa
nd

ra
 A

ve
 

  

 

 

  
Aerial Map (2016) 
 

108



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 
Page 3 of 16 

 
Site plan (plan sheet Exhibit 2) 
 

 
Applicant’s artist’s rendering:  bird’s eye perspective looking southeast 
 

The project comes with several variance requests (VAR 2019-02) to vary from Woodburn 
Development Ordinance (WDO): 

1. Street access minimum number (3.01.05C); 
2. Driveway minimum number (3.04.03A.2.b); 
3. Parking ratio minimum (Table 3.05A); 
4. Compact parking percentage maximum (3.05.03C); 
5. Drive aisle width minimum (Table 3.05C);  
6. Parking area curb height minimum (3.06.02I); and 

109



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 
Page 4 of 16 

7. Architectural Wall (Table 3.06D & 3.06.06). 

The applicant is Leeb Architects, representing Eugene Labunsky of West Coast Real Estate 
Holdings as well as Pacific Valley Apartments LLC. 
 
Pursuant to state law, staff reviews the application through the WDO as it existed on the date of 
application.  On April 10, 2019, the WDO version was that of Ordinance No. 2562 adopted Sept. 
10, 2018.  Though at present in the CG zoning district multiple-family dwellings are prohibited in 
some areas of the district and a conditional use (CU) in others, this change occurred after 
application submittal (and in response to a different proposed apartment complex project later 
submitted as DR 2019-05 Allison Way Apartments).  The City Council adopted Legislative 
Amendment LA 2019-01 via Ordinance No. 2573 on June 24, 2019, which as is standard for 
ordinances per the City Charter, took effect 30 days later.   
 
In short, the above paragraph means that had the applicant submitted the consolidated 
application package after the WDO amendment, it would have required a conditional use (CU) 
application. 
 
 
Recommendation 

Approval with conditions:  Staff recommends that the Planning Commission consider the staff 
report and its attachments and approve the application with the conditions recommended by 
staff below. The conditions can also be found towards the end of the Analyses & Findings 
(Attachment 102). 
  

110



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 
Page 5 of 16 

Conditions of Approval 

General 

G1.  Prior to building permit application, the applicant shall submit revised site plans meeting the 
conditions of approval to the Planning Division and obtain Division approval. 

G2.  The applicant or successor shall develop the property in substantial conformance with the 
final plans submitted and approved with these applications, except as modified by these 
conditions of approval.  Were the applicant to revise plans other than to meet conditions of 
approval or meet building code, even if Planning Division staff does not notice and signs off on 
building permit issuance, Division staff retains the right to obtain restoration of improvements 
as shown on an earlier land use review plan set in service of substantial conformance. 

G3. References: The descriptions below define certain words, phrases, and assumptions in the 
context of the conditions of approval: 

 “Access way” means an on-site walkway paved at least eight (8) feet wide to serve as a 
bicycle/pedestrian path to and from sidewalk – or to and from an off-street public 
bicycle/pedestrian path – and that is ADA-compliant. 

 “ADA” refers to the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 
 “Adjusted Parcel No. 1” is the resulting west half of the subject property and fronts the 

highway. 
 “Adjusted Parcel No. 2” is the resulting east half of the subject property. 
 “Director” refers to the Community Development Director. 
 “Highway” refers to N. Pacific Highway (U.S. 99E). 
 “Jacobsen path” refers to an off-street public bicycle/pedestrian path that is poured 

concrete at least eight (8) feet wide and ADA-compliant and extends between the sidewalk 
and the east north-south walkway within Street Corridor “K”, a distance of at least six 
hundred and twenty (620) feet, and refers also to a corollary public easement that is (a) at 
least twelve (12) feet wide that has the path within its boundaries, (b) extends to the east 
line of adjusted Parcel No. 2 adjacent to Tax Lot 051W08DD02600 (1217 Greenview Drive), 
and (c) is to the satisfaction of the Director.  (The path corridor overlaps long-vacated 
Jacobsen Road, and the name is an informal interim name for unique and easy reference.)  
Where the path crosses the asphalt south cross access drive aisle, (a) the concrete shall 
continue, and (b) the crossing shall be a speed table / raised crossing a minimum four (4) 
inches above the asphalt grade. 

 “PLA” means property line adjustment. 
 “PUE” means public utility easement. 
 “ROW” means right-of-way. 
 “Street Corridor ‘G’” refers to the southeast-northwest future local street corridor seventy 

(70) feet in width that assumes a ROW of sixty (60) feet plus two 5-foot PUEs.  The corridor 
aligns with the sixty foot width of Tax Lot 051W08DA06200 (1297 Greenview Drive). 

111



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 
Page 6 of 16 

 “Street Corridor ‘K’” refers to the north-south future local street corridor seventy (70) feet 
in width that assumes a ROW of sixty (60) feet plus two 5-foot PUEs.  The corridor east edge 
aligns near the southeast corner of Tax Lot 051W08DB02600 (1400 N. Pacific Highway). 

 “WDO” refers to the Woodburn Development Ordinance. 

G4.  Due date:  Unless a condition specifies otherwise, conditions including those relating to ROW 
and easement dedications and construction of frontage/public/street improvements are due by 
building permit issuance. 

G5.  Tree preservation:  Protection during construction: 

The applicant shall protect the preserved trees pursuant similar to City of Portland Title 
11.60.030, specifically either the subsections set of C.1.a.(1), (3) and C.1.b., e., & f. (clear 
and objective) and D.; or, the subsections set of C.2.a., b., & d.-f. (arborist’s discretion) and 
D. as modified below and shall do so between Design Review approval and issuance of 
certificate of occupancy (C of O): 

 
C.  Protection methods. The Tree Plan shall show that the contractor adequately protects 
trees to be preserved during construction using one of the methods described below: 
 

1.  Clear & Objective Path. 
 

a.  A root protection zone is established as follows: 
 

(1) For trees on the development site - a minimum of 1 foot radius (measured 
horizontally away from the face of the tree trunk) for each inch of tree 
diameter (see Figure 80-2) 

  

112



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 
Page 7 of 16 

 

Figure 80-2 
Root Protection Zone 

  

  

 
 
(3)  Existing encroachments into the root protection zone, including structures, 
paved surfaces and utilities, may remain. New encroachments into the root 
protection zone are allowed provided: 

 
(a)  the area of all new encroachments is less than 25 percent of the remaining 
root protection zone area when existing encroachments are subtracted; and 
 
(b)  no new encroachment is closer than 1/2 the required radius distance (see 
Figure 60-1); 

  

113



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 
Page 8 of 16 

 

Figure 60-1 
Permissible RPZ Encroachments 

    

 
b.  Protection fencing 

 
(1)  Protection fencing consisting of a minimum 6-foot high metal chain link 
construction fence, secured with 8-foot metal posts shall be established at the 
edge of the root protection zone and permissible encroachment area on the 
development site. Existing structures and/or existing secured fencing at least 3½ 
feet tall can serve as the required protective fencing. 
 
(2)  When a root protection zone extends beyond the development site, 
protection fencing is not required to extend beyond the development site. 
Existing structures and/or existing secured fencing at least 3½ feet tall can serve 
as the required protective fencing. 

 

114



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 
Page 9 of 16 

e.  The following is prohibited within the root protection zone of each tree or 
outside the limits of the development impact area: ground disturbance or 
construction activity including vehicle or equipment access (but excluding access 
on existing streets or driveways), storage of equipment or materials including 
soil, temporary or permanent stockpiling, proposed buildings, impervious 
surfaces, underground utilities, excavation or fill, trenching or other work 
activities; and 
 
f.  The fence shall be installed before any ground disturbing activities including 
clearing and grading, or construction starts; and shall remain in place until final 
inspection by Planning Division staff. 

 
2.  Arborist’s Discretion. When the prescriptive path is not practicable, the applicant may 
propose alternative measures to modify the clear and objective root protection zone 
(RPZ), provided the following standards are met: 
 

a.  The alternative RPZ is prepared by an arborist who has visited the site and 
examined the specific tree’s size, location, and extent of root cover, evaluated the 
tree’s tolerance to construction impact based on its species and health, identified any 
past impacts that have occurred within the root zone, and forwarded a report through 
the developer to Planning Division staff; 
 
b.  The arborist has prepared a plan providing the rationale used to demonstrate that 
the alternate method provides an adequate level of protection based on the findings 
from the site visit described above; 
 
d.  If the alternative methods require the arborist be on site during construction 
activity, the applicant shall submit a copy of the contract for those services prior to 
permit issuance and a final report from the arborist documenting the inspections and 
verifying the viability of the tree(s) prior to final inspection by the Planning Division; 
 
e.  If the alternative tree protection method involves alternative construction 
techniques, an explanation of the techniques and materials used shall be submitted; 
 
f.  The arborist shall sign the tree preservation and protection plan and include contact 
information. 

 
D.  Changes to tree protection. Changes to the tree protection measures during the course of 
the development may be approved as a revision to a permit provided that the change is not the 
result of an unauthorized encroachment into a root protection zone (RPZ), and the applicant 
demonstrates that the tree protection standards of this Section continue to be met. When an 
unauthorized encroachment has occurred, the City may pursue an enforcement action or other 
remedy. 

 

G6-PW.  Public Works:  Follow the appended "Public Works Comments September 30, 2019" 
(Attachment 102A). 

115



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 

Page 10 of 16 

 

Design Review 2019-03 

D1.  ROW:  To meet WDO Figure 3.01B, as part of PLA recordation and regarding N. Pacific 
Highway (U.S. 99E) the applicant shall dedicate six (6) feet of ROW and along the ROW a PUE of 
ten (10) feet. 
 
D2.  Street corridors:  To meet WDO 3.01, as part of PLA recordation and regarding Street 
Corridors “G” & “K”, the applicant shall for each dedicate either (a) sixty (60) feet of ROW and 
along each side a PUE of five (5) feet or (b) a PUE of seventy (70) feet. 
 
D3.  Jacobsen path:  To meet WDO 3.01, the applicant shall: 

a. Easement:  As part of PLA recordation and regarding said path, dedicate a PUE of at least 
twelve (12) feet in width and extending from the highway newly dedicated ROW to the 
rear east property line of adjusted Parcel No. 2. adjacent to Tax Lot 051W08DD02600 
(1217 Greenview Drive); and 

b. Improvement:  Improve said path per Condition G3.  Also, if the path is concrete, the 
concrete shall continue where the path crosses the asphalt south cross access drive aisle. 

 
D4.  Cross access:  To meet WDO 3.04.03B, the applicant shall: 

a. Extend from the driveway a drive aisle each to the north and south property lines of 
adjusted Parcel No. 1 adjacent to Tax Lots 051W08DB02700 (1390 N. Pacific Highway) and 
051W08DC00300 (1220 N. Pacific Highway). 

b. To meet WDO 3.04.03B.1 & 3, establish a public access easement and private 
maintenance agreement to the satisfaction of the Director and revocable only with the 
concurrence of the Director. 

c. The easement width shall be minimum twenty (20) feet and centered on the drive aisle 
centerline. 

 
D5.  Parking stall double striping:  To meet WDO 3.05.02K, the applicant shall delineate parking 
stalls with double parallel lines pursuant to Figure 3.05C and stripe them as such in the field prior 
to building permit final inspection. 
 
D6.  Bicycle parking near main entrance:  To meet WDO 3.05.03E, prior to building permit final 
inspection the applicant shall provide bicycle parking within fifty (50) feet of a main entrance.  In 
the context of a new construction apartment complex with conventional three-story buildings 
with open stairwells, each apartment building has two main entrances as follows:   

a. In Buildings A & C-G there are four points where a building main wall plane intersects the 
walkway serving building ground floor entrances and the stairwell to upper floor 
entrances; 

b. In Buildings B, H, & J there are two such points; 

116



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 

Page 11 of 16 

c. Each building has either (a) two walkways with two points each totaling the four or (b) 
one walkway with two points total; and so 

d. The condition shall apply to two points minimum for each of Buildings A & C-G and one 
point minimum for Buildings B, H, & J and apply to one point minimum per walkway. 

 
 
Property Line Adjustment 2019-03 

PLA-1.  Street access:  To meet WDO 3.04.01A, landlocked adjusted Parcel No. 2 shall have 
access to the highway across adjusted Parcel No. 1 by means of a public access easement and 
private maintenance agreement to the satisfaction of the Director, and revocable only with the 
concurrence of the Director. 
 
PLA-2PW.  Public Works:  Sewer access:  Follow the appended "Public Works Comments 
September 30, 2019" (Attachment 102A), Comment Other 1. 
 
PLA-3.  Recording:  To meet WDO 5.01.08B.5., upon City approval of the subject property line 
adjustment (PLA), the applicant shall revise the drawing or drawings as needed and record the 
re-plat with Marion County.  The expiration date is per WDO 4.02.04B.  Subsection 2. that refers 
to "the activity approved in the decision has commenced" means recordation of the subject 
PLA, and to this end the applicant shall apply to Marion County for recordation by April 10, 
2020 and complete recordation by October 9, 2020. 
 
 
Variance 2019-02 

V1-SA.  Street access minimum number (WDO 3.01.05C):  The proposal is exempt from WDO 
3.01.05C, and the applicant shall: 

a. Reserve Street Corridors “G” and “K” per Conditions G3 & D2; and 
b. Construct the public cross access drive aisles and dedicate corollary easements 

accordingly per Condition D4. 
 
V2-DN.  Driveway minimum number (WDO 3.04.03A.2.b): 

a. The proposal is exempt from WDO 3.04.03A.2.b., and the applicant shall: 
b. Reserve Street Corridors “G” and “K” per Condition G3 & D2; and 
c. Construct the public cross access drive aisles and dedicate corollary easements 

accordingly per Condition D4. 
  

117



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 

Page 12 of 16 

V3-PR.  Off-street parking ratio minimum WDO (Table 3.05A): 
a. Dwelling ratio:  The minimum ratio shall be by unit type as follows: 

i. For each studio dwelling, 1.0 stall; 
ii. For each one-bedroom, 1.85 stalls; 

iii. For each two-bedroom, 1.85 stalls; and 
iv. For each three or more bedroom unit type, 2.0. 

b. Clubhouse parking:  Staff interprets WDO Table 3.05A row 37 such that a “community 
club building” (clubhouse) requires its own parking only for stand-alone clubhouses or in 
the context of residential subdivisions, and that apartment complex so-called 
clubhouses are not subject to the community club building parking ratio. 

c. Compact parking:  At least twenty percent (20%) of the minimum amount of stalls shall 
be compact. 

d. Bicycle parking amount and distribution:  The applicant shall provide a minimum 
number of bicycle parking stalls as follows: 

i. At least one (1) per dwelling in each dwelling in the outdoor closet of the balcony 
or patio in which the applicant shall install a wall-mounted folding or retractable 
hook designed for the hanging of a bicycle;  

ii. At least one (1) stall at the base of each building stairwell, with each of these 
locations having a bicycle parking sign with minimum face dimensions of (1) foot 
wide by one-and-a-half (1½) feet high; 

iii. At least four (4) stalls within fifty (50) feet of the newly dedicated highway ROW; 
iv. At least four (4) stalls within fifty (50) feet of the Jacobsen path easement. 
v. At least eight (8) among the clubhouse / leasing office, play area, and barbeque 

(BBQ) area. 
vi. At least two (2) stalls outside and near each apartment building spaced to 

conform to the 50-foot distance provision of WDO 3.05.03E as applied through 
Condition D6. 

vii. In no case shall the total number of bicycle parking stalls equal fewer than 1.1 
per dwelling, and in no case shall the minimum coverage/sheltering from 
precipitation of bicycle parking be for fewer than seventeen (17) stalls. 

e. Bicycle standards:  Stalls shall conform to City of Portland Title 33, Chapter 33.266.220C 
(amended 5/24/2018), except that the applicant may ignore subsections C6, C7, & C5c, 
and that C4b does not apply to the outdoor storage closets for which the minimum stall 
depth from wall instead shall be four (4) feet minimum.  Vertical clearance instead shall 
be eight (8) feet or, where a stall is under stairs, six (6) feet. 

f. Sidewalk:  The highway sidewalk shall remain eight (8) feet wide as proposed (instead of 
6 feet typical). 

g. Access way, highway:  At least one access way shall remain as proposed that extends 
onto the site at least three hundred (300) feet from the sidewalk. 

118



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 

Page 13 of 16 

h. Access way, Jacobsen path:  At least one access way shall remain as proposed that 
extends onto the site at least one hundred and seventy (170) feet from the Jacobsen 
path. 

i. Jacobsen path: 
a. Improvement:  The applicant shall construct the proposed Jacobsen path and 

provide a public easement per Condition G3 & D3a.   
b. Long-range planning:  Until July 1, 2030, if any of the following were to occur, 

then the applicant shall construct or pay the City a fee in-lieu to construct 
extension of the path to either the east property line or a point no farther west 
than one hundred and seventy-five (175) feet west of the southeast corner of 
adjusted Parcel No. 2.: 

i. The applicant or any successors and assigns apply to the City for a Type III 
or IV planning / land use / zoning review. 

ii. For the neighboring property to the south, Tax Lot 051W08DC00300 
(1220 N. Pacific Highway), an applicant A obtains a Type III or IV planning 
/ land use / zoning approval to partially or wholly redevelop that 
property.  In this scenario, the applicant or any successors and assigns 
need not construct or pay the City a fee in-lieu if (a) the City were to 
condition approval such that applicant A would be the one to construct 
or pay the City and (b) if the applicant or any successors and assigns grant 
permission to an applicant A to come onto adjusted Parcel No. 2 and 
construct.  Also in this scenario, the applicant or any successors and 
assigns shall construct or pay the City for half of the path if the City were 
to condition approval such that the path would straddle the property line 
and applicant A would construct the south half side of the path or pay the 
City a fee in-lieu towards construction of the south half side. 

iii. A fee in-lieu shall be at least 200% of a licensed civil engineer’s cost 
estimate. 

c. The applicant shall install a permanent all-weather pole sign at the Jacobsen 
path temporary east terminus that states in lettering two (2) inches high 
minimum: “This Public Path is Planned for Future Extension.”  The sign face shall 
be no lower than 3½ ft above grade and no higher than 5 ft and of minimum 
dimensions of one-and-a-half (1½) feet by (1) foot.  This is due prior to building 
permit final inspection. 

j. Parking demand management:  The applicant or any successors and assigns, if recouping 
the costs of parking, shall instead of doing so from multi-family rent do so by charging a 
separate, listed, and uniform parking fee and only to leaseholders whose households 
choose to park their vehicles on site. Guest and visitor vehicles and – if any – such stalls 
shall be excluded from such fee.  A uniform parking fee means not charging tiered fees 
for garage stalls, carport stalls, reserved stalls, open air stalls, standard size stalls, or 
compact stalls premised on perception of some stalls being more desirable and valuable 

119



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 

Page 14 of 16 

than others.  It also means that the fee amount must be uniform – either as a rate or an 
absolute value – for all leaseholders subject to the parking fee, but does not mean that 
the fee must be fixed indefinitely.  Documentation of the uniform parking fee is due by 
building permit final inspection. 

k. Trial period:  Until July 1, 2021, there shall be a trial period in which the Director may 
receive evidence of a chronic parking overflow problem and choose to investigate, 
review, and act upon it, including by obtaining the latest documentation of the uniform 
parking fee.  This condition authorizes the Director to require that the applicant or any 
successors and assigns apply for and receive approval of a solution to the satisfaction of 
the Director.  The review shall default to a Type II process, but the Director may instead 
elevation the review to Type III to obtain Planning Commission review and decision.  The 
Director may condition that the applicant or any successors and assigns fulfill the offer 
made through the revised narrative (submitted September 4, 2019, p. 13) to contact a 
car share company and allow a parking space or two to be allocated such a company car 
or cars for tenant use.  (This condition does not subvert WDO 4.02.07 Modification of 
Conditions.) 

 
V4-CP.  Compact parking (WDO 3.05.03C): 

d. Percentage:  The compact parking maximum as a percentage of the required minimum 
amount of parking shall be sixty percent (60%; instead of 20% typical) and hundred 
percent (100%) of any amount in excess of the minimum required. 

e. Striping:  Each stall shall be striped “COMPACT ONLY” in lettering one (1) foot high 
minimum. 

f. Wheel stops:  Where used, wheel stops shall be four (4) inches high maximum. 
 
V5-DA. Drive aisle (WDO Table 3.05C):   

a. The minimum drive aisle widths shall be per the table below (instead of 24 feet typical): 
Parking Context Minimum Drive Aisle Width (feet) 

One-way Travel Two-way Travel 
Single Lane Paired Lanes 

Standard or ADA-
compliant stalls 

18 10 per lane; 20 total 20 

Compact stalls 16 9 per lane; 18 total 20 
No adjacent stalls 10 9 per lane; 18 total 20 

b. The condition applies up to newly dedicated ROW so as not to interfere with the driveway 
minimum width provisions of WDO Table 3.04A. 

 
V6-CH.  Curb dimensions (WDO 3.06.02I):  Curb or curbing that delineates on-site walkways and 
landscaped, parking, and vehicular circulation areas shall have a minimum height and width 
each of four (4) inches (instead of 6 inches typical). 
 

120



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 

Page 15 of 16 

V7-AW.  Architectural Wall (WDO Table 3.06D & 3.06.06): 
a. The east rear property line subject to the Architectural Wall provisions of Table 3.06D 

and 3.06.06 is exempt from those provisions.   
b. Landscaping: 

i. The applicant shall landscaped the east rear setback of six (6) feet to the 
minimum planting density of WDO Table 3.06A, row “Buffer yards”. 

ii. The landscaping shall include evergreen shrubbery planted at the large category 
minimum size per WDO Table 3.06B. 

iii. The applicant shall include within the landscaping of the east rear setback of ten 
(10) feet at least seven (7) trees of which at least two (2) shall be large category 
large per WDO Table 3.06B. 

c. Lighting: 
i. Full cut-off:  Exterior lighting fixtures shall be full cut-off or fully shielded models. 

ii. Heights:   
(a) Wall:  Exterior wall-mounted fixtures shall be no higher than ten (10) feet 

above walkway finished grade.  (This height limit is not applicable to 
emergency egress lighting and permanent wall signs allowed through WDO 
3.10 were they to have interior illumination.) 

(b) Parking pole:  Exterior pole-mounted fixtures within four (4) feet of or in 
parking, loading, and vehicular circulation areas shall be no higher than 
fourteen-and-a-half (14½) feet above vehicular finished grade. 

(c) Other pole:  Remaining exterior pole-mounted fixtures, if any, shall be no 
higher than twelve (12) feet above grade. 

d. Railings/fence:  The following applies to the Building C four patios closest to the east 
rear property line:  To lessen encroachment of persons and outdoor storage into the 
rear setback, the outermost edges of the patio concrete slabs shall have either metal 
railings or cedar fencing at least three (3) feet high but no more than five (5) feet high. 

 

 
 
  

121



DR 2019-03 
Staff Report 

Page 16 of 16 

Actions 

The Planning Commission may instead act on the land use application to: 
1. Approve per staff recommendations, 
2. Approve with modified conditions, or 
3. Deny, based on WDO criteria or other City provisions. 
 
If the Planning Commission were to act upon the recommendation, staff would prepare a final 
decision for approval with the conditions that staff recommends. 
 
 
Attachment List 

101. Tax Maps Marked (2 sheets) 

102. Analyses & Findings 

102A. Public Works Comments September 30, 2019 

103. WDO Table 2.03A (as of Ordinance No. 2562, Sept. 10, 2018) 

104. Highway 99E Corridor Plan excerpted (2012; 9 pages) 

105. Transportation System Plan (TSP) Figure 7-1 (2005) 

106. Site plans excerpted (submitted Sept. 4, 2019; 18 sheets) 

122



^̂

1

1

Ð

Ð

Ð

3421-0193

220.00
316.51

105.04
177.53 (177) 77.05

137.74ACCESS1400A1
NW COREASEMENT N89 55W 347.3010011300 V43-3511100 713-702

'GROUND LEASE' 3415-0418 PARCEL 2 PAR. 2 1945-0119701.07 AC 78.190.21 AC

17
5.

00

89.0212
3.

15

104.8012
1.

22

12
1.

18

P.P.  2
000 -41

N59 40 30W

12
3.

3 
(1

23
.1

5)

900100020
2.

43

36
.90

300PAR. 1
0.29 AC 70176.97 (177) 77.0527

3.
06

67.85
S89 50 50E

14
0.

24
 (1

40
.11

)

17
4.

74

215.42

10

701200

41
0.

00

2.93 AC70
.6

3

1400 S3
3 

45
 0

5W
  1

53
.1

3

PARCEL 1 9 70

3.04 AC 70

19
45

-0
11

9

67
.4

0

P.P.  91 -66

708 CS 34642

70LENNER 'S

17
3.

94

430.00

65
.4

4

N3
0 

20
 0

0E
   

  3
83

.0
0

NOTE: ASSESSED WITH TAX LOT

7071501 500 ON MAP 05 1W 08DA300429.95PARCEL 2 70

1.22 AC400.19 3 65
.6

7

30.56 70400 59.14

6

70

705

1500

70

PARCEL 2

59
.10

25.78

704

13
6.

80

19
45

-0
11

9

70

49
.2

9

P.P
.

97 -1
06

25
.9

3

703

95
6-

00
57

85
.33

S88 13 52W  269.71300 702 15.2370 8.00 S89 49W  16.164 CH (1066.82)17000.94 AC 19
45

-0
03

8

30070 90
1-

01
49

49
.76

300 1

70 9.68 AC
27.62

27
.48

70

NOTE - REMAINDER OF THIS

83
.54

1800
PARCEL ON MAP 05 1W 08DA

300 9

70

91
5-

04
49

53
.8

5

12.45 16.164 CH  (1066.82)8 S89 40E 486.31

132.5
HIGHWAY

70 2600
1901 N63 20W 308.20

0.43 AC
7 70 2700

70

21
3.

79

3002

22
6.

24

97
2-

04
12

1900

70

0.53 AC
6

70

22000.95 AC 705

70 SUB.

N3
1 

50
E 

 7
.3

1 
CH

96
5-

00
69

704

70

2300

25
6.

55

296 703

N3
1 

50
E 

 3
10

.0
0

25
6.

55

300 702

70

2400 S89 40E 360.000.95 AC 8.082 CH (533.412)70

300 1 1010.8270 2800

17
01

S59 40 30E 300

17
0.

0

3 70

S89 40E 1010.61

70

2

93
1-

03
65

45

44

45

90

AVENUE

60

VAN LIEU CT 60

60

60

REET

60

JAMES ST.

60

95 90 MT HOOD AVE

50 (MR 57)

SE
R

VI
C

E 
  D

R

44'

MT JEFFERSON AVE 44'

60

52'

PA
CI

FI
C 

   
HI

GHW
AY

   
 N

o.
99

E

44'

ALEXANDRA AVE
84

60

50

GRE
EN

VI
EW

E

CTR SEC
1/16 COR

1/16 COR

1/16 COR

103 03 93 5

103 03 03 5

103 03 93 5

10

103 03 03 5

103 03 93 5

103 03 93 5

1502
PARCEL 1
0.67 AC

4.44 AC

P.P
.

2019 -0
10

35.00

40
9.

87

55
8.

16

400.17
30.60

316.09

30
.0

0

121.00

121.00

24
3.

00

24
3.

00

88
.2

3

645.18

500

SEE MAP
051W08CD

SEE MAP
051W08DD

SEE MAP
051W08DC

SEE MAP
051W08A

SEE MAP
051W08B

SEE MAP
051W08DA

SEE MAP
051W08CA

MARION COUNTY, OREGON
NW1/4 SE1/4 SEC8 T5S R1W W.M.

WOODBURNWOODBURN
05 1W 08DB05 1W 08DB

SCALE   1" = 100'

FOR ADDITIONAL MAPS VISIT OUR WEBSITE AT
www.co.marion.or.us

DISCLAIMER:  THIS MAP WAS PREPARED
FOR ASSESSMENT PURPOSES ONLY

05 1W 08DB05 1W 08DB
WOODBURNWOODBURN

05 1W 08DB05 1W 08DB

05 1W 08DB05 1W 08DB

LEGEND
LINE TYPES

CORNER TYPES

Section Corner<Ò
1516

21 22

Waterline - Non Bndry

Railroad Centerline

Historical Boundary

Easement

Taxcode Line

Map Boundary

Road Right-of-Way

Taxlot Boundary

Railroad Right-of-Way

Private Road ROW

Subdivision/Plat Bndry

Waterline - Taxlot Bndry

NUMBERS
Tax Code Number

000 00 00 0
All acres listed are Net Acres, excluding any
portions of the taxlot within public ROWs

Acreage

Tick Marks: A tick mark in the road indicates that the
labeled dimension extends into the public ROW

0.25 AC

NOTES

200.00
175.00

PLOT DATE: 5/17/2019

CANCELLED NUMBERS
100
200
600
700
800
1600
2100
2500

   

R! DLC Corner
<Ò 1/4 Section Cor.Ð 1/16TH Section Cor.

2800

17
0

Attachment 101

123



^̂

Ð

Ð

R!

<Ò
Ð

S89 40E 1010.61100

92
C-

10
17

1
14

4.
81

19
3.

94

S87 15E 985.60

17
0.

0

94
4-

02
13

17
0.

0

S87 15E 985.38300
223.80

169.23120014
5.

34

59
.8

3

40 90.00
92.412400 60.6093

9-
02

52
,3

92.24

47
.5

0

2700 2600N57 53W 129

215.33

24
.4

9

250011
6.

62

24.49

350.92  N86 56W 70
.7

0

139 116.60

24.4928.02
89.10 96 10 58.6482.5048

.5
3

1300

18
00

229.22 28002300

88
.2

1

948
.5

3

51.47
400

105.03
FR. PARCEL 2 96 2900

139 129 95
.1

6

80.79 AC50088
2-

02
84

15
6.

79

53
.50

6.50

16.49

60
.0

0

61.0058.642200
1400

P.1, FR. P2 2596 96 24230.64 AC 86.00

95.86

77.50

105.03
4300420041009.47 PART.

173.15 21.2423
6.

64

20
6.

95

60
.0

0

3000
121.73 60

.0
0

7 99.9596 96139 92.3122GREENVIEW

4000
129 64.4250

.7
5

105.03
PLAT

21001500

9685
.7

3

118.3296 43.12310069
.2

4

75
.0

0

S79 11E 87.14

60
.0

0

60
.0

0

6 90.74

440021 287.95 48.68 57
.96

105.03
103.46 4500390024.29 1 67

.7
1

139640.84

96139 20.73129 35.7860
.0

0

85.84
53200 93.08

16001993 -27

700 4600
2000

81.33

10
5.

65

89
2-

03
48

401 1496 20 67
.7

8

FR. PARCEL 2 900 69
.5

8

25
.2

2 ACRES

3800 87
.7

8

0.61 AC 0.44 AC 118.2824
5.

85

4

30
.0

9

93.07
15114.18

54
.18

88 9.669621
7.

52

19
0.

54

3300 61
.8

2

129 19(84.81)

23
.8

8

47008.00 75
.0

0

28
1.

70

37001900

244-

60
.0

0

1700 881776

85
.8

2

139.86S0
3 

15
W

 2
14

.1
8

318
2.

30

63.4530
' A

CC
ES

S 
EA

SE
M

EN
T

59
.7

5

5 44
.0

0

96.0976.41 55
.6

7

158.28 1698.52

15
5.

84

3400125590-12 1825
.4

5

350086.60 25
.4

9

6.70590-112,113 (9
1.

51
)

4800360010
2.

74

130.93 90
.5

5

590-108 24.06 13
3.

07

(71.05) 74
.1

5

32.34590-123 50 64
.5

9

590-123 103.00109.70 1 2 90
.1

4

64
.5

9

85.00
590-124 74

.8
4

93.00 1788.27

90
590-114 592-22090 597-752

60.01
90.007500 590-12180.00 591-26316300 60.004

92.02
70.00

20
.0

0

6100 80.006000
67.98

511
0

6PARCEL 111
0

19570011
0

590011
0

0.28 AC 5500 9400 930011
8.

00

PARCEL 111
8.

00

0.34 AC13
5.

98

90 1 97
.0

0

0.25 AC13
5.

94

0.38 AC10 97
.0

0

90
CS 36293 16

1.
00

7400
580224

60.03
P.P

.
70.0010

0

PARCEL 3
90.00 20

3.
65

20
4.

82

10
0

0.32 AC10
0

6400 10
0

P.P
.

64
.0

0

6101 130.0090 2SUNSHINE

PARCEL 2 189 P.P
. 9

4-99

92.0220

16
3.

65

90 5801 67.98

16
2.

30

1.70 AC7300

16
1.

31

65.00 PARCEL 2 19
9
1
 -

 1
00

EAST

20.00
100.00

0.21 AC48
.8

0

6500 80.0058005.00 9200
PAR 1 0.24 AC 9100CS 36293 0.16 AC 7700860010

0

0.23 AC12
4.

00

58
.9

1

257
6.

73

113.4 3

10
4.

02

16

70
.0

0

57
7.

91 60
.0

0

100.09
100.00

8

70
.0

0

90

60
.0

0

10
4.

00

65.00 65.001995

7800130.00 117200 90001790 CENTENNIAL

60.00
70.00

10
0.

00

60.005803
50.00

6600

50
.0

0
12

0.
00

20
0.

00

28.07

3PARCEL 241
4.

50 60
.0

0

100.08

14
0.

00

15ACRES
S66 58E

87000.60 ACCS 3629310
0

8800VIE
W 70

.0
0

6700VA
C

AT
ED

60
9-

74
6

77.65
790042

9.
99

80.00
4

7 8900

12
1.

81

4

11
9.

93

60
.0

0

100.067100 114.05 PART.  P
LAT

49.17

60
.0

0

7000 S76 53E
130.01

55
.3

6

1220
.0

0

1413 800070.00 70.00

10
0.

00

55.36

80
.0

0

10
0.

00

79
.45

-4
2

11
.74 35

.01

6800519
1.

17

660.57 5 100.05

60
.0

0

S37 55E

6900 116.13 80.00
8100

80.00
S46 37W

130.01
54.63

12
8.

71

10 SUB.
12

6.38

9
90 AD

D.

8500 6223.76 8400 100.04

60
.0

0

35.61
85.59 90.01 98 -4

6
8300380.01 80.01 8200

130.01

80
.0

0

80.00 8

80
.0

0

80.00 7

54
.6

3

100.02

60
.0

0

REET

60

JAMES ST.

60

44

44

50 55

60

44'

44'

PA
CI

FI
C

60

DRA AVE
84

60

44

DRIVE

KE
NN

ED
Y 

   
ST

RE
ET

GRE
EN

VI
EW

HI
GHW

AY
   

 N
o.

99
E

60

60

70 HARDCASTLE  AVENUE  (CR 534)
60

60

LA
N

E

D
U

N
N

   
 C

T

O
R

C
H

AR
D

CENTENNIAL  DRIVE

60

60

5

GRE
EN

VI
EW

GRE
EN

VI
EW

 D
RI

VE

NELSON            P
A

60

60LANE
O

RC
HA

RD

70 70

60 HARDCASTLE  AVENUE  (
60

H
ER

TI
AG

E 
AV

EN
U

E

R=45

1/16 COR

1/16 COR

SE COR
J.COOLEY

DLC 50

SW COR
C.C.COOLEY
DLC 41

1/4 COR

1/16 COR

103 03 93 5

103 03 93 5

103 03 03 5

103 03 03 5 103 03 03 5

103 03 03 5
99.90

62
.0

0

62
.0

0

99.98

100.13

11
8.

43

11
7.

35

7600

7601

PARCEL 1

PARCEL 2

P.P
.

2018-037

SEE MAP
051W08CD

SEE MAP
051W08DD

SEE
MAP

051W17BA SEE MAP
051W17AB

SEE MAP
051W17

SEE MAP
051W08DB SEE

MAP
051W08DA

SEE MAP
051W08CA

MARION COUNTY, OREGON
SW1/4 SE1/4 SEC8 T5S R1W W.M.

WOODBURNWOODBURN
05 1W 08DC05 1W 08DC

SCALE   1" = 100'

FOR ADDITIONAL MAPS VISIT OUR WEBSITE AT
www.co.marion.or.us

DISCLAIMER:  THIS MAP WAS PREPARED
FOR ASSESSMENT PURPOSES ONLY

05 1W 08DC05 1W 08DC
WOODBURNWOODBURN

05 1W 08DC05 1W 08DC

05 1W 08DC05 1W 08DC

LEGEND
LINE TYPES

CORNER TYPES

Section Corner<Ò
1516

21 22

Waterline - Non Bndry

Railroad Centerline

Historical Boundary

Easement

Taxcode Line

Map Boundary

Road Right-of-Way

Taxlot Boundary

Railroad Right-of-Way

Private Road ROW

Subdivision/Plat Bndry

Waterline - Taxlot Bndry

NUMBERS
Tax Code Number

000 00 00 0
All acres listed are Net Acres, excluding any
portions of the taxlot within public ROWs

Acreage

Tick Marks: A tick mark in the road indicates that the
labeled dimension extends into the public ROW

0.25 AC

NOTES

200.00
175.00

PLOT DATE: 7/18/2018

CANCELLED NUMBERS
200
600
800
1000
1100
4900
5000
5100
5200
5300
5400
5500
5600
6200
8401
8701
8801

9001
9101
9201
9401

  

R! DLC Corner

<Ò 1/4 Section Cor.Ð 1/16TH Section Cor.

100

14
4.

81

124



Attachment 102 

DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 1 of 62 

Analyses & Findings 
 
This attachment to the staff report analyzes the application materials and finds through 
statements how the application materials relate to and meet applicable provisions such as 
criteria, requirements, and standards. They confirm that a given standard is met or if not met, 
they call attention to it, suggest a remedy, and have a corresponding recommended condition of 
approval. Symbols aid locating and understanding categories of findings: 
 

Symbol Category Indication 

 Requirement (or guideline) met No action needed 

 Requirement (or guideline) not met Correction needed 

 Requirement (or guideline) not applicable No action needed 

 

 Requirement (or guideline) met, but might 
become unmet because of condition applied to 
meet separate and related requirement that is 
not met 

 Plan sheets and/or narrative inconsistent 
 Other special circumstance benefitting from 

attention 

Revision needed for 
clear and consistent 
records 

 Street Exception or Variance Request to vary 
from requirement 

 
 
Table of Contents 
Location ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Land Use & Zoning ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

Statutory Dates ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Design Review Provisions .............................................................................................................................. 4 

Property Line Adjustment Provisions ......................................................................................................... 38 

Variance Provisions ..................................................................................................................................... 39 

Recommended Conditions of Approval ...................................................................................................... 49 

Applicant Identity ........................................................................................................................................ 60 

Notes to the Applicant ................................................................................................................................ 60 

 
 
 

125



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 2 of 62  

Location 
Address 1310 & 1340 N. Pacific Highway (U.S. 99E) 
Tax Lot(s) 1310:  051W08DC 00100 (3.33 acres) and 

1340:  051W08DB 02800 (3.34 acres) totaling 6.67 acres 
Nearest intersection N. Pacific Highway & Alexandra Avenue 

 
Land Use & Zoning 

Comprehensive Plan Land Use Designation Commercial 
Zoning District Commercial General (CG) 
Overlay District(s) none 
Existing Use(s) none (disturbed but undeveloped) 

 
For context, the subject property and adjacent zoning are illustrated and tabulated below: 

 
Zoning Map Excerpt 
 

 

The subject property is not part of any partition or subdivision plat.  The Marion County Assessor 
describes the lots as “Acres 3.33” and “Acres 3.34”.  The City adopted its first land division 
requirements effective April 16, 1963 as referenced in Woodburn Development Ordinance 
(WDO) 1.02 “Lot”.  Staff surmises that the subject property is a legal lot of record. 

Cardinal Direction Adjacent Zoning 
North CG / vacant building previously occupied by Chu’s Eatery 
East Residential Single Family (RS) /  Country Acres Estates Subdivision 
South CG/ Al’s Garden and Home retailer 
West Across U.S. 99E right-of-way (ROW):  CG 

126



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 3 of 62  

Generally, in this document, “lot” refers to one of the two lots, whether in its present state or as 
adjusted, that is part of the subject property, and “property” refers to both lots, whether in their 
present state or as adjusted, composing the subjecting property. 

The project name is “Pacific Valley Apartments”. 

Section references below are to the Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO). 
 
Statutory Dates 
The application was submitted on April 10, 2019 with additional materials submitted through 
September 4, 2019.  Staff deemed it complete as of September 11, 2019, making the 120-day 
decision deadline January 9, 2020. 
 
  

127



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 4 of 62  

Design Review Provisions 
 
 
4.01.07 Consolidated Applications 
An applicant may request, in writing, to consolidate applications needed for a single development 
project.  Under a consolidated review, all applications shall be processed following the procedures 
applicable for the highest type decision requested.  It is the express policy of the City that 
development review not be segmented into discrete parts in a manner that precludes a 
comprehensive review of the entire development and its cumulative impacts. 
 
 
5.03.02 Design Review, Type III 
A. Purpose: The purpose of Type III design review is to ensure that new buildings or additions to 
existing buildings comply with Land Use and Development Guidelines and Standards of this Ordinance 
(Sections 2 and 3). 
B. Type III Design Review is required for the following: 

1. Non-residential structures in residential zones greater than 1,000 square feet in the RS, R1S, 
RM, and P/SP zones. 

2. Multi-family dwellings not meeting all architectural design guidelines and standards. 
3. Structures greater than 2,000 square feet in the CO, CG, MUV, DDC, and NNC zones. 
4. Structures greater than 3,000 square feet in the IP, IL, and SWIR zones. 
5. For sites with existing buildings in the CO, CG, MUV, DDC, NNC, IP, IL, and SWIR zones; 
expansions or new buildings that increase lot coverage by more 25%. 
6. Change of use that results in a greater than 25% increase in required parking. 

 
Because the proposal is for buildings totaling greater than 2,000 square feet (sq ft) in the CG 
zoning district, per subsection 3. it requires a Type III Design Review.  The applicant submitted 
site plans on April 10, 2019 and revised site plans through September 4, 2019 (within 
Attachment 106).  (Staff hosted a pre-app on November 13, 2018.) 
 

  The requirement is met. 
 
 
2.03 Commercial Zones 
A. The City of Woodburn is divided into the following commercial zones: 
2. The Commercial General (CG) zone is the community’s primary commercial area, providing for 
businesses requiring extensive land intensive outdoor storage and display of merchandise, 
equipment, or inventory. 
B. Approval Types (Table 2.03A) 
1. Accessory Uses (A) are allowed outright, subject to the general standards of this Ordinance. 
2. Conditional Uses (CU) may be allowed, subject to the general development standards of this 
Ordinance and conditions of Conditional Use approval. 

128



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 5 of 62  

3. Permitted Uses (P) are allowed outright, subject to the general development standards of this 
Ordinance. 
 

Uses Allowed in Commercial Zones 
Table 2.03A 

Use Zone 
Accessory Uses (A) Conditional Uses (CU) Permitted Uses 
(P) Special Permitted Uses (S) Specific Conditional Uses 
(SCU) 

CG 

E Residential  
4 Multiple-family dwellings P 

 
The proposed use matches E.4, which is a permitted use. 
 
Note:  Pursuant to state law, staff reviews the application through the WDO as it existed on the 
date of application.  On April 10, 2019, the WDO version was that of Ordinance No. 2562 
adopted Sept. 10, 2018.  Though at present in the CG zoning district multiple-family dwellings 
are prohibited in some areas of the district and a conditional use (CU) in others, this change 
occurred after application submittal (and in response to a different proposed apartment 
complex project later submitted as DR 2019-05 Allison Way Apartments).  The City Council 
adopted Legislative Amendment LA 2019-01 via Ordinance No. 2573 on June 24, 2019, which as 
is standard for ordinances per the City Charter, took effect 30 days later. 
 

  The requirement is met. 
  

129



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 6 of 62  

Commercial General (CG)  -  Site Development Standards 
Table 2.03C 

Lot Area, Minimum (square feet) No minimum 
Lot Width, Minimum (feet) No minimum 
Lot Depth, Minimum (feet) No minimum 
Street Frontage, Minimum (feet) No minimum 
Front Setback and Setback Abutting a Street, Minimum (feet) 5 1 

Side or Rear Setback, 
Minimum (feet) 

Abutting RS, R1S, or RM zone 10 4 

Abutting CO, CG, DDC, NNC, P/SP, IP, SWIR, or IL zone 0 or 5 4, 5 

Setback to a Private Access Easement, Minimum (feet) 5 
Lot Coverage, Maximum Not specified 2 

Residential Density 
(units per net acre) 

Minimum 

Row house 12 
Child care facility, group home, or nursing 
home 

12 

Multi-family 
dwelling 

Stand-alone 12 
In mixed use development No minimum 

Maximum 

Row house 24 
Child care facility, group home, or nursing 
home 32 

Multi-family 
dwelling 

Stand-alone 32 
In mixed use development 32 

Building Height, 
Maximum (feet) 

Primary or 
accessory 
structure 

Outside Gateway subarea 70 
Western Gateway subarea 50 
Eastern Gateway subarea 40 

Features not used for habitation 100 

1. Measured from the Special Setback (Section 3.03.02), if any 

2. Lot coverage is limited by setbacks, off-street parking, and landscaping requirements. 

3. Only allowed in the Gateway Overlay District 

4. A house of worship shall be set back at least 20 feet from a property line abutting a residential 
zone or use. 

5. A building may be constructed at the property line, or shall be set back at least five feet. 
 
Lot Dimensions 
The CG zoning district has no minimum lot size, width, depth, or street frontage or maximum 
lot coverage.   
 

130



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 7 of 62  

Setbacks 
The required setbacks are as follows and account for the corollary proposed PLA: 
 

Direction Type Setbacks (ft) 
Existing Required, Accounting for the 

Special Setback (i.e. street 
widening) 

Proposed 

West Front n/a 
because 

no 
building 

5 + 6 ROW = 11  17½ (11½ 
post-

dedication) 

North Side, abutting CG n/a Zero or 5 16 
East Rear, abutting RS n/a 10 10* 
South Side, abutting CG n/a Zero or 5 11½ 

*The proposed setback to Building C balconies is 6 ft; however, this conforms because 3.03.05B. allows 
that, “A balcony, outside stairway or other unenclosed, unroofed projection may not project more than 
10 feet into a rear setback.  In no case shall such a projection come closer than 6 feet from any lot line or 
Special Setback”. 
 
Because the application materials indicate no private access easement, the 5-foot setback is not 
applicable.  (The application materials do indicate a public cross access easement to the benefit 
of the north and south neighboring lots, but because this context is not private, compared to 
for example an access easement over the pole of a flag lot partition where the pole is the sole 
means of physical access and the easement the sole means of legal access for one or two 
landlocked lots, the private access easement setback is not applicable to this proposal.) 
 
Density 
Both the Comprehensive Plan and WDO 1.02 define density.  Because they conflict, per state 
law the Comprehensive Plan definition supersedes.  It is found as a footnote to Policy Table 1 
(p. 7): 
 

“The net buildable area of a parcel excludes land dedicated for public rights-of-way or stormwater 
easements, common open space, and unbuildable natural areas. For example, if a parcel has 10 
acres, and 2 acres are removed for streets and 2 acres are within the floodplain / riparian area, then 
6 net buildable acres would remain. The range of allowable densities is calculated based on net 
buildable acres. An acre has 43,560 square feet. Allowable densities may be increased through the 
discretionary planned unit development review process.” 

 
The proposal falls under the residential building type / use of “multi-family dwelling” per 1.02 
under “Dwellings … Multiple-Family Dwelling”: 
 

“A building on a single lot containing three or more dwelling units.  Note: This definition does not 
include row houses, where attached single-family dwelling units are located on separate lots.” 

 

131



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 8 of 62  

The project is also stand-alone, meaning a conventional apartment complex that includes no 
other primary uses such as commercial retail and is more suburban in nature than urban. 
 
Therefore, the applicable minimum and maximum densities are 12.0 and 32.0.   
 
Looking to the proposal itself, the proposal involves no environmental constraints such as a 
creek, wetlands, or remnant old forest, a stormwater easement, or common open space of the 
kind understood in the context of a planned unit development (PUD) managed by an 
association that charges maintenance dues, with open space often being in its own platted tract 
or tracts.  (Staff considers apartment complexes as having open space, but that remains a 
subarea of a platted lot under the direct control of a landlord and property manager, and so 
open space is not common open space.) 
 
Therefore, obtaining net acreage is as simple as subtracting ROW dedication.  6.67 acres total 
for both lots that compose the subject property equals 290,545 sq ft.  A 6-ft ROW dedication 
along 314.8 ft of frontage yields 1,888.8 sq ft.  The result is 290,545 – 1,888.8 = 288,656 sq ft or 
6.63 acres. 
 
The applied minimum and maximum densities are 6.63 x 12 = 79.6  77.0 and 6.63 x 32 = 
212.2  212.  (Rounding is consistent with Director’s Interpretation INT 19-0625 Density 
Calculation Rounding.)  The proposal contains 204 apartments, meeting the density provisions. 
 
Height 
The sheets illustrating building elevations note that the ten apartment buildings are 33.75 ft (33 
ft, 9 inches) as measured per 1.02 “Building Height” and Figure 1.02A, meeting the provision. 
 

  The site development provisions are met. 
 
 
2.05 Overlay Districts 
 

  None apply. 
 
 
2.06 Accessory Structures 
2.06.02 Fences and Walls 
C.  Height in Non-Residential Zones 

1. In commercial, industrial, or public zones, the maximum height of a fence or wall located in 
a yard abutting a street shall be 6 feet, relative to the ground elevation under the fence or 
wall.  Fence height may increase to 9 feet once flush with the building face, or 20 feet from 
street right-of-way. 

2. Fences and walls may be constructed in the special setback provided the property owner 
agrees to removal at such time as street improvements are made. 

 

132



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 9 of 62  

D.  Fence Materials 

1. Fences and walls shall be constructed of any materials commonly used in the construction of 
fences and walls, such as wood, stone, rock, or brick, or other durable materials.  

2. Chain link fences are acceptable as long as the fence is coated and includes slats made of 
vinyl, wood or other durable material. Slats may not be required when visibility into 
features such as open space, natural areas, parks and similar areas is needed to assure 
visual security, or into on-site areas in industrial zones that require visual surveillance. 

3.  For manufacturing, assembly, fabricating, processing, packing, storage and wholesale and 
distribution activities which are the principle use of a building in industrial districts, the 
preceding standards apply when visible from, and within 20 feet of, a public street. 

2.06.03 Structures  

A. Accessory structures attached to a primary building shall be considered as a portion of the 
primary building and subject to the same requirements as the primary building. 

B. The minimum separation between detached accessory structures and the primary building shall 
be six feet. 

The site plans propose no fencing or free-standing walls, excepting walls for the four recycling 
and trash enclosures.  Because none are in the front yard, the stair-stepped maximum heights 
of fencing and walls are not applicable.  Every enclosure is at least 6 ft from a building.  
 

  The provisions are met. 
 
 
2.07 Special Uses 
 

  None apply. 
 
 
3.01 Streets 
3.01.02 General Provisions 
A. No development shall be approved, or access permit issued, unless the internal streets, boundary 
streets and connecting streets are constructed to at least the minimum standards set forth in this 
Section, or are required to be so constructed as a condition of approval. 
D. The standards of this Section may be modified, subject to approval of an Exception to Street Right-
of-Way and Improvement Requirements. 
3.01.04B. All public streets under the jurisdiction of the City of Woodburn shall comply with the cross-
sections depicted in this Section. 
3.01.04C. For local residential streets which are not identified in the Comprehensive Plan, rights-of-
way and improvements are determined by the Director at the time of development, based upon the 
existing and future estimated average daily trips of the development and surrounding development. 
 

133



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 10 of 62  

 
Figure 3.01A  –  Internal, Boundary, and Connecting Streets 

 
The subject property has one frontage:  N. Pacific Highway (U.S. 99E). 
 
Per Transportation System Plan (TSP) Figure 7-1 “Functional Classification Designations” 
(Attachment 105; 2005), it is Major Arterial class, for which WDO Figure 3.01B applies: 
 

 
Figure 3.01B  –  Major Arterial 

 
Frontage/public/street improvements are required to upgrade the frontages to present 
standards, and the applicant opted not to apply for an Exception to Street Right of Way and 
Improvement Requirements (EXCP; “Street Exception”). 
 
ROW 
Because the existing total ROW is 88 ft per the City geographic information system (GIS), the 
total deficit is 12 ft, and the half-street deficit is 12/2 = 6 ft, which is what the site plans 
delineate and note.  (Though Tax Maps 051W08DB & DC indicate the highway ROW is 84 ft 

134



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 11 of 62  

total, because tax maps do not serve the same purpose as plats and are not drafted and 
recorded to the same standards as plats, staff opts to go by City GIS.  Also, in Attachment 102A 
Public Works comment 6 is silent on the exact width of required ROW dedication, never mind if 
it should be 8 instead of 6 ft.) 
 
Improvements 
The applicant proposes surface improvements that upgrade the nonconforming frontage to 
conform by keeping the bicycle lane and having a planter strip with street trees and  new 
sidewalk, except that per staff request the applicant opts to have the surface improvements 
exceed the minimum standards by having an 8-ft sidewalk instead of a 6-ft one. 
 
Long-range Planning 
Comprehensive Plan and Highway 99E Corridor Plan provisions apply as described more below, 
starting with the Corridor Plan first. 
 
Highway 99E Corridor Plan 
The City Council approved the Highway 99E Corridor Plan on July 9, 2012 and formally adopted 
it via Ordinance No. 2492 on September 10, 2012.  The Ordinance made the plan part of the 
Comprehensive Plan and among its exhibits included text amending the Comprehensive Plan to 
implement the Corridor Plan.  The subject property lies within the corridor per plan Figure 1 on 
p. 2. 
 
The Corridor Plan identifies needed transportation improvements, recommends appropriate 
land uses, and illustrates the urban design vision for the section of U.S. 99E / N. Pacific Highway 
running through Woodburn.  The plan also identifies the policies, regulations, and actions 
necessary to implement this vision. 
 
Section V. Corridor Plan Overview starting on p. 9 states, “This section summarizes the key land 
use and transportation changes associated with the Corridor Plan.  These are also illustrated 
graphically in Figure 2: Key Corridor Enhancements on page 12.”  Figure 2 is both reproduced 
below and part of Attachment 104. 
 

135



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 12 of 62  

 
Corridor Plan Figure 2 
 
The figure shows lot lines in faint gray, the subject property lies east of where the black number 
2 in a white circle appears.  At the east of the subject property is an arrow that the legend 
explains is among a number of “bicycle / pedestrian access opportunity from adjacent 
residential neighborhoods”.   
 
The second factor is existing context.  The subject property lies within a superblock of 
approximately 7,200 feet (ft) or more than 1.3 miles in in perimeter as outlined in peach in the 
aerial below: 

136



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 13 of 62  

 
 
As a consequence, the regional bicycle, pedestrian, and vehicular network is poor, requiring 
more out-of-direction travel and inhibiting cycling, walking, and transit ridership.   
 
Corridor Plan p. 11 under the header “Other Transportation Improvements” notes that: 
 

“Additional transportation improvements are identified in Appendix B and summarized briefly 
below: … 

 Improvements to connectivity through new street connections and bicycle / pedestrian 
accessways. 

 Adoption of access management policies for the corridor to improve safety for vehicles, 
bicycles, and pedestrians.” 

 
Corridor Plan, Appendix B p. 2 under the header “Pedestrian Plan” notes that: 
 

“Provide pedestrian and bicycle access to Highway 99E from adjacent residential neighborhoods. 
This will require development of accessways and obtaining easements.” 

 
Because the subject property is disturbed but undeveloped, staff identifies that it can condition 
development to implement the above goals and policies through specific improvements. 
 
Comprehensive Plan:  Bicycle/Pedestrian 
A comprehensive plan goal is to: 
 

137



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 14 of 62  

“H-1.4 Identify sidewalk and off-street pathway improvements to improve pedestrian mobility 
within neighborhoods and between residential areas and schools, parks, places of employment, 
and commercial areas. ...” 

 
Based on the Corridor Plan described below and because the subject property is disturbed but 
undeveloped, staff identifies off-street public bicycle/pedestrian path improvements – what 
staff calls the “Jacobsen” path because the path corridor, along the westerly south property 
line, overlaps long-vacated Jacobsen Road.  (The interim informal name facilitates unique and 
short identification and reference by the applicant and staff.) 
 
The proposed 8-foot sidewalk, two access ways from the sidewalk, and the access way from 
Jacobsen path are also improvements meeting the goal.  (“Access way” means an on-site 
walkway paved at least 8 ft wide to serve as a bicycle/pedestrian path to and from sidewalk – or 
to and from an off-street public bicycle/pedestrian path – and that is ADA-compliant.) 
 
Comprehensive Plan:  Streets 
Shrinking superblocks and precluding new ones is a tool to meet City comprehensive plan 
policies about street connectivity, including the following with Policy H-7.3(m) being the most 
directly applicable: 
 

“G-1.3 The City shall provide an interconnected street system to improve the efficiency of 
movement by providing direct linkages between origins and destinations. 
 
H-2. Develop a street system that will handle projected year 2020 traffic demands in the 
Woodburn area, and interconnects residential areas with employment centers, schools, parks, 
churches, and regional transportation facilities. 
 
H-2.3 Identify new east-west and north-south collector/minor arterial streets within the City to 
relieve traffic demands on Oregon 219/214, 211, and 99E and coordinate with Marion County to 
construct the street connections needed outside of the urban growth boundary (UGB). Where 
development of new collector/minor arterial streets is not possible within the near future, such 
as when an alignment runs outside of the UGB, work with property owners during subdivision to 
provide local street connections to improve connectivity in the interim. 
 
H-6.7 The Woodburn TSP shall include measures to improve the walking and biking environment 
by providing sidewalks in all new developments and by providing an interconnecting system of 
pedestrian connections.  
 
H-7.3 To ensure safety and long-range mobility on Highway 99E, the City shall be guided by the 
following access management objectives: … 
(m) Seek opportunities to enhance the connectivity of the local street system surrounding 
Highway 99E.” 

 

138



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 15 of 62  

The Corridor Plan, Appendix p. 5, Table B1 “Cost Estimates for Proposed Transportation 
Improvements” under Tier 3 “Long Term Projects” for Project 16 notes: 
 

“Enhance north-south connectivity of local streets paralleling the Highway 99E corridor as part 
of property development or subdivision.” 

 
Street Reservations 
Because of the above and because the site is disturbed but undeveloped, staff requires first 
that the proposal reserve two future street corridors, Street Corridor “G”, roughly in line with 
Greenview Court to the east, and Street Corridor “K”, rough in line with Kennedy Street to the 
south.  This in turn, upon redevelopment of adjacent properties facilitate (a) manifestation of a 
street between the intersections of Hardcastle Avenue & Kennedy Street and U.S. 99E and Mt. 
Jefferson Avenue overlapping present Kennedy Street and (b) manifestation of a street 
between the intersections of Greenview Drive & Greenview Court and U.S. 99E and Mt. 
Jefferson Avenue. 
 
Street Corridor ‘G’” regarding territory within the subject property is the southeast-northwest 
future local street corridor 70 ft in width that assumes a ROW of 60 ft plus two 5-ft PUEs.  
“Street Corridor ‘K’” is the north-south future local street corridor 70 ft in width that assumes a 
ROW of 60 ft plus two 5-ft PUEs.  (WDO 3.02.01B requires streetside PUEs.) 
 
Reservation need not involve any ROW dedication.  Along each street corridor the applicant 
must either dedicate ROW or a PUE.   
 
WDO Support for Street Corridors 
The WDO contains text reinforcing the Comprehensive Plan and long-range planning for 
extended and new streets: 
 

“1.01.01 Title and Purpose 
A. This ordinance may be referred to as the “Woodburn Development Ordinance” or by the 
abbreviation “WDO”. 
B. The Woodburn Development Ordinance is intended to: 
1. Implement the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan in accordance with Oregon’s statewide planning 
goals and statutes; 
2. Facilitate adequate provisions for transportation, water, sewage, drainage, schools, parks and 
other facilities; 
7. Promote a logical growth pattern within the City and the economic extension of public services 
and facilities; 

  

139



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 16 of 62  

The identified Comprehensive Plan and Corridor Plan provisions serve as criteria: 
 

1.02 Definitions 
Approval Criteria and Approval Standards:  All standards which must be met in order to approve an 
application. Depending upon the specific application, approval criteria include standards contained 
in the Woodburn Development Ordinance, Woodburn Comprehensive Plan and applicable state law. 

 
WDO 3.01 indeed implements identified Comprehensive Plan and Corridor Plan provisions: 

 
3.01 Streets 
The purpose of this Section is to provide for safe and efficient streets within the City, and to 
implement the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan and the Transportation System Plan (TSP).  The 
provision of streets is guided by the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan, the TSP, and 
other sections of the Woodburn Development Ordinance. 

 
The long-range planning assumption of local class streets at 60 ft width of ROW each is 
conservative compared to higher functional classes of streets, roads, and highways, and the 
WDO supports the assumption: 
 

3.01.04 Street Cross-Sections 
C. For local residential streets which are not identified in the Comprehensive Plan, rights-of-way 
and improvements are determined by the Director at the time of development, based upon the 
existing and future estimated average daily trips of the development and surrounding 
development.” 

 
Generally, staff expects future redevelopment to the north with land uses that will generate 
more trips than present vacant development at 1390 N. Pacific Highway.  Additionally, the Hall 
of Jehovah’s Witnesses at 1510 N. Pacific Highway has a vast parking area that undercapitalizes 
land, and staff expects as for most houses of worship that the attraction of lucre will entice 
redevelopment of surface parking, if not that whole property, into income and trip-generating 
land uses.  In short, with sufficient room and expected market support for redevelopment in 
the vicinity of the subject property, it is necessary and timeline to identify and reserve new and 
extended street corridors.   
 
As examined for 3.04.05 further below, the applicant submitted a traffic impact analysis (TIA; 
May 6, 2019, p. 5) indicating the proposal itself would generate more than 1,000 daily vehicle 
trips.  It also identifies on p. 5 trip distribution that 35% of vehicle trips will turn south from the 
subject property at the existing T-intersection with no traffic signal.  Future streets will help 
create intersections with traffic signals that facilitate safer vehicle left turns and vehicle, cyclist, 
and pedestrian crossings of the highway generated by multiple developments. 
 

140



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 17 of 62  

There were two pre-application conferences (“pre-apps”) for the subject property on March 14, 
2018 and November 13, 2018.  As a result of both, staff prepared memos.  The November 15, 
2019 memo for the latter included images as well as text briefing potential applicants about 
access management, two street corridors, and a bicycle/pedestrian path.  Staff sketched a 
conceptual street network in more detail than and based on the Corridor Plan: 
 

 
 

Item Legend  
Site boundaries Dark red dash  
Driveways and Shared Access Yellow  
Streets Purple  
Bicycle/Pedestrian Paths/Trails Dark Green  
Park Light Green  
City utility property Lime Green  

 
Resulting from all of the above relating to analysis of 3.01, the result is that the proposal 
reserves Street Corridors “G” and “K”.  The image below that the applicant had created for the 
pre-app, which though is an earlier draft conceptual site plan, remains useful by quickly 
conveying the site planning concepts of cross access drive aisles per the blue arrows, two future 
street corridors in yellow, and the Jacobsen public bicycle/pedestrian path in teal.  (Note:  
Building lettering and placements were different, and no sewer easement is relevant because 
the applicant proposes to abandon the Jacobsen sewer line.) 

141



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 18 of 62  

 
Conceptual site plan from the pre-app illustrating long-range planning concepts 
 

  The provisions are met for the highway frontage and for long-range planning for street 
corridors and off-street bicycle/pedestrian paths. 
 

 In order to secure the Jacobsen path and Street Corridors “G” & “K”, staff applies Conditions 
G3, D3, & V3-PRh for the path and G3, D2, V1-SA, & V2-DN for the corridors. 

 
  Variance:  Staff addresses the street access minimum number (3.01.05C) variance request 

further below under the Variance Provisions section. 
 
3.02 Utilities & Easements 
3.02.01 
A. The Director shall require dedication of specific easements for the construction and maintenance of 
municipal water, sewerage and storm drainage facilities located on private property. 
B.  A five-foot wide public utility easement shall be dedicated along each lot line abutting a public 
street. 
C. As a condition of approval for development, including property line adjustments, partitions, 
subdivisions, design reviews, or Planned Unit Developments (PUDs), the Director may require 
dedication of public utility easements. 
 
Because the proposal includes a number of potable water, fire suppression, and sanitary sewer 
lines on the subject property and the City Engineer determines that on-site PUEs are needed for 
them per Attachment 102A, to secure on-site PUE dedication(s) staff applies Condition D___. 
 
Regarding subection B. about a public utility easement (PUE) abutting a street, Figure 3.01B and 
3.02.01B conflict in that the model/standard cross section calls for a 10-ft PUE, but the general 

142



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 19 of 62  

provision for PUEs is 5 ft.  The model/standard cross section supersedes.  The site plans 
delineate and note a 10-ft PUE. 
 
Staff exercises option C. to secure a roadside PUE dedication by applying Condition D1. 
 

 In order to secure PUE dedications, staff applies Conditions G3, G6-PW, D1, & PLA-2PW. 
 
3.02.03 Street Lighting A. Public Streets 
 
The appended “Public Works Comments” (September 30, 2019) from the City Engineer identify 
street lighting as an issue, stating under comment 10, “Street lighting plan and design shall be 
approved by the City and ODOT.” 
 

 In order to secure conformance to Public Works comments, staff applies Condition G6-PW. 
 
3.02.04 Underground Utilities.  All permanent utility service to and within a development shall be 
underground, except where overhead high-voltage (35,000 volts or more) electric facilities exist. 
 
The proposal buries all permanent utility service lines to the development from the highway. 
 

  The provisions are met. 
 
 
3.03 Setbacks and Open Space 
3.03.02 Special Setbacks 
 
As examined earlier for 3.01, one existing public street is involved.  The west front lot line is 
subject to the Special Setback, i.e. the street widening setback.  The table below explains how 
the provision affects the subject property. 
 

Street Class Model/Standard 
Cross Section 
per WDO Fig.: 

ROW (ft)  
Existing Planned Required 

Half-Street 
Proposed 

N. 
Pacific 

Major 
Arterial 

3.01B 88 100 (100-88)/2 = 
6 

6  

 
  The provision is met. 

  

143



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 20 of 62  

3.03.03 Projections into the Setback Abutting a Street 
3.03.04 Projections into the Side Setback 
3.03.05 Projections into the Rear Setback 
 
The proposal involves projections into the east rear minimum setback.  As staff examined 
earlier for Table 2.03C under the italicized header Setbacks as a footnote to the table that staff 
made under the header, the proposed setback to Building C balconies is 6 ft, which conforms to 
the maximum allowance of 3.03.05B. 
 

  The provisions are met. 
 
3.03.06 Vision Clearance Area; Figures 3.03A & B 
 
The proposal includes the required vision clearance area (VCA) as a 10 by 10-ft triangle at the 
single driveway along the highway ROW. 
 

  The provision is met. 
 
 
3.04 Vehicular Access 
 
3.04.02 Drive-Throughs 
 

  Because the proposal involves no drive-through, the provisions are not applicable. 
 
3.04.03 Driveway Guidelines and Standards 
A. Number of Driveways 
1.  For residential uses, the maximum number of driveways per lot frontage shall be one. For purposes 
of controlling driveway access, every 100 feet of frontage is considered a separate lot frontage. 
2.  A minimum of two driveways shall be provided in developments with: … 
b.  100 dwelling units in multiple-family dwellings (200 if all dwelling units are equipped with 
automatic fire sprinklers); … . 
 

Regarding subsection 1., the proposal includes one driveway centered at the T-intersection of 
the highway and Alexandra Avenue, meeting the provision. 

Regarding subsection 2., the proposal has 204 dwellings, and staff reasonably expects the 
statewide uniform building code to require automatic fire sprinklers; however, the proposal has 
one driveway.  As background, the one adjacent public street is a state highway, the provision 
conflicts with conventional access management and specific access management policies in the 
City Highway 99E Corridor Plan (2012), and the applicant submitted a variance request 
regarding this subsection. 

144



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 21 of 62  

  Variance:  Staff addresses the driveway minimum number (two-driveway) variance request 
further below under the Variance Provisions section 
 
B.  Joint Access 
1.  Lots that access a Major Arterial, Minor Arterial, or Service Collector should be accessed via a 
shared driveway.  

… 

3. Every joint driveway or access between separate lots shall be established by an access easement 
and maintenance agreement to the satisfaction of the Director and revocable only with the 
concurrence of the Director. 

 

Why the City Implements Access Management Requiring a Joint Driveway 

The Comprehensive and Corridor Plans address access management with comprehensive plan 
Policies H-7.3(j) & (k) being the most directly applicable: 

“H-3.1 … Work with ODOT and property owners through the redevelopment process to improve 
access management on Highway 99E in accordance with the access management strategies 
identified in the Highway 99E Corridor Plan. 

H-7.3 To ensure safety and long-range mobility on Highway 99E, the City shall be guided by the 
following access management objectives:… 

(j) Create shared access points to reduce the overall number of driveways along the Highway 
99E corridor. Shared driveways must be supported through the establishment of easements 
allowing for travel between adjacent properties. 

(k) Provide inter-parcel circulation through cross-over easements, frontage or backage roads, or 
shared parking lots where feasible.” 

The Corridor Plan (p. 11) under the header “Other Transportation Improvements” notes that: 

 
“Additional transportation improvements are identified in Appendix B and summarized briefly 
below: … 

 Adoption of access management policies for the corridor to improve safety for vehicles, 
bicycles, and pedestrians.” 

 
  

145



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 22 of 62  

The Corridor Plan (pp. 26-27) also states the objectives to: 

“Create shared access points to reduce the overall number of driveways along the Highway 99E 
corridor. Shared driveways must be supported through the establishment of easements allowing 
for travel between adjacent properties.  

Provide inter-parcel circulation through cross-over easements, frontage or backage roads, or 
shared parking lots where feasible. 

Seek opportunities to enhance the connectivity of the local street system surrounding Highway 
99E.” 

Because of the above and because the site is disturbed but undeveloped, staff requires first 
that the proposal have one driveway and that it be a joint one and second that the applicant 
dedicate a public cross access easement or easements to the benefit of the north and south 
neighboring lots.  This in turn, upon redevelopment of those lots would facilitate consolidation 
of driveways along the highway. 

 

About the Provision More Directly 

Regarding subsection 1., the proposal includes one shared driveway centered at the T-
intersection of the highway, which is a Major Arterial, and Alexandra Avenue.  The proposal 
includes public cross access easements to the benefit of the north and south neighboring lots 
(vacant Tax Lot 051W08DB 02700 at 1390 N. Pacific Highway, previously occupied by Chu’s 
Eatery, and Al’s Garden and Home retailer on Tax Lot 051W08DC00300 at 1220 N. Pacific 
Highway, respectively).  The provision is met. 

Regarding subsection 3., the public cross access easements and maintenance agreements will 
likely satisfy the Director and be revocable only with the concurrence of the Director.  The 
applicant submitted draft recordation materials including legal descriptions and map exhibits 
per a Public Works Department template.   

 In order to secure actual and correct dedication of public cross access easements, staff 
applies Condition D4. 

  

146



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 23 of 62  

Access Requirements 
Table 3.04A 

  Commercial or Industrial 
Use 

Paved Width of 
Driveway (feet) 
3, 4 

1-way 12 minimum 
20 maximum 

2-way 

24 minimum 
36 maximum 
(Add 8’ if a turn lane is 
provided) 

Curb Flare Radius (feet) 30 minimum 

Throat 
Length (feet) 5 

Major Arterial, 
Minor Arterial, 
Service Collector 

50 minimum 

Access or Local 
Street 

20 minimum 

Corner 
Clearance 
(feet) 
Guidelines 1 

(See Figure 
3.04B) 

Access or Local 
Street 30 minimum 

Service Collector 50 minimum 
Minor Arterial 245 minimum 

Major Arterial 300 minimum 

Driveway 
Separation 
Guidelines 
(feet) 1, 2 

(See Figure 
3.04B) 

Driveway on the 
same parcel 50 minimum 

Access or Local 
Street none 

Service Collector 50 minimum 
Minor Arterial 245 minimum 
Major arterial 300 minimum 

Turnarounds 
(See Figure 
3.04C) 

Access to a Major 
or Minor Arterial Required 

Access to any 
other street 

Requirements per the 
Woodburn Fire District 

 
The single driveway is two-way and 32 ft, meeting the width provisions, and the throat depth is 
50 ft from the highway (edge of bicycle lane).  The apartment complex has a looped drive aisle 
that serves as a fire apparatus turnaround.  The driveway is fewer than 300 ft from either the 
nearest driveway at 1390 N. Pacific Highway or the nearest one at 1220 N. Pacific Highway; 
however, it is not physically possible for the driveway to be 300 ft from both.  Also, for safety of 

147



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 24 of 62  

vehicle turning movmeents staff and the Oregon Dept. of Transportation (ODOT) prefer its 
alignment centered at the T-intersection with Alexandra Avenue.  Lastly, 1390 N. Pacific 
Highway is the subject of DR 2019-10 “Fusion” through which staff intends to have that site 
close the southern of its two driveways, a scenario in which the remaining driveway would be 
more than 300 ft from the Pacific Valley Apartments proposed driveway. 
 

  The provisions are met. 
 
3.04.03A. Unused driveways shall be closed. 
 

  There are none. 
 
3.04.03C. Interconnected Parking Facilities. 
 
The proposal a single parking area that follows and branches from the looped drive aisle. 
 

  The provisions are met. 
 
3.04.04 Improvement Standards 
 
The site plans illustrate pavement that conforms. 
 

  The requirement is met. 
 
3.04.05 Traffic Impact Analysis 
A. A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) may be required by the Director prior to the approval of a City access 
permit when the Director estimates a development proposal may generate either 100 or more 
additional, peak hour trips, or 1,000 or more additional daily trips, within ten years of a development 
application. 
 
The applicant’s TIA (submitted May 6, 2019; p. 1) states under Executive Summary item 2 that: 
 

“The proposed development is projected to generate 73 trips during the morning peak hour, with 19 
trips entering and 54 trips exiting the site, and 90 trips during the evening peak hour, with 55 trips 
entering and 35 trips exiting the site.” 

 
It states on p. 5 that: 
 

“The trip generation calculations show that the proposed use of the site will generate … 1,110 trips 
on a typical weekday. The trip generation calculation results are summarized in Table 3.” 

 

148



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 25 of 62  

The proposal exceeds the second of two thresholds, which is why the applicant drafted and 
submitted a TIA instead of a brief traffic letter or memo. 
 
On p. 1, items 5 and 6 indicate that the T-intersection warrants no traffic signal, and there are 
no deficiencies for which mitigation is justified.   
 
Staff concurs. 
 

  The requirement is met.   
 
 
3.05 Off-Street Parking and Loading 
3.05.02 General Provisions 
 
The site plans illustrate that the proposal meets the general provisions, including provision of 
wheel shops along head-in parking stalls adjacent to the access way, i.e. the prime 
bicycle/pedestrian wide walkway route to and from sidewalk, and on-site exterior light fixtures 
that are full cut-off and per the photometric plan sheet that is Exhibit 21 limit light 
encroachment. 
 
However, there is the exception of subsection s J. (directional markings/striping) and K. (double 
parallel lines / double striping).  
 

  In order to ensure that the applicant will double stripe altered and new parking stalls to 
meet subsection K., staff applies Condition D5. 

 
3.05.03 Off-Street Parking 
3.05.03  Off-Street Parking 
A. Number of Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 

1. Off-street vehicle parking spaces shall be provided in amounts not less than those set forth in 
this Section (Table 3.05A). 
2. Off-street vehicle parking spaces shall not exceed two times the amount required in this 
Section (Table 3.05A). 

B. Accessible parking shall be provided in amounts not less than those set forth in Table 3.05B.  
The number of accessible spaces shall be included as part of total required vehicle parking spaces. 
C. A maximum of 20 percent of the required vehicle parking spaces may be satisfied by compact 
vehicle parking spaces. 
D. Off-street vehicle parking spaces and drive aisles shall not be smaller than specified in this 
Section (Table 3.05C). 
E. All uses that are required to provide 10 or more off-street parking spaces and residential 
structures with four or more dwelling or living units shall provide a bicycle rack within 50 feet of the 

149



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 26 of 62  

main building entrance.  The number of required rack spaces shall be one space per ten vehicle 
parking spaces … . 
F. Garages … 

2. For multi-family dwellings, one-half of the parking spaces required by this Section (Table 
3.05A) shall be in a garage or garages. 

Off-Street Parking Ratio Standards 
Table 3.05A 

Use 1 Parking Ratio - spaces per activity unit or 
square feet of gross floor area 

RESIDENTIAL 

1. Dwellings, including manufactured homes 2/ dwelling unit 

1. The Director may authorize parking for any use not specifically listed in this table.  The applicant 
shall submit an analysis that identifies the parking needs, and a description of how the proposed use 
is similar to other uses permitted in the zone.  The Director may require additional information, as 
needed, to document the parking needs of the proposed use. 

 
Accessible Parking Ratio Standards 

Table 3.05B 
Total Spaces  Minimum Total 

Accessible Spaces 1 
Minimum Van 
Accessible Spaces 

Minimum “Wheelchair User 
Only” Spaces 

301 to 400 8 [0] 1 

1. “Van Accessible Spaces” and “Wheelchair User Only” are included in “Total Accessible Spaces.” 

 
The ratio yields (204 dwellings x 2 stalls) = 408 stalls.  The site plan (plan sheet Exhibit 2) 
illustrates and note 382 stalls, fewer than the minimum requirement and averaging 1.87 stalls 
per dwelling.  The applicant submitted a variance request. 
 
The proposal has 213 compact parking stalls, which is 52.2% of the minimum required 408 and 
55.5% of the proposed 38, exceeding the maximum.  The applicant submitted a variance 
request. 
 
The proposal triggers subsection E. for bicycle parking, which requires (408 / 10) = 40.8  41 
bike stalls minimum; however, staff requested and the applicant opts to propose more, 
specifically 66 bike stalls, both in the form of outdoor U-racks and, within each proposed 
outdoor storage closet – which are accessible from patios and balconies – a retractable hook 
made for wall-mounted stowage of a bike.  Assuming 2 stalls per U-rack, the clubhouse / leasing 
office, play area, and barbeque (BBQ) together have 8 stalls, 4 stalls at Buildings H & J near the 
sidewalk, and a U-rack or two at Buildings A-G. 

150



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 27 of 62  

 
Regarding placement with 50 ft of main entrance per subsection E., based on conversations 
with the applicant, staff understands that each stairwell base will have at least one bicycle 
parking facility and stall; however, it is not evident on the site plans.  For this reason, staff 
applies Condition D6. 
 
Garages / Carports 
Regarding 3.05.03F.2, carports are permissible in lieu of garages.  Relevant definitions are: 
 

“1.02 Definitions 
Carport:  A permanent structure consisting of a roof and supports for covering a parking space 
which is not completely enclosed. 
Garage:  A building, or portion of a building, which is completely enclosed and designed for the 
storage or parking of a vehicle.” 

 
Through a past multi-family development project, Woodland Crossing Apartments at 9065 
Arney Lane (DR 2017-03), the Community Development Director interpreted that WDO 
3.05.03F.2. allows for carports in lieu of garages.  Staff applies the interpretation as the Director 
had: 
 

“The language in this Section of the WDO seems to indicate that fully enclosed garages are 
required for even a large multi-family apartment complex that has a parking lot open to the 
public, such as this one.  There is a distinction in the WDO between carports and garages in 
some areas, but it is not consistent throughout the Code.  It’s important to note that when 
garages are required for single-family and duplex developments under the WDO, there is also an 
accompanying requirement to provide a ‘parking pad’ outside the garage, a minimum of 20 feet 
in depth (see the yellow area in the graphic above).  This additional area is required to be on 
private property so that the driver of a car is not backing directly into traffic from their garage.  
In the case of parking lots – which are typical for commercial centers and multi-family parking 
areas - the opportunity for this critical ‘parking pad’ is impossible.  
 
Staff has made an interpretation that the requirement for a garage in the case of multi-family 
dwelling units in a parking lot is satisfied with carports.  This is a reasonable and practical 
interpretation for a variety of aesthetic and most importantly, safety factors.  Having individuals 
opening garage doors and having cars backing into drive aisles from an enclosed garage would 
be dangerous and Staff would not approve it.  Staff finds that the application meets the criteria 
and will process a clarification of this particular Code language during the next set of 
amendments to the WDO.” 

 
The applicant proposes carports covering 192 out of 382 stalls, equal to 50.3% and meeting the 
provision. 
 

151



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 28 of 62  

Accessible/ADA/Handicap Parking 
The proposal provides nine required ADA-compliant stalls, exceeding the minimum provision. 
 

  Variance:  Staff addresses the parking ratio minimum request further below under the 
Variance Provisions section. 

  Variance:  Staff addresses the compact parking percentage maximum request further below 
under the Variance Provisions section. 
 

 To secure a higher minimum amount of bicycle parking and the Jacobsen path and its 
easement as the applicant proposes and staff discussed above for 3.01, staff applies 
Conditions G3, D3, & V3-PR. 

 
  To meet WDO 3.05.03E that bicycle parking be within 50 feet of the main building entrance.  

Staff applies Condition D6. 
 

Parking Space and Drive Aisle Dimensions 
Table 3.05C 

Parking 
Angle 

Type of Space 
Stall 

Width 
(feet) 

Curb 
Length 
(feet) 

Stripe 
Length 
(feet) 

Stall to 
Curb 
(feet) 

Drive Aisle Width 
(feet)  

1-way 2-way 

A  B C D E F G 

90° 

Standard or Accessible 9.0 9.0 19.0 19.0 24.0 

24.0 
Compact 7.5 7.5 15.0 15.0 22.0 

Car Accessible Aisle 6.0 6.0 19.0 19.0 
24.0 

Van Accessible Aisle 8.0 8.0 19.0 19.0 

1. A parking space may occupy up to two feet of a landscaped area or walkway.  At least four feet 
clear width of a walkway must be maintained. 

2. Space width is measured from the midpoint of the double stripe. 

3. Curb or wheel stops shall be utilized to prevent vehicles from encroaching on abutting 
properties or rights-of-way. 

4. The access aisle must be located on the passenger side of the parking space, except that two 
adjacent parking spaces may share a common access aisle. 

5. Where the angle of parking stalls differ across a drive aisle, the greater drive aisle width shall be 
provided. 

 

 

152



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 29 of 62  

 
Figure 3.05C  -  Parking Space Striping 

 
The applicant proposes all stalls, which are all at 90°, to the drive aisle with dimensions, double-
striping, and curbing that meet or exceed the minimum standards – except as regards the 
variance request for drive aisle width minimum. 
 

  Variance:  Staff addresses the drive aisle width minimum variance request further below 
under the Variance Provisions section. 
 

  The requirement is met. 
 
3.05.04  Off-Street Loading 
B. The off-street loading facilities shall be on the same lot, or site, as the use or structure they are 
intended to serve. Required loading spaces and required parking spaces shall be separate and distinct, 
except that if authorized through a land use decision, a parking area may be used for loading during 
those times when the vehicle parking area is not in use. 
  

153



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 30 of 62  

Loading Space Requirements 
Table 3.05D 

Use and Area (square feet) Minimum Number of 
Spaces 

Minimum Size of Space (feet) 
Width  Length Height 

Office 
0 – 4,999 
5,000 – 41,999  
42,000 or more  

 
0 
1 
2 

12 30  14 

Nonresidential uses, except office, in the 
CO, CG, and NNC zones 

0 – 9,999 
10,000 – 41,999 
42,000 – 81,999 
82,000 or more 

 
 
1 
2 
3 
4 

12  30  14  

 
Because the use is nonresidential, the table is not applicable. 
 

  The provisions are not applicable. 
 
3.05.05  Shared Parking 
 
Per staff request and in support of the parking ratio minimum variance request, the applicant 
pursued this with the neighboring properties to the north (both the previous Chu’s Eatery to 
the westerly north as well as the Hall of Jehovah’s Witnesses church to the easterly north) and 
south, but the landowners declined. 
 

  The provisions are not applicable. 
 
 
3.06 Landscaping 
3.06.02 General Requirements 
 
The landscape plan sheets (L1.02-2.06) illustrate and note that the general provisions are met, 
including irrigation, curbing, and avoidance of prohibited tree species, except regarding the 
parking area curb height minimum of subsection I. 
 

  Variance:  Staff addresses the parking area curb height minimum variance request further 
below under the Variance Provisions section. 
 

  The requirement is met. 

 

154



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 31 of 62  

 
3.06.03 Landscaping Standards 
A. Street Trees 
 
The required number is ([144.8 + 100] = 314.8 ft frontage, /50) = 6.3  7 trees.  Plan sheet 
Exhibits 15 & 16 note and illustrate 7 ginkos (Ginko biloba) of the male species only.  The 
applicant interprets Table 3.06C Prohibited Trees that assigns ginkos the “negative attribute” 
of, “Disgusting odor from squashed fruit when female near male” such that the female sex is 
prohibited but not the male.  The Exhibit 15 plant legend indicates “male only” for the trees.  
There is no evidence of existing female ginkos near the subject property.  Staff concurs with this 
interpretation and proposal. 
 

  The requirement is met. 
  

155



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 32 of 62  

B. & Tables 3.06A & B 

Planting Requirements 
Table 3.06A 

Location Planting Density, Minimum Area to be Landscaped, Minimum 

Setbacks abutting a street 1 PU/15 square feet Entire setback excluding driveways 

Buffer yards 1 PU/20 square feet Entire yard excluding off-street 
parking and loading areas abutting a 
wall 

Other yards 1 PU/50 square feet Entire yard, excluding areas subject to 
more intensive landscaping 
requirements and off-street parking 
and loading areas 

Off-street parking and 
loading areas 

 1 small tree per 10 parking 
spaces; or 1 

 1 medium tree per 15 parking 
spaces; or 1 

 1 large tree per 25 parking 
spaces 1 

and 

 1 PU/20 square feet 
excluding required trees 2 

 RS, R1S, RSN, RM, RMN, P/SP, CO, 
CG and MUV zones: 20% of the 
paved surface area for off-street 
parking, loading and circulation  

 DDC, NNC, IP, IL, and SWIR zones: 
10% of the paved surface area for 
off-street parking, loading and 
circulation 

 Landscaping shall be within or 
immediately adjacent to paved 
areas 

Common areas, except 
those approved as natural 
common areas in a PUD 

3 PU/50 square feet Entire common area 

1. Trees shall be located within off-street parking facilities, in proportion to the distribution of the 
parking spaces. 

2. Required landscaping within a setback abutting a street or an interior lot line that is within 20 feet 
of parking, loading and circulation facilities may also be counted in calculating landscaping for off-
street parking, loading and circulation areas. 

 
The landscape plans (plan sheet Exhibits 15-18) illustrate meeting or exceeding the minimum 
planting densities, landscaped areas, and trees for all four yards and the parking and loading 
areas. 
  

  The requirement is met. 
 
 

156



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 33 of 62  

 
Plant Unit (PU) Value 

Table 3.06B 
Material  Plant Unit (PU) Value Minimum Size  

1. Significant tree 1 15  PU each 24” Diameter 

2. Large tree (60-120 feet high at 
maturity) 1 

10 PU each 10’ Height or 2” Caliper 

3. Medium tree (40-60 feet high at 
maturity 1 

8 PU each 10’ Height or 2” Caliper 

4. Small tree (18-40 feet high at maturity) 1  4 PU each 10’ Height or 2” Caliper 

5. Large shrub (at maturity over 4’ wide x 
4’ high) 1 

2 PU each 3 gallon or balled  

6. Small to medium shrub (at maturity 
maximum 4’ wide x 4’ high) 1 

1 PU each 1 gallon 

7. Lawn or other living ground cover 1 1 PU / 50 square feet  

8. Berm 2 1 PU / 20 lineal feet Minimum 2 feet high 

9. Ornamental fence 2 1 PU / 20 lineal feet 2½ - 4 feet high 

10. Boulder 2 1 PU each Minimum 2 feet high 

11. Sundial, obelisk, gnomon, or gazing ball 
2 2 PU each Minimum 3 feet high 

12. Fountain 2 3 PU each Minimum 3 feet high 

13. Bench or chair 2 0.5 PU / lineal foot  

14. Raised planting bed constructed of 
brick, stone or similar material except 
CMU 2 

0.5 PU / lineal foot of 
greatest dimension 

Minimum 1 foot high, 
minimum 1 foot wide in 
least interior dimension 

15. Water feature incorporating 
stormwater detention 2 2 per 50 square feet None  

1. Existing vegetation that is retained has the same plant unit value as planted vegetation. 

2. No more than twenty percent (20%) of the required plant units may be satisfied by items in 
lines 8 through 15. 

 
The landscape plans illustrate meeting or exceeding the minimum plant unit (PU) standards. 
 

  The requirement is met. 
  

157



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 34 of 62  

Prohibited Trees Table 3.06C 
 
Plan sheet Exhibits 15 & 16 note and illustrate 7 ginkos (Ginko biloba) of the male species only.  
The applicant interprets Table 3.06C Prohibited Trees that assigns ginkos the “negative 
attribute” of, “Disgusting odor from squashed fruit when female near male” such that the 
female sex is prohibited but not the male.  The Exhibit 15 plant legend indicates “male only” for 
the trees.  There is no evidence of existing female ginkos near the subject property.  Staff 
concurs with this interpretation and proposal.  The requirement is met for street trees. 
 
Regarding additional on-site trees (apart from preserved trees), the Exhibit 15 plant legend lists 
seven species, none of which the table prohibits. 
 

  The requirement is met. 
 
3.06.05 Screening & Table 3.06D 
A. Screening between zones and uses shall comply with Table 3.06D. 

Architectural Wall:  East Rear Property Line 
Such is required, and the applicant submitted a variance request. 
 

  Variance:  Staff addresses the Architectural Wall variance request further below under the 
Variance Provisions section. 
 
Architectural Wall:  Recycling and Trash Enclosures 
Such enclosures are required per Table 3.06D for any outdoor storage of “refuse and recycling 
collection facilities …”, and the applicant proposes containment through four such enclosures. 
 
3.06.05B. 
All parking areas, except those for single-family and duplex dwellings, abutting a street shall provide a 
42-inch vertical visual screen from the abutting street grade. Acceptable design techniques to provide 
the screening include plant materials, berms, architectural walls, and depressed grade for the parking 
area. All screening shall comply with the clear vision standards of this ordinance (Section 3.03.06). 
 
Because Buildings H & J are set close to the ROW and establish a shallow front yard, there is no 
surface parking in the front yard because the parking closest to the ROW is farther away than 
the buildings.  Therefore, no screening is applicable. 
 

  The provisions are not applicable. 
 
  

158



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 35 of 62  

3.06.06 Architectural Walls 
B. Design Standards and Guidelines 
 
Architectural Wall:  Recycling and Trash Enclosures 
The 4 such enclosures meet the standards as plan sheets Exhibits 27 & 28 illustrate. 
 
C. Retaining walls should/shall meet the texture and color requirements of architectural walls in or 
abutting residential districts, where the texture and color requirements apply to the visible face of the 
retaining wall. 
 
1.02  
Abutting: Touching on the edge or on the line, including at a corner. It shall include the terms 
adjacent, adjoining and contiguous. 
Adjacent: Near, close or bordering but not necessarily contiguous with; adjoining but separated by a 
right-of-way. 
 

  Because the proposal includes no retaining walls, the provisions are not applicable. 
 
 
3.06.07 Significant Trees on Private Property 
 
The site plans and applicant’s narrative indicate a number of Significant Trees and removal of 
most of them. 
 
Per staff request, the applicant revised the site plan to preserve not only eight of all existing 
trees (Significant or not) but nine out of sixteen, a Significant Tree numbered Tree 92 per plan 
sheet Exhibit 5 and that is A 49-inch incense cedar located west of the proposed clubhouse / 
leasing office.  It is also the largest tree among all trees on site. 
 

159



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 36 of 62  

 
Tree 192, March 12, 2018 
 
Note:  Staff construes Condition G2 about substantial conformance to include preservation of 
the nine trees as the site plans show and number:  185-188, 190, 192, and 198-200. 
 

 In order to secure tree preservation through construction best practices, staff applies 
Condition G5. 

 
 
3.07 Architectural Design 
3.07.06 Standards for Non-Residential Structures in Residential, Commercial and Public/Semi Public 
Zones 
A. The following design guidelines shall be applicable to all non-residential structures and buildings in 
the RS, RSN, R1S, RM, RMN, CO, CG, and P/SP zones. 
B. Architectural Design Guidelines 

1. Mass and Bulk Articulation Guidelines 
a. Building facades visible from streets and public parking areas should be articulated, in order 
to avoid the appearance of box-like structures with unbroken wall surfaces. 
b. The appearance of exterior walls should be enhanced by incorporating three-dimensional 
design features, including the following: 

(1) Public doorways or passage ways through the building 
(2) Wall offsets or projections 
(3) Variation in building materials or textures 
(4) Arcades, awnings, canopies or porches 

2. Materials and Texture Guidelines 

160



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 37 of 62  

a. Building exteriors should exhibit finishes and textures that reduce the visual monotony of 
bulky structures and large structural spaces. Building exteriors should enhance visual interest 
of wall surfaces and harmonize with the structural design. 
b. The appearance of exterior surfaces should be enhanced by incorporating the following: 

(1) At least 30% of the wall surface abutting a street should be glass. 
(2) All walls visible from a street or public parking area should be surfaced with wood, brick, 
stone, designer block, or stucco, or with siding that has the appearance of wood lap siding. 
(3) The use of plain concrete, plain concrete block, corrugated metal, plywood, T-111 and 
sheet composite siding as exterior finish materials for walls visible from a street or parking 
area should be avoided. 
(4) The color of at least 90 percent of the wall, roof and awning surface visible from a street 
or public parking area should be an “earth tone” color containing 10 parts, or more of brown 
or a “tinted” color, containing 10 parts or more white. 
(5) Fluorescent, “day-glo,” or any similar bright color shall not be used on the building 
exterior. 

3. Multi-Planed Roof Guidelines 
a. The roof line at the top of a structure should establish a distinctive top to the building. 
b. The roof line should not be flat or hold the same roof line over extended distances. Rather, 
the roof line should incorporate variations, such as: 

(1) Offsets or jogs in the plane of the roof; 
(2) Changes in the height of the exterior wall for flat roof buildings, including parapet walls 
with variations in elevation or cornices 

4. Roof-Mounted Equipment Guidelines 
All roof-mounted equipment, except solar collectors, should be screened from view by: 

a. Locating roof-mounted equipment below the highest vertical element of the building, or 
b. Screening roof-mounted equipment using materials of the same character as the structure’s 
basic materials 

5. Weather Protection Guidelines 
All building faces abutting a street or a public parking area should provide weather protection for 
pedestrians. Features to provide this protection should include: 

a. A continuous walkway at least eight feet wide along the face of the building utilizing a roof 
overhang, arcade, awnings or canopies 
b. Awnings and canopies that incorporate the following design features: 

(1) Angled or curved surfaces facing a street or parking area 
(2) A covering of fabric, or matte finish vinyl 
(3) A constant color and pattern scheme for all buildings within the same development 
(4) No internal back lighting 

6. Solar Access Protection 
Obstruction of existing solar collectors on abutting properties by site development should be 
minimized. 

C. Building Location Guidelines 
1. Within the prescribed setbacks, building location and orientation should compliment abutting 
uses and development patterns. 
2. The maximum yard abutting a street should be 150 feet. 

161



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 38 of 62  

 
The site plans and building elevations (plan sheet Exhibits 23-26) show largely what the 
guidelines describe.                                    
 

  The provisions are met. 
 
 
Property Line Adjustment Provisions 
 
Property Line Adjustment Criteria 
 
5.01.08  Property Line Adjustment; Consolidation of Lots 
A. Purpose:  The purpose of this review is to ensure that adjustments to property lines or the 
consolidation of existing lots and parcels, complies with the standards of this ordinance (Section 2), 
and State Statutes (ORS Chapters 92 and 209).  Property line adjustments and consolidation of lots are 
allowed in all zones. 
B. Criteria: 
1. Lot area, depth, width, frontage, building setbacks, vehicular access and lot coverage comply 
with the standards of this ordinance (Sections 2 and 3); 
2. Existing easements are accurately reflected; 
3. Existing land use and development on the subject property comply with the requirements of 
prior land use actions; and 
4. Buildings and structures abutting the adjusted property lines comply with State building codes 
and with respect to current occupancy. 
5. Property line adjustments are surveyed and monumented to the requirements set forth in 
State statutes (ORS Chapters 92 and 209) and recorded by the County Surveyor. 
C. Procedure:  The Director shall review and approve the application when it is found that it 
meets this Ordinance and the State Building Codes. 
 
The context is that the property line adjustment (PLA) is corollary to the Design Review.  The 
site is disturbed but undeveloped and lacking buildings.  The adjusted lot line is the centerline 
of Street Corridor “K” that staff described for 3.01. 
 
Regarding 5.01.08A and reference to WDO Section 2, as staff examined earlier for 3.01 and 
3.04.03B, public easements are needed as part of PLA recordation for: 

 Street Corridors “G” & “K”; 
 Jacobsen path; 
 For the path and beyond the path to the east property line;  
 Cross access via the routes between the joint driveway and the north and south cross 

access drive aisles; and 
 Public utilities – per Public Works Comments 5, 6, 7, 11, and Other 1 (Attachment 102A). 

162



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 39 of 62  

 
Regarding criterion 1, as staff examined above for Tabl3 2.03C, the CG zoning district has no 
minimum lot size, width, street frontage, or maximum lot coverage.  The development proposal 
provides a driveway that serves as the vehicular access between a public street ROW and the 
subject property. 
 
Regarding criterion 2, there are no existing easements to accommodate.  
 
Regarding criterion 3, the site is disturbed but undeveloped and lacking buildings. 
 
Regarding criterion 4, no buildings exist, and proposed Buildings A, E, F, & K are closest to and 
approximately 40 ft from the adjusted lot line. 
 
Regarding criterion 5, because staff has no expertise to administer this provision and also 
during plat or re-plat recordation the Marion County Surveyor administers what the criterion 
describes, the criterion is not applicable and yet will be met thanks to the County Surveyor. 
 

 Because unrecorded re-plats lingering indefinitely have burdened staff, staff applies 
Condition PLA-3 to set sooner time limits or subsection 2. to begin and finish recordation. 

 
 
Variance Provisions 
 
The several variance requests accompanying the design review relate to: 

1. Street access minimum number (3.01.05C); 
2. Driveway minimum number (3.04.03A.2.b); 
3. Parking ratio minimum (Table 3.05A); 
4. Compact parking percentage maximum (3.05.03C); 
5. Drive aisle width minimum (Table 3.05C);  
6. Parking area curb height minimum (3.06.02I); and 
7. Architectural Wall (Table 3.06D & 3.06.06). 

The applicant submitted narrative text addressing the criteria. 
 
 
  

163



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 40 of 62  

Variance Criteria 
 
5.03.12 Variance 

A. Purpose: The purpose of this Type III Variance is to allow use of a property in a way that would 
otherwise be prohibited by this Ordinance. Uses not allowed in a particular zone are not subject 
to the variance process. Standards set by statute relating to siting of manufactured homes on 
individual lots; siding and roof of manufactured homes; and manufactured home and dwelling 
park improvements are non-variable. 
B. Criteria: A variance may be granted to allow a deviation from development standard of this 
ordinance where the following criteria are met: 

1. Strict adherence to the standards of this ordinance is not possible or imposes an excessive 
burden on the property owner, and 
2. Variance to the standards will not unreasonably impact existing or potential uses or 
development on the subject property or adjacent properties. 

C. Factors to Consider: A determination of whether the criteria are satisfied involves balancing 
competing and conflicting interests. The factors that are listed below are not criteria and are not 
intended to be an exclusive list and are used as a guide in determining whether the criteria are 
met. 

1. The variance is necessary to prevent unnecessary hardship relating to the land or structure, 
which would cause the property to be unbuildable by application of this Ordinance. Factors to 
consider in determining whether hardship exists, include: 

a. Physical circumstances over which the applicant has no control related to the piece of 
property involved that distinguish it from other land in the zone, including but not limited 
to, lot size, shape, and topography. 
b. Whether reasonable use similar to other properties can be made of the property 
without the variance. 
c. Whether the hardship was created by the person requesting the variance. 

2. Development consistent with the request will not be materially injurious to adjacent 
properties. Factors to be considered in determining whether development consistent with the 
variance [is] materially injurious include, but are not limited to: 

a. Physical impacts such development will have because of the variance, such as visual, 
noise, traffic and drainage, erosion and landslide hazards. 
b. Incremental impacts occurring as a result of the proposed variance. 

3. Existing physical and natural systems, such as but not limited to traffic, drainage, dramatic 
land forms or parks will not be adversely affected because of the variance. 
4. Whether the variance is the minimum deviation necessary to make reasonable economic 
use of the property; 
5. Whether the variance conflicts with the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 

164



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 41 of 62  

Variance 1:  Street Access Minimum Number 
 
3.01.05C.  Developments comprised of 25 or more dwelling units, including existing units, shall have at 
least two means of public street access from a cul-de-sac, dead-end street, or other street.  Those two 
or more means of public access must be two non-overlapping public street routes to a major arterial 
identified in the TSP. 
 
Note:  TSP refers to the Transportation System Plan. 
 
The applicant’s narrative (submitted September 4, 2019; pp. 11-12) states: 
 

“Proposed: One driveway is located on the lot frontage and secondary accesses are proposed 
from the adjacent properties. 
 
Criteria #1: The long shape of the property with a relatively short street frontage precludes 
providing two driveways. 
 
Criteria #2: The driveway and the western access easements provide a total of three entries into 
the site which will increase the connectivity and fire-safety of the both the subject property and 
its neighbors. 70’ right-of-way dedications in the center and northeast corner of the site will 
bring additional connectivity in the future.” 
 

Staff concurs and adds that the access management provisions staff examined above for 3.01 
and 3.04.03B conflict with WDO 3.01.05C when applied to the subject property.  For long-range 
planning, access management provisions take precedence.  Additionally, if and when Street 
Corridors “G” & “K” were to become improved public streets, they would provide for the two 
lots composing the subject property several points of access that meet 3.01.05C.  By e-mail, the 
Woodburn Fire District Fire Marshal indicated that the site plan premised on the variance 
request is acceptable. 
 
Staff conditions accordingly. 
 

 The variance criteria are met with Condition V1-SA. 
 
 
  

165



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 42 of 62  

Variance 2:  Driveway Minimum Number 
 
3.04.03A 
2. A minimum of two driveways shall be provided in developments with: 
b. 100 dwelling units in multiple-family dwellings (200 if all dwelling units are equipped with 
automatic fire sprinklers). 
 
The applicant’s narrative (submitted September 4, 2019; p. 12) states: 
 

“Proposed: One driveway is located on the lot frontage and secondary accesses are proposed 
from the adjacent properties. 
 
Criteria #1: The long shape of the property with a relatively short street frontage precludes 
providing two driveways. 
 
Criteria #2: The driveway and the western access easements provide a total of three entries into 
the site which will increase the connectivity and fire-safety of the both the subject property and 
its neighbors. 70’ right-of-way dedications in the center and northeast corner of the site will 
bring additional connectivity in the future.” 
 

This is the same applicant response as for variance request 1, and staff concurs and adds the 
same comments as it did for that request. 
 
Staff conditions accordingly. 
 

 The variance criteria are met with Condition V2-DA. 
  

166



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 43 of 62  

Variance 3:  Parking Ratio Minimum 
 
Table 3.05A 
 
As staff examined above for Table 3.05A, the off-street parking minimum ratio is 2 per dwelling, 
yielding an amount of 408 parking stalls for 204 dwellings. 
 
The applicant’s narrative (submitted September 4, 2019; p. 12-13) states: 
 

“Proposed: 1.9 spaces per dwelling unit (386 residential spaces and two clubhouse spaces). 
 
The Pacific Valley Apartments development team is requesting a variance to the required 
parking ratio for the proposed multifamily development. The current design allows for 382 
parking spaces for the proposed 204-unit development. The parking ratio per unit for the 
proposed development is 1.86 parking spaces per unit. We believe this ratio will suffice for the 
demand for parking in Woodburn because of the surrounding factors as described below and 
access to other alternative means of transportation. 
 
With the second largest grocery store in Woodburn only being .27 miles away (5-6-minute walk), 
residents without vehicles could walk to stores. Along with a grocery stores, the nearest major 
park is Legion Park which is .37 miles away (7-8-minute walk). Along with Safeway the major 
park, there are also various shopping centers as well. Within the Safeway parking lot there is 
also a Starbucks along with restaurants and two different banks. The public library and 
downtown Woodburn are both a little over a mile away. With all these different amenities 
within walking distance, this would be a strong consideration for tenants to walk places not 
requiring a vehicle.  Public transportation is also readily available within walking distance of the 
property. The Woodburn Transit System (WTS) bus route stops Northbound at 1510 N. Pacific 
Highway. The nearest Southbound stop is at James Street. Another mode of transportation is 
the Salem-Keizer Cherriots 20x which runs also runs along Pacific Highway. The last stop ends 
between 1540 and 1700 Mt Hood Avenue. The Cherriots 20x runs from Woodburn to Silverton 
and then to Salem. This will reduce the need for a car as many people will commute to these 
neighboring cities for work. 
 
The property management will require parking permits in order to park onsite. Each vehicle that 
doesn’t have a permit will be towed eliminating non-resident parking. The maximum allowed 
parking for two- and three-bedroom units will be 2 cars per unit. The management will also 
enforce only 1 car per unit for each 1-bedroom unit. By only allowing 1 car for each 1-bedroom 
unit that would allow exactly 2.06 cars per unit for each of the other two- and three-bedroom 
units. 
 
Additionally, the development team accounts for on average 5% vacancy in the rental property, 
which could leave anywhere from 10-20 parking spots available. 
 

167



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 44 of 62  

The clubhouse is provided two parking spaces (1 space per 4 occupants with an occupant load of 
8 for the office and lobby areas). Because they are private facilities, the remainder of the 
clubhouse will be used only by tenants who have their own assigned parking. 
 
To further support this variance, bicycle parking is proposed well in excess of code requirements 
(see Section 3.05.03(E) above) and, if needed, the property management team would be willing 
to contact Zip Car or Car to Go and allow a parking space or two allocated to Zip cars for tenant 
use.” 
 

Staff concurs and conditions accordingly.  Staff approach is to create and clear and simple to 
administer ratio that as applied to the proposal matches the parking amount that applicant has 
fit onto the site.  A benefit is that if the applicant in response to market demand were to alter 
the unit mix, which the WDO does not regulate, the ratio remains clear, simple, and able to be 
administered, whereas simplistically conditioning an absolute number of stalls would needlessly 
interfere with market rate housing.  The condition includes the ratios that the table below 
tabulates: 

 
Dwelling Unit 
Type 

Proposed 
Quantity 

 Parking 
Ratio 

 Stall 
Amount 

Proposed 
Stalls 

Studio 0 1.00 0.0 

 

One-bedroom 36 1.85 66.6 
Two-bedroom 150 1.85 277.5 
Three-
bedroom 18 2.00 36.0 

   380.1 382 
 

 The variance criteria are met with Condition V3-PR. 
 
 
  

168



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 45 of 62  

Variance 4:  Compact Parking Percentage Maximum 
 
3.05.03C 
 
The applicant’s narrative (submitted September 4, 2019; p. 13) states: 
 

“Proposed: 60 percent 
 
Criteria #1: A 20% compact parking ratio precludes meeting minimum off-street parking ratios to 
achieve housing density goals desired for the zone. 
 
Criteria #2: Adjacent properties will not be affected by the proposed compact parking ratios.” 
 

Staff concurs and conditions accordingly. 
 
 

 The variance criteria are met with Condition V4-CP. 
 
  

169



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 46 of 62  

Variance 5:  Drive Aisle Minimum Width 
 
Table 3.05C … Drive Aisle Dimensions 
 
The applicant’s narrative (submitted September 4, 2019; p. 13-14) states: 
 

“Proposed: Per Item #9 on page 19 of the 12/15/18 pre-app memo, 20’ drive aisles are proposed 
(26’ at aerial fire access aisles). 
 
Criteria #1: 24’ drive aisles preclude meeting minimum off-street parking ratios and housing 
density goals desired for the zone. 
 
Criteria #2: Adjacent properties will not be affected by the proposed drive aisle width. Minimum 
required drive aisle widths for aerial fire access will be maintained.” 
 

Staff concurs, adding that the reason this apartment complex has only surface parking, which is 
what the drive aisles would serve, as have all new apartment complexes except in urban and 
high value suburban markets is because surface parking is always far less expensive than 
underground or above-ground structured parking, i.e. a parking deck or parking garage.  In 
most suburban markets, developers design apartment complexes to fit both dwellings in 
standard building types (three-story walk-ups) and in surface form whatever amount of parking 
a local government requires per dwelling. 
 
Staff conditions accordingly. 
 

 The variance criteria are met with Condition V5-DA. 
  

170



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 47 of 62  

Variance 6:  Parking Area Curb Height Minimum 
 
3.06.02I 
 
The applicant’s narrative (submitted September 4, 2019; p. 14) states: 
 

“Proposed: 4” high concrete curbs throughout. 
 
Criteria #1: Per Table 3.05C, a parking space may occupy up to two feet of a landscaped area or 
walkway. A 6” curb does not allow sufficient clearance for compact vehicles to overhang these 
areas. 
 
Criteria #2: Adjacent properties will not be affected by the proposed curb height.” 
 

Staff concurs, adding that throughout the nation there are streets, driveways, and drive aisles 
with four-inch curbs that work just fine to hold in place whatever they hold and to direct 
stormwater. 
 
Staff conditions accordingly. 
 
 

 The variance criteria are met with Condition V6-CH. 
 
  

171



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 48 of 62  

Variance 7:  Architectural Wall 
 
Table 3.06D & 3.06.06 
 
The applicant’s narrative (submitted September 4, 2019; p. 14) states: 
 

“Proposed: Per Item #2b on page 17 of the 12/15/18 pre-app memo, landscaping as screening 
provided in compliance with City of Portland Title 33.248.020C “L3, high screen” standards (rev. 
7/24/2017). 
 
Criteria #1: The architectural wall standard would incur higher construction costs on needed 
housing. 
 
Criteria #2: The proposed landscaping will provide similar screening for the neighbors at less 
cost than an architectural wall.” 
 

Staff concurs, adding that it remains the opinion of the Director and staff that a legislative 
amendment is needed to scale back or strike Table 3.06D because the table assumes needless 
and arbitrary reinforcement of segregation of land uses through walls.  Second, landscaping is 
capable of buffering and has the benefits of beauty, cooling the urban heat island effect, 
serving as animal habitat, and costing less than wall construction.  Additionally, no wall except 
of absurd height would be sufficient to be a screen between a three-story apartment building 
and a one-story house.  Some adjacent homes already have fencing, and homeowners can alter 
or add fencing, walls, or landscaping on their properties as they like and see fit.   
 
Lastly, on the subject property, an Architectural Wall is a structure that would block Street 
Corridor “G”. 
  
Staff conditions accordingly. 
 
 

 The variance criteria are met with Condition V7-AW. 
 
  

172



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 49 of 62  

Recommended Conditions of Approval 
Staff recommends approval of the consolidated applications based on the findings in the staff 
report and attachments, which are incorporated by this reference, as well as applying the 
following conditions of approval: 

 

General 

G1.  Prior to building permit application, the applicant shall submit revised site plans meeting the 
conditions of approval to the Planning Division and obtain Division approval. 

G2.  The applicant or successor shall develop the property in substantial conformance with the 
final plans submitted and approved with these applications, except as modified by these 
conditions of approval.  Were the applicant to revise plans other than to meet conditions of 
approval or meet building code, even if Planning Division staff does not notice and signs off on 
building permit issuance, Division staff retains the right to obtain restoration of improvements 
as shown on an earlier land use review plan set in service of substantial conformance. 

G3. References: The descriptions below define certain words, phrases, and assumptions in the 
context of the conditions of approval: 

 “Access way” means an on-site walkway paved at least eight (8) feet wide to serve as a 
bicycle/pedestrian path to and from sidewalk – or to and from an off-street public 
bicycle/pedestrian path – and that is ADA-compliant. 

 “ADA” refers to the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 
 “Adjusted Parcel No. 1” is the resulting west half of the subject property and fronts the 

highway. 
 “Adjusted Parcel No. 2” is the resulting east half of the subject property. 
 “Director” refers to the Community Development Director. 
 “Highway” refers to N. Pacific Highway (U.S. 99E). 
 “Jacobsen path” refers to an off-street public bicycle/pedestrian path that is poured 

concrete at least eight (8) feet wide and ADA-compliant and extends between the sidewalk 
and the east north-south walkway within Street Corridor “K”, a distance of at least six 
hundred and twenty (620) feet, and refers also to a corollary public easement that is (a) at 
least twelve (12) feet wide that has the path within its boundaries, (b) extends to the east 
line of adjusted Parcel No. 2 adjacent to Tax Lot 051W08DD02600 (1217 Greenview Drive), 
and (c) is to the satisfaction of the Director.  (The path corridor overlaps long-vacated 
Jacobsen Road, and the name is an informal interim name for unique and easy reference.)  
Where the path crosses the asphalt south cross access drive aisle, (a) the concrete shall 
continue, and (b) the crossing shall be a speed table / raised crossing a minimum four (4) 
inches above the asphalt grade. 

 “PLA” means property line adjustment. 

173



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 50 of 62  

 “PUE” means public utility easement. 
 “ROW” means right-of-way. 
 “Street Corridor ‘G’” refers to the southeast-northwest future local street corridor seventy 

(70) feet in width that assumes a ROW of sixty (60) feet plus two 5-foot PUEs.  The corridor 
aligns with the sixty foot width of Tax Lot 051W08DA06200 (1297 Greenview Drive). 

 “Street Corridor ‘K’” refers to the north-south future local street corridor seventy (70) feet 
in width that assumes a ROW of sixty (60) feet plus two 5-foot PUEs.  The corridor east edge 
aligns near the southeast corner of Tax Lot 051W08DB02600 (1400 N. Pacific Highway). 

 “WDO” refers to the Woodburn Development Ordinance. 

G4.  Due date:  Unless a condition specifies otherwise, conditions including those relating to ROW 
and easement dedications and construction of frontage/public/street improvements are due by 
building permit issuance. 

G5.  Tree preservation:  Protection during construction: 

The applicant shall protect the preserved trees pursuant similar to City of Portland Title 
11.60.030, specifically either the subsections set of C.1.a.(1), (3) and C.1.b., e., & f. (clear 
and objective) and D.; or, the subsections set of C.2.a., b., & d.-f. (arborist’s discretion) and 
D. as modified below and shall do so between Design Review approval and issuance of 
certificate of occupancy (C of O): 

 
C.  Protection methods. The Tree Plan shall show that the contractor adequately protects 
trees to be preserved during construction using one of the methods described below: 
 

1.  Clear & Objective Path. 
 

a.  A root protection zone is established as follows: 
 

(1) For trees on the development site - a minimum of 1 foot radius (measured 
horizontally away from the face of the tree trunk) for each inch of tree 
diameter (see Figure 80-2) 

  

174



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 51 of 62  

 

Figure 80-2 
Root Protection Zone 

  

  

 
 
(3)  Existing encroachments into the root protection zone, including structures, 
paved surfaces and utilities, may remain. New encroachments into the root 
protection zone are allowed provided: 

 
(a)  the area of all new encroachments is less than 25 percent of the remaining 
root protection zone area when existing encroachments are subtracted; and 
 
(b)  no new encroachment is closer than 1/2 the required radius distance (see 
Figure 60-1); 

  

175



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 52 of 62  

 

Figure 60-1 
Permissible RPZ Encroachments 

    

 
b.  Protection fencing 

 
(1)  Protection fencing consisting of a minimum 6-foot high metal chain link 
construction fence, secured with 8-foot metal posts shall be established at the 
edge of the root protection zone and permissible encroachment area on the 
development site. Existing structures and/or existing secured fencing at least 3½ 
feet tall can serve as the required protective fencing. 
 
(2)  When a root protection zone extends beyond the development site, 
protection fencing is not required to extend beyond the development site. 
Existing structures and/or existing secured fencing at least 3½ feet tall can serve 
as the required protective fencing. 

 

176



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 53 of 62  

e.  The following is prohibited within the root protection zone of each tree or 
outside the limits of the development impact area: ground disturbance or 
construction activity including vehicle or equipment access (but excluding access 
on existing streets or driveways), storage of equipment or materials including 
soil, temporary or permanent stockpiling, proposed buildings, impervious 
surfaces, underground utilities, excavation or fill, trenching or other work 
activities; and 
 
f.  The fence shall be installed before any ground disturbing activities including 
clearing and grading, or construction starts; and shall remain in place until final 
inspection by Planning Division staff. 

 
2.  Arborist’s Discretion. When the prescriptive path is not practicable, the applicant may 
propose alternative measures to modify the clear and objective root protection zone 
(RPZ), provided the following standards are met: 
 

a.  The alternative RPZ is prepared by an arborist who has visited the site and 
examined the specific tree’s size, location, and extent of root cover, evaluated the 
tree’s tolerance to construction impact based on its species and health, identified any 
past impacts that have occurred within the root zone, and forwarded a report through 
the developer to Planning Division staff; 
 
b.  The arborist has prepared a plan providing the rationale used to demonstrate that 
the alternate method provides an adequate level of protection based on the findings 
from the site visit described above; 
 
d.  If the alternative methods require the arborist be on site during construction 
activity, the applicant shall submit a copy of the contract for those services prior to 
permit issuance and a final report from the arborist documenting the inspections and 
verifying the viability of the tree(s) prior to final inspection by the Planning Division; 
 
e.  If the alternative tree protection method involves alternative construction 
techniques, an explanation of the techniques and materials used shall be submitted; 
 
f.  The arborist shall sign the tree preservation and protection plan and include contact 
information. 

 
D.  Changes to tree protection. Changes to the tree protection measures during the course of 
the development may be approved as a revision to a permit provided that the change is not the 
result of an unauthorized encroachment into a root protection zone (RPZ), and the applicant 
demonstrates that the tree protection standards of this Section continue to be met. When an 
unauthorized encroachment has occurred, the City may pursue an enforcement action or other 
remedy. 

 

G6-PW.  Public Works:  Follow the appended "Public Works Comments September 30, 2019" 
(Attachment 102A). 

177



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 54 of 62  

 

Design Review 2019-03 

D1.  ROW:  To meet WDO Figure 3.01B, as part of PLA recordation and regarding N. Pacific 
Highway (U.S. 99E) the applicant shall dedicate six (6) feet of ROW and along the ROW a PUE of 
ten (10) feet. 
 
D2.  Street corridors:  To meet WDO 3.01, as part of PLA recordation and regarding Street 
Corridors “G” & “K”, the applicant shall for each dedicate either (a) sixty (60) feet of ROW and 
along each side a PUE of five (5) feet or (b) a PUE of seventy (70) feet. 
 
D3.  Jacobsen path:  To meet WDO 3.01, the applicant shall: 

a. Easement:  As part of PLA recordation and regarding said path, dedicate a PUE of at least 
twelve (12) feet in width and extending from the highway newly dedicated ROW to the 
rear east property line of adjusted Parcel No. 2. adjacent to Tax Lot 051W08DD02600 
(1217 Greenview Drive); and 

b. Improvement:  Improve said path per Condition G3.  Also, if the path is concrete, the 
concrete shall continue where the path crosses the asphalt south cross access drive aisle. 

 
D4.  Cross access:  To meet WDO 3.04.03B, the applicant shall: 

a. Extend from the driveway a drive aisle each to the north and south property lines of 
adjusted Parcel No. 1 adjacent to Tax Lots 051W08DB02700 (1390 N. Pacific Highway) and 
051W08DC00300 (1220 N. Pacific Highway). 

b. To meet WDO 3.04.03B.1 & 3, establish a public access easement and private 
maintenance agreement to the satisfaction of the Director and revocable only with the 
concurrence of the Director. 

c. The easement width shall be minimum twenty (20) feet and centered on the drive aisle 
centerline. 

 
D5.  Parking stall double striping:  To meet WDO 3.05.02K, the applicant shall delineate parking 
stalls with double parallel lines pursuant to Figure 3.05C and stripe them as such in the field prior 
to building permit final inspection. 
 
D6.  Bicycle parking near main entrance:  To meet WDO 3.05.03E, prior to building permit final 
inspection the applicant shall provide bicycle parking within fifty (50) feet of a main entrance.  In 
the context of a new construction apartment complex with conventional three-story buildings 
with open stairwells, each apartment building has two main entrances as follows:   

a. In Buildings A & C-G there are four points where a building main wall plane intersects the 
walkway serving building ground floor entrances and the stairwell to upper floor 
entrances; 

b. In Buildings B, H, & J there are two such points; 

178



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 55 of 62  

c. Each building has either (a) two walkways with two points each totaling the four or (b) 
one walkway with two points total; and so 

d. The condition shall apply to two points minimum for each of Buildings A & C-G and one 
point minimum for Buildings B, H, & J and apply to one point minimum per walkway. 

 
 
Property Line Adjustment 2019-03 

PLA-1.  Street access:  To meet WDO 3.04.01A, landlocked adjusted Parcel No. 2 shall have 
access to the highway across adjusted Parcel No. 1 by means of a public access easement and 
private maintenance agreement to the satisfaction of the Director, and revocable only with the 
concurrence of the Director. 
 
PLA-2PW.  Public Works:  Sewer access:  Follow the appended "Public Works Comments 
September 30, 2019" (Attachment 102A), Comment Other 1. 
 
PLA-3.  Recording:  To meet WDO 5.01.08B.5., upon City approval of the subject property line 
adjustment (PLA), the applicant shall revise the drawing or drawings as needed and record the 
re-plat with Marion County.  The expiration date is per WDO 4.02.04B.  Subsection 2. that refers 
to "the activity approved in the decision has commenced" means recordation of the subject 
PLA, and to this end the applicant shall apply to Marion County for recordation by April 10, 
2020 and complete recordation by October 9, 2020. 
 
 
Variance 2019-02 

V1-SA.  Street access minimum number (WDO 3.01.05C):  The proposal is exempt from WDO 
3.01.05C, and the applicant shall: 

a. Reserve Street Corridors “G” and “K” per Conditions G3 & D2; and 
b. Construct the public cross access drive aisles and dedicate corollary easements 

accordingly per Condition D4. 
 
V2-DN.  Driveway minimum number (WDO 3.04.03A.2.b): 

a. The proposal is exempt from WDO 3.04.03A.2.b., and the applicant shall: 
b. Reserve Street Corridors “G” and “K” per Condition G3 & D2; and 
c. Construct the public cross access drive aisles and dedicate corollary easements 

accordingly per Condition D4. 
 
V3-PR.  Off-street parking ratio minimum WDO (Table 3.05A): 

a. Dwelling ratio:  The minimum ratio shall be by unit type as follows: 
i. For each studio dwelling, 1.0 stall; 

ii. For each one-bedroom, 1.85 stalls; 

179



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 56 of 62  

iii. For each two-bedroom, 1.85 stalls; and 
iv. For each three or more bedroom unit type, 2.0. 

b. Clubhouse parking:  Staff interprets WDO Table 3.05A row 37 such that a “community 
club building” (clubhouse) requires its own parking only for stand-alone clubhouses or in 
the context of residential subdivisions, and that apartment complex so-called 
clubhouses are not subject to the community club building parking ratio. 

c. Compact parking:  At least twenty percent (20%) of the minimum amount of stalls shall 
be compact. 

d. Bicycle parking amount and distribution:  The applicant shall provide a minimum 
number of bicycle parking stalls as follows: 

i. At least one (1) per dwelling in each dwelling in the outdoor closet of the balcony 
or patio in which the applicant shall install a wall-mounted folding or retractable 
hook designed for the hanging of a bicycle;  

ii. At least one (1) stall at the base of each building stairwell, with each of these 
locations having a bicycle parking sign with minimum face dimensions of (1) foot 
wide by one-and-a-half (1½) feet high; 

iii. At least four (4) stalls within fifty (50) feet of the newly dedicated highway ROW; 
iv. At least four (4) stalls within fifty (50) feet of the Jacobsen path easement. 
v. At least eight (8) among the clubhouse / leasing office, play area, and barbeque 

(BBQ) area. 
vi. At least two (2) stalls outside and near each apartment building spaced to 

conform to the 50-foot distance provision of WDO 3.05.03E as applied through 
Condition D6. 

vii. In no case shall the total number of bicycle parking stalls equal fewer than 1.1 
per dwelling, and in no case shall the minimum coverage/sheltering from 
precipitation of bicycle parking be for fewer than seventeen (17) stalls. 

e. Bicycle standards:  Stalls shall conform to City of Portland Title 33, Chapter 33.266.220C 
(amended 5/24/2018), except that the applicant may ignore subsections C6, C7, & C5c, 
and that C4b does not apply to the outdoor storage closets for which the minimum stall 
depth from wall instead shall be four (4) feet minimum.  Vertical clearance instead shall 
be eight (8) feet or, where a stall is under stairs, six (6) feet. 

f. Sidewalk:  The highway sidewalk shall remain eight (8) feet wide as proposed (instead of 
6 feet typical). 

g. Access way, highway:  At least one access way shall remain as proposed that extends 
onto the site at least three hundred (300) feet from the sidewalk. 

h. Access way, Jacobsen path:  At least one access way shall remain as proposed that 
extends onto the site at least one hundred and seventy (170) feet from the Jacobsen 
path. 

i. Jacobsen path: 
a. Improvement:  The applicant shall construct the proposed Jacobsen path and 

provide a public easement per Condition G3 & D3a.   

180



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 57 of 62  

b. Long-range planning:  Until July 1, 2030, if any of the following were to occur, 
then the applicant shall construct or pay the City a fee in-lieu to construct 
extension of the path to either the east property line or a point no farther west 
than one hundred and seventy-five (175) feet west of the southeast corner of 
adjusted Parcel No. 2.: 

i. The applicant or any successors and assigns apply to the City for a Type III 
or IV planning / land use / zoning review. 

ii. For the neighboring property to the south, Tax Lot 051W08DC00300 
(1220 N. Pacific Highway), an applicant A obtains a Type III or IV planning 
/ land use / zoning approval to partially or wholly redevelop that 
property.  In this scenario, the applicant or any successors and assigns 
need not construct or pay the City a fee in-lieu if (a) the City were to 
condition approval such that applicant A would be the one to construct 
or pay the City and (b) if the applicant or any successors and assigns grant 
permission to an applicant A to come onto adjusted Parcel No. 2 and 
construct.  Also in this scenario, the applicant or any successors and 
assigns shall construct or pay the City for half of the path if the City were 
to condition approval such that the path would straddle the property line 
and applicant A would construct the south half side of the path or pay the 
City a fee in-lieu towards construction of the south half side. 

iii. A fee in-lieu shall be at least 200% of a licensed civil engineer’s cost 
estimate. 

c. The applicant shall install a permanent all-weather pole sign at the Jacobsen 
path temporary east terminus that states in lettering two (2) inches high 
minimum: “This Public Path is Planned for Future Extension.”  The sign face shall 
be no lower than 3½ ft above grade and no higher than 5 ft and of minimum 
dimensions of one-and-a-half (1½) feet by (1) foot.  This is due prior to building 
permit final inspection. 

j. Parking demand management:  The applicant or any successors and assigns, if recouping 
the costs of parking, shall instead of doing so from multi-family rent do so by charging a 
separate, listed, and uniform parking fee and only to leaseholders whose households 
choose to park their vehicles on site. Guest and visitor vehicles and – if any – such stalls 
shall be excluded from such fee.  A uniform parking fee means not charging tiered fees 
for garage stalls, carport stalls, reserved stalls, open air stalls, standard size stalls, or 
compact stalls premised on perception of some stalls being more desirable and valuable 
than others.  It also means that the fee amount must be uniform – either as a rate or an 
absolute value – for all leaseholders subject to the parking fee, but does not mean that 
the fee must be fixed indefinitely.  Documentation of the uniform parking fee is due by 
building permit final inspection. 

k. Trial period:  Until July 1, 2021, there shall be a trial period in which the Director may 
receive evidence of a chronic parking overflow problem and choose to investigate, 

181



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 58 of 62  

review, and act upon it, including by obtaining the latest documentation of the uniform 
parking fee.  This condition authorizes the Director to require that the applicant or any 
successors and assigns apply for and receive approval of a solution to the satisfaction of 
the Director.  The review shall default to a Type II process, but the Director may instead 
elevation the review to Type III to obtain Planning Commission review and decision.  The 
Director may condition that the applicant or any successors and assigns fulfill the offer 
made through the revised narrative (submitted September 4, 2019, p. 13) to contact a 
car share company and allow a parking space or two to be allocated such a company car 
or cars for tenant use.  (This condition does not subvert WDO 4.02.07 Modification of 
Conditions.) 

 
V4-CP.  Compact parking (WDO 3.05.03C): 

d. Percentage:  The compact parking maximum as a percentage of the required minimum 
amount of parking shall be sixty percent (60%; instead of 20% typical) and hundred 
percent (100%) of any amount in excess of the minimum required. 

e. Striping:  Each stall shall be striped “COMPACT ONLY” in lettering one (1) foot high 
minimum. 

f. Wheel stops:  Where used, wheel stops shall be four (4) inches high maximum. 
 
V5-DA. Drive aisle (WDO Table 3.05C):   

a. The minimum drive aisle widths shall be per the table below (instead of 24 feet typical): 
Parking Context Minimum Drive Aisle Width (feet) 

One-way Travel Two-way Travel 
Single Lane Paired Lanes 

Standard or ADA-
compliant stalls 

18 10 per lane; 20 total 20 

Compact stalls 16 9 per lane; 18 total 20 
No adjacent stalls 10 9 per lane; 18 total 20 

b. The condition applies up to newly dedicated ROW so as not to interfere with the driveway 
minimum width provisions of WDO Table 3.04A. 

 
V6-CH.  Curb dimensions (WDO 3.06.02I):  Curb or curbing that delineates on-site walkways and 
landscaped, parking, and vehicular circulation areas shall have a minimum height and width 
each of four (4) inches (instead of 6 inches typical). 
 
V7-AW.  Architectural Wall (WDO Table 3.06D & 3.06.06): 

a. The east rear property line subject to the Architectural Wall provisions of Table 3.06D 
and 3.06.06 is exempt from those provisions.   

b. Landscaping: 
i. The applicant shall landscaped the east rear setback of six (6) feet to the 

minimum planting density of WDO Table 3.06A, row “Buffer yards”. 

182



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 59 of 62  

ii. The landscaping shall include evergreen shrubbery planted at the large category 
minimum size per WDO Table 3.06B. 

iii. The applicant shall include within the landscaping of the east rear setback of ten 
(10) feet at least seven (7) trees of which at least two (2) shall be large category 
large per WDO Table 3.06B. 

c. Lighting: 
i. Full cut-off:  Exterior lighting fixtures shall be full cut-off or fully shielded models. 

ii. Heights:   
(a) Wall:  Exterior wall-mounted fixtures shall be no higher than ten (10) feet 

above walkway finished grade.  (This height limit is not applicable to 
emergency egress lighting and permanent wall signs allowed through WDO 
3.10 were they to have interior illumination.) 

(b) Parking pole:  Exterior pole-mounted fixtures within four (4) feet of or in 
parking, loading, and vehicular circulation areas shall be no higher than 
fourteen-and-a-half (14½) feet above vehicular finished grade. 

(c) Other pole:  Remaining exterior pole-mounted fixtures, if any, shall be no 
higher than twelve (12) feet above grade. 

d. Railings/fence:  The following applies to the Building C four patios closest to the east 
rear property line:  To lessen encroachment of persons and outdoor storage into the 
rear setback, the outermost edges of the patio concrete slabs shall have either metal 
railings or cedar fencing at least three (3) feet high but no more than five (5) feet high. 

 

  

183



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 60 of 62  

Applicant Identity 
  
Applicant Robert Leeb, Principal In Charge, Leeb Architects 

 
Applicant’s 
Representative 

Doug Hamilton, Leeb Architects 

Landowner(s) At time of application:  West Coast Real Estate Holdings LLC, represented by 
Eugene Labunsky 
At present:  Pacific Valley Apartments LLC, represented by Eugene Labunsky 

 
 
  
Notes to the Applicant 
The following are not planning / land use / zoning conditions of approval, but are notes for the 
applicant to be aware of and follow:  

1. Records:  Staff recommends that the applicant retain a copy of the subject approval. 

2. Fences, fencing, & free-standing walls:  The approval excludes any fences, fencing, & free-
standing walls, which are subject to WDO 2.06 and the permit process of 5.01.03. 

3. Signage:  The approval excludes any signage, which is subject to WDO 3.10 and the permit 
process of 5.01.10. 

4. PLA Time Limit:  WDO 4.02.04B. specifies that, “A final decision on any application shall expire 
within three years of the date of the final decision unless:  1. a building permit to exercise the 
right granted by the decision has been issued; 2. the activity approved in the decision has 
commenced; or 3. a time extension, Section 4.02.05, has been approved.  Because 
unrecorded re-plats lingering indefinitely have burdened staff, a condition sets sooner time 
limits for subsection 2. to begin and finish recordation. 

5. PLA Mylar signature:  The Community Development Director is the authority that signs plat 
Mylars and not any of the mayor, City Administrator, Public Works Director, or City Engineer.  
Only one City signature title block is necessary. 

6. PLA Plat Tracker:  Marion County maintains a plat tracking tool at 
<http://apps.co.marion.or.us/plattracker/>.  Use it to check on the status of a recordation 
request to the County.  City staff does not track County plat recordation. 
 

7. Other Agencies:  The applicant, not the City, is responsible for obtaining permits from any 
county, state and/or federal agencies, which may require approval or permit, and must obtain 
all applicable City and County permits for work prior to the start of work and that the work 
meets the satisfaction of the permit-issuing jurisdiction.  The Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT) might require highway access, storm drainage, and other right-of-way 

184



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 61 of 62  

(ROW) permits.  All work within the public ROW or easements within City jurisdiction must 
conform to plans approved by the Public Works Department and must comply with a Public 
Works Right-of-Way permit issued by said department.  Marion County plumbing permits 
must be issued for all waterline, sanitary sewer, and storm sewer work installed beyond the 
Public Right-of-Way, on private property. 

8. Inspection:  The applicant shall construct, install, or plant all improvements, including 
landscaping, prior to City staff verification.  Contact Planning Division staff at least three (3) 
City business days prior to a desired date of planning and zoning inspection of site 
improvements.  This is required and separate from and in addition to the usual building code 
and fire and life safety inspections.  Note that Planning staff are not primarily inspectors, do 
not have the nearly immediate availability of building inspectors, and are not bound by any 
building inspector’s schedule or general contractor convenience. 

9. Stormwater management:  The storm sewer system and any required on-site detention for 
the development must comply with the City Storm Water Management Plan, Public Works 
storm water practices and the Storm Drainage Master Plan. 

10. Public Works Review:  Staff performs final review of the civil plans during the building permit 
stage.  Public infrastructure must be constructed in accordance with plans approved by the 
City, as well as current Public Works construction specifications, Standard Drawings, Standard 
Details, and General Conditions. 

11. ROW:   

a. Dedication:  The Public Works Department Engineering Division has document templates 
for ROW and easement dedications that applicants are to use. 

ROW – and public utility easement (PUE) – dedications are due prior to building permit 
issuance per Public Works policy. 

b. Work:  All work within the public ROWs or easements within City jurisdiction must 
require plan approval and permit issuance from the Public Works Department. All public 
improvements construction work must be performed in accordance with the plans 
stamped “approved” by the City, and comply with the City’s Standard Specifications and 
Standard drawings. 

12. Franchises:  The applicant provides for the installation of all franchised utilities and any 
required easements. 

13. Water:  All water mains and appurtenances must comply with Public Works, Building Division, 
and Woodburn Fire District requirements.  Existing water services lines that are not going to 
be use with this new development must be abandoned at the main line.  The City performs 
required abandonment of existing water facilities at the water main with payment by the 
property owner.  All taps to existing water mains must be done by a “Hot Tap” method and 
by approved City of Woodburn Contractors.  The applicant shall install the proper type of 

185



DR 2019-03 Staff Report 
Attachment 102 

Page 62 of 62  

backflow preventer for all domestic, lawn irrigation and fire sprinkler services.  The backflow 
devices and meters shall be located near the city water main within an easement, unless 
approved otherwise by Public Works. Contact Byron Brooks, City of Woodburn Water 
Superintendent, for proper type and installation requirements of the backflow device at (503) 
982-5380. 

14. Grease Interceptor/Trap:  If applicable, a grease trap would need to be installed on the 
sanitary service, either as a central unit or in the communal kitchen/food preparation area.  
Contact Marion County Plumbing Department for permit and installation requirements, (503) 
588-5147. 

15. Fire:  Fire protection requirements must comply with the Woodburn Fire District standards 
and requirements.  Place fire hydrants within the public ROW or public utility easement and 
construct them in accordance with Public Works Department requirements, specifications, 
standards, and permit requirements.  Fire protection access, fire hydrant locations and fire 
protection issues must comply with current fire codes and Woodburn Fire District standards.  
See City of Woodburn Standard Detail No. 5070-2 Fire Vault.  The fire vault must be placed 
within the public right-of-way or public utility easement. 

16. SDCs:  The developer pays System Development Charges prior to building permit issuance.  
Staff will determine the water, sewer, storm and parks SDCs after the developer provides a 
complete Public Works Commercial/Industrial Development information sheet. 

186



Design Review DR 2019-03;  
Property Line Adjustment PLA 2019-03;  

Variance VAR 2019-02 
1310-1340 N Pacific Hwy 
Public Works Comments 

 September 30, 2019 

CONDITIONS OF LAND USE APPROVAL: 

1. The Applicant, not the City, is responsible for obtaining permits from state, county and/or 
federal agencies that may require such permit or approval. All work within the Oregon 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) right-of-way requires the applicant to obtain 
approval and permits from ODOT. 
 

2. The Applicant shall obtain approval from the Oregon Department of Transportation 
(ODOT) for the storm drainage analysis that will impact ODOT’s system. The storm 
drainage hydraulic analysis shall comply with both ODOT and City’s requirements. 
 

3. The applicant shall obtain approval from ODOT for the proposed access to Pacific 
Highway (Hwy 99E). The access shall comply with both ODOT and City’s requirements. 
 

4. Final review of the Civil Plans will be done during the building permit application.  Public 
infrastructure will be constructed in accordance with plans approved by public works and 
ODOT. 

CONDITIONS TO BE ADDRESS DURING THE BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION 

5. All City-maintained facilities located in private property shall require a minimum of 16-foot 
wide utility easement conveyed to the City by the property owner.  This is the applicant’s 
responsibility to provide, not the City’s. Utilities of unusual depth, size or location may 
require a larger width. 
  

6. Provide and record the required right-of-way dedication, public utility easements, 
pedestrian easements, and waterline easements prior to building permit issuance.  
 

7. Applicant to provide for the installation of all franchise utilities and shall provide any 
required easements for these facilities. All permanent utility services to the development 
shall be underground 

8. Department of Environmental Quality Erosion Control 1200C permit will need to be 
obtained for this development prior to City issuance of permit.  
 

9. If required a Permit from the Oregon Division of State Lands and US Army Corps of 
Engineering will need to be obtained to mitigate/delineated wetlands. This shall be 
obtained prior to city issuance of permit. 

 
 

10. Street lighting plan and design shall be approved by the City and ODOT. 
 

Attachment 102A

187



11. All sewer mains are a gravity system and the termini of sewer lines locations and depths 
shall be such that it is suited for future extensions to adjoining areas. Extend sanitary 
sewer main to northerly property line, end line with a manhole. 
 

12. Sewer main located on the south side of the property shall be properly abandon according 
to Public Works or Building Department requirements.  The line to be abandon by either 
filling the line with CDF or removing the line, requirement is pending final location of 
proposed buildings and existing sewer line.   
 

13. All sanitary sewer laterals serving the proposed developments are private up to the main 
line.  The main line is located along Highway 99E. 
 

14. The water mains serving this development shall be a looped system, shall be sized in 
accordance with flow and fire protection requirements.   
 

15. Fire hydrants locations and fire protection requirements shall be as per the Woodburn Fire 
Districts and City of Woodburn requirements. 
 

16. Actual fire hydrant locations and in-line valving locations shall not be determined until the 
construction final plan review.   

OTHER: 

1. Each lot, shall have its own sanitary sewer service connection to the main with proper 
private easements.  

 

 

188



 

Woodburn Development Ordinance Section 2.03 Ord. No 2562 9/10/2018 

Uses Allowed in Commercial Zones 
Table 2.03A 

Use Zone 
Accessory Uses (A)     Conditional Uses (CU)     Permitted Uses (P) 

Special Permitted Uses (S)     Specific Conditional Uses (SCU) DDC CG CO MUV NNC 

5 Motor vehicle towing  CU 3    
6 Parking lots and garages  P P P  P 
7 Recreational vehicle park  CU 1    
D Miscellaneous      
1 Facilities during construction  S S S S S 
2 Fence or free-standing wall  A A A A A 
3 Temporary outdoor marketing and special event: 

a. Arts and crafts 
b. Food and beverages, including mobile food 

services 
c. Seasonal sales of fireworks, Christmas trees, 

produce or plant materials 
d. Amusement rides and games 
e. Entertainment 
f. Any other merchandise or service which is neither 

accessory to a primary, permanent use of the 
property nor marketed by employees of that 
permanent use 

S S S S S 

E Residential      
1 Attached single-family (row houses) dwellings  P P 2  P P 

2 Child care facility, group home, and nursing home P 8 P 8 P 8 P 8 P 8 

3 One dwelling unit, in conjunction with a commercial 
use  P P P P P 

4 Multiple-family dwellings P P CU P P 

1. Not allowed in the Gateway Overlay District 

2. Only allowed in the Gateway Overlay District 

3. Allowed outright if not within 200 feet of residentially zoned properties 

4. Within a building, no outdoor storage or repair 

5. All outdoor storage and display shall be enclosed by a seven foot masonry wall. 

6. Existing uses are allowed as a permitted use, new uses are not allowed in the MUV 

7. Drive-throughs are not allowed 

8. Child care facility for 13 or more children, group home for six or more persons 
  

E Residential

4 Multiple-family dwellings P

CG

Attachment 103

189



 
 

  Highway 99E Corridor Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted July 9, 2012 

 

Attachment 104

190



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012   9 

consists of a single-story building with a surface parking lot in front of it; however, the size and 
configuration of the building and the parking lot vary by site. 

Large-scale redevelopment opportunities in the central part of the corridor are limited to the area 
around the Mt. Hood / Molalla / Highway 99E intersection. There are a number of small to medium-
scale or infill redevelopment opportunities between Mt. Hood / Molalla and Lincoln.  Redevelopment 
south of Lincoln will face greater challenges due to the number of smaller and shallow parcels in this 
area.   

South of Cleveland there is substantial vacant and redevelopable land. Comprehensive Plan designations 
in this area include Industrial, Commercial, Low-Density Residential, and Medium-Density Residential.  
Existing land uses include a variety of commercial/industrial uses such as self-storage, manufactured 
home sales, a bank, automobile repair and salvage, and food processing businesses; a small apartment 
complex; a manufactured housing development; and farms. 

Corridor Design Tools 
A variety of tools and strategies can be used throughout the Highway 99E corridor to improve 
pedestrian and bicyclist access, comfort and mobility, corridor aesthetics, and safety for all users in the 
corridor.  These tools and strategies were identified and described in Technical Memorandum #5: 
Opportunity Design Toolbox (April 7, 2011).  The Toolbox includes Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities such 
as Crossing Treatments, Sidewalks and Bike Lanes, and Connectivity; Streetscape Elements; Gateways; 
Signage; Site Development; Access Management; and Redevelopment Opportunities.  The tools 
described formed the building blocks of the initial corridor design options developed by the Project 
Team, and the most suitable tools have been incorporated into the recommendations in the Corridor 
Plan. 

V. Corridor Plan Overview 
The corridor was divided into four segments for the purposes of developing land use and transportation 
recommendations.6  The boundaries of the corridor segments are shown on Figure 2.  This section 
summarizes the key land use and transportation changes associated with the Corridor Plan.  These are 
also illustrated graphically in Figure 2: Key Corridor Enhancements on page 12.  

Transportation 

Highway 99E Cross-Sections 
The Corridor Plan proposes no physical streetscape changes to Highway 99E north of Lincoln (Segments 
1 and 2).  South of Lincoln (in Segments 3 and 4), the highway would be widened to accommodate bike 
lanes, sidewalks, street trees, and room for amenities such as street lights and enhanced transit stops, 
bringing the highway up to the City’s adopted Major Arterial standards.  While motor vehicle and freight 
mobility remains the highway’s primary purpose, the landscaping and wider sidewalks would help make 
                                                           
6 See Draft Corridor Plan Design Concepts (May 2011) for further explanation of how the corridor was divided into segments.  
Fundamentally, the four segments reflect differences in existing land use and transportation conditions and, as anticipated in 
earlier stages of this project, now reflect different land use, urban design, and transportation solutions. 

This section 
summarizes the key land use and transportation changes associated with the Corridor Plan.  These are 
also illustrated graphically in Figure 2: Key Corridor Enhancements on page 12.

191



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012   10 

the highway safer and more attractive for pedestrians.  The existing 80-foot right-of-way would need to 
expand to approximately 100 feet in Segment 3 (from Lincoln to south of Cleveland) to accommodate 
these physical streetscape improvements.  South of Cleveland (in Segment 4), the roadway would be 
widened from the existing two-lane highway to add a continuous two-way left turn lane, wider 
shoulders (also serving as buffered bike lanes), and sidewalks (separated from the travel lanes by a 
landscaped buffer or vegetated stormwater swale). Here, these improvements would likely fit within the 
existing right-of-way.  The proposed cross-sections for each segment of the highway are shown in Figure 
3: Roadway Cross-sections for Highway 99E on page 13.7 

Intersection Modifications 
The other key modification proposed for the roadway system is a recommended change to street 
connections and circulation surrounding the Young Street and Cleveland Street intersections.  Currently, 
the intersections of Birds Eye and Highway 214 and of Silverton and Highway 99E are located very close 
to other intersections and intersect at odd angles, creating a dangerous situation for drivers.  This area 
has a history of crashes due to these issues.   

The Plan proposes to restrict turn movements at these intersections in the short-term, and close them 
completely and vacating the public street right-of-way in the long term8 (conceptual illustrations of the 
short-term modifications are shown in Figure 4 on page 14; long term conceptual alignments are shown 
on Figure 5 on page 15).  Consistent with the City’s adopted TSP, a new traffic signal is planned at 
Cleveland Street and Highway 99E (this is shown on Figure 5).9  No changes are proposed to the existing 
Bird’s Eye Avenue railroad crossing.   The intersection of George Street and OR 214 is also recommended 
for closure in the long term, once a suitable connection is made at the eastern end of George Street.  It 
is important to note that the solutions illustrated on pages 14 and 15 are conceptual in nature and are 
intended to express a short and long term way forward to improve conditions at this intersection. 
Further refinement will take place in close consultation with the business and property owners affected 
as engineering designs are produced, prior to any changes being made.  The specific needs of the 
businesses in the area for vehicle access (including trucks) will be taken into consideration during the 
engineering design stage.   

The proposed turn restrictions and eventual street closures would enhance safety in the area by 
reducing vehicle turning conflicts.  In addition, vacation of the street right-of-way that would no longer 
be needed after closure of the streets would create an opportunity for lot consolidation (i.e. the 
opportunity for a single property owner or developer to acquire a group of properties and bring them 
under common ownership), adding approximately 27,000 square feet of developable commercial land at 
this highly visible corner location.  

                                                           
7 ODOT Rail Division has advised that a two-way center turn lane on Highway 99E should not approach any closer than 325 feet 
to the existing railroad track on either side of the crossing.  This is because it is important for drivers to focus on the crossing 
and be alert for signals without the added distraction of turn movements, jockeying for position, and potential sideswipe 
collisions in the immediate approaches to a crossing.  Two-way turn lane traffic is difficult to control and presents a temptation 
to motorists to drive around lowered crossing gates. 
8 Note that vacation of right-of-way may require action by both the City and ODOT. 
9 Prior to installation in this location, a new signal must meet ODOT traffic warrants, have Region 2 Traffic Manager support, 
and obtain State Traffic Engineer Office approval.     

192



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012   11 

Other Transportation Improvements 
Additional transportation improvements are identified in Appendix B and summarized briefly below: 

 Measures to improve safety and convenience for pedestrians crossing Highway 99E, such as 
enhancements at signalized intersections and mid-block protected crossings.   

 Signal timing and intersection improvements to accommodate the expected changes in traffic 
flow due to closing the Silverton Avenue intersection and the increased traffic generation 
potential from the new Mixed Use area.  

 Improvements to connectivity through new street connections and bicycle / pedestrian 
accessways. 

 Adoption of access management policies for the corridor to improve safety for vehicles, bicycles, 
and pedestrians.  (Recommendations related to access management are addressed in Section 
VII beginning on page 23.) 

Land Use and Urban Design 
The centerpiece of the land use and design features of the Corridor Plan is a new “Mixed Use Village” 
centered at the intersection of Young Street and Highway 99E.  The mixed use area is intended to 
provide an activity node on Highway 99E and a sense of connection to Downtown Woodburn. The new 
Mixed Use Village will be implemented through a new zoning designation with a slightly different mix of 
uses and different set of site design standards than exists today under the existing General Commercial 
zoning.  Over time, through new development and redevelopment, the new zone will create a more 
pedestrian-oriented, walkable streetscape with buildings close to the sidewalk and parking lots situated 
to the rear or side of buildings.  The proposed new zone is described in more detail in Section VIII 
beginning on page 30.  

The proposed new zone will be implemented in phases, beginning with an area near the Young Street 
intersection (“Phase 1”), where a gateway treatment and other public investments could help spur 
redevelopment.  The new zone will be applied throughout the remainder of Segment 3 when 
improvements to Highway 99E are programmed.10  The exception is for properties currently outside city 
limits, where the new zone will be applied upon annexation into the city.  This phasing approach is 
illustrated on Figure 2.    

Conceptual illustrations of potential redevelopment in the Mixed Use Village are provided in Section IV.  
These illustrations are intended to show what future development could look like within the Mixed Use 
Village; they are aspirational rather than regulatory. 

Outside of the Mixed Use Village, the land use regulations would remain largely unchanged, although 
modifications related to access management, special street setbacks, and frontage improvements would 
apply throughout the corridor. These recommendations are summarized in Section VI. 

                                                           
10 Rezoning is recommended to occur for Phase 2 through a legislative action by the City once funding for the detailed 
engineering design of the improvements to Highway 99E in Segment 3 is committed. 

Additional transportation improvements are identified in Appendix B and summarized briefly below:

Improvements to connectivity through new street connections and bicycle / pedestrian 
accessways.

Adoption of access management policies for the corridor to improve safety for vehicles, bicycles,
and pedestrians. 

193



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012   12 

Figure 2: Key Corridor Enhancements 

 

Figure 2: Key Corridor Enhancements

194



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012  Appendix B: 2  

 Close the intersection of George Street at Highway 214 to through motor vehicle travel, leaving 
it accessible by pedestrians, bicycles, and emergency vehicles only. This project shall not be 
constructed prior to the project that would construct a new local street connecting George 
Street to Highway 214 just west of the urban growth boundary (see New Streets, project (a)).  

New Streets 
The following projects are added to the intermediate to long-term (next 10-15 years) project list on page 
7-6 of the TSP: 

 Construct a new local street connecting George Street to Highway 214 just west of the eastern 
urban growth boundary.  

 Enhance north-south connectivity of local streets paralleling the Highway 99E corridor as part of 
property development or subdivision and/or by extending Cooley Road from Hardcastle Avenue 
to Highway 214. 28 

Pedestrian Plan 
The pedestrian plan described on pages 7-9 and 7-10, as well as Figure 7-3, of the TSP is amended to 
include the following projects: 

 Install countdown pedestrian timers and construct ADA enhancements at signalized 
intersections along Highway 99E.  

 Construct curb extensions to shorten pedestrian crossing distances on approaches to Highway 
99E where appropriate (no curb extensions are to be constructed that would narrow the width 
of Highway 99E itself). Street approaches where curb extensions should be considered include: 
Alexandria Avenue, James Street, Williams Street, Blaine Street, Aztec Drive, Laurel Avenue, and 
Tomlin Avenue. 

 Provide pedestrian and bicycle access to Highway 99E from adjacent residential neighborhoods. 
This will require development of accessways and obtaining easements. Pedestrian/bicycle 
accessways must include a paved surface of at least 10 feet wide with a minimum vertical 
clearance of 10 feet. Potential locations for pedestrian/bicycle accessways connecting to 
Highway 99E include: from June Way (near the Audrey Way intersection), from Johnson Street, 
from Elm Street, from Wilson Street, and from Hawley Street (possibly part of future street 
extension). 

 Construct enhanced pedestrian crossings of Highway 99E. Identification of crossing locations 
should occur through collaborative efforts with the community and the Oregon Department of 
Transportation. The maximum potential for enhanced pedestrian crossing locations is estimated 
to include: three crossings between Mt Hood Avenue and Hardcastle Avenue, one crossing 
between Hardcastle Avenue and Lincoln Street, and three crossings between Lincoln Street and 

                                                           
28 Because an extension of Cooley Road as described would run outside of the city’s UGB, it is included as a purely conceptual 
project to be considered at a later date if the land in question is eventually added to the UGB.  The incremental improvement of 
north-south connectivity through new street connections east of Highway 99E may accomplish the same objective and 
eliminate the need for Cooley Road itself to be extended. 

Pedestrian Plan

Provide pedestrian and bicycle access to Highway 99E from adjacent residential neighborhoods.
This will require development of accessways and obtaining easements. 

195



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012  Appendix B: 5  

Table B1: Cost Estimates for Proposed Transportation Improvements 

Project 
No. Project Title Estimated 

Capital Cost* 
Owning 

Jurisdiction** 

Ten to Fifteen Years (2010-2020) 

Tier 1: Short Term Projects 

1 Restrict turning movements and eventually close Silverton Avenue 
intersection with Highway 99E $16,000 State/City 

2 Restrict turning movements and eventually close Birds Eye Avenue 
intersection with Highway 214 $23,000 State/City 

3 Implement Traffic Management Plan for Highway 99E corridor $45,000 State 

4 Install pedestrian countdown timers and construct ADA ramps at 
signalized intersections on Highway 99E (3 intersections) $110,000 State 

5 Construct curb extensions on select approaches to Highway 99E - 
parallel to highway, not narrowing highway (8 intersections) $60,000 State/City 

6 Construct enhanced pedestrian crossings along Highway 99E (7 total) $280,000 State 

Tier 2: Medium Term Projects 

7 Coordinate Highway 99E traffic signals from Hardcastle Avenue to Young 
Street (and future Cleveland Street signal) $55,000 State 

8 
Improve Highway 99E/Young Street intersection to add a westbound 
lane (providing separate left, through, and right lanes) and protective-
permissive left turn phasing on eastbound and westbound approaches 

$550,000 State 

9 Close George Street intersection with Highway 214, maintaining passage 
for pedestrians, bicycles, and emergency vehicles $60,000 State/City 

10 Construct new local street connecting George Street to Highway 214 
just west of the eastern UGB $425,000 City 

11 Extend Mill Creek corridor off-street pathway to Belle Passi Road $840,000 County/City 

12 Construct pedestrian/bicycle accessways between Highway 99E and 
residential areas (total of 5 locations – highly variable costs) $675,000 City 

Tier 3: Long Term Projects 

13 Highway 99E widening from Lincoln Street to 1,150 feet south of 
Cleveland Street $7,150,000 State 

14 Highway 99E widening from 1,150 feet south of Cleveland Street to 
proposed southern UGB $5,130,000 State 

15 Improve roadway lighting along Highway 99E corridor (assumed 60% of 
corridor) $2,110,000 State 

16 Enhance north-south connectivity of local streets paralleling the 
Highway 99E corridor as part of property development or subdivision 

$8,270,000 County/City 

Tier 3: Long Term Projects

Enhance north-south connectivity of local streets paralleling the 16
Highway 99E corridor as part of property development or subdivision

Table B1: Cost Estimates for Proposed Transportation Improvements

196



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012  Appendix B: 6  

and/or by extending Cooley Road from Hardcastle Avenue to Highway 
214 *** 

 Grand Total $25,799,000  

Notes:  

* Cost estimates are in 2011 dollars. 

** Owning Jurisdiction does not necessarily indicate the likely funding source for the improvement.  In some cases, 
private development or other funding sources may contribute part or all of the cost of the improvement. 

*** Because an extension of Cooley Road would run outside of the city’s UGB, it is included as a conceptual project 
to be considered at a later date if the land in question is eventually added to the UGB.  The incremental 
improvement of north-south connectivity through new street connections east of Highway 99E may accomplish 
the same objective and eliminate the need for Cooley Road itself to be extended. 

197



 

Highway 99E Corridor Plan  
July 2012  Appendix B: 7  

Figure B2: Proposed Transportation Improvements 

 

198



ROBIN

WOODLAND

CLU
B

C
O

U
N

TR
Y

COUNTRY CLUB

M
ER

ID
IA

N

LINCOLN

LINCOLN

Oregon 214

PARR

CROSBY

STACY
ALLISON

A
6T

H

AR
NEY

BO
O

NE
S 

FE
RR

Y

H
ER

IT
AG

E

SHENANDOAH

EAST HARDCASTLE

JU
LI

E

KOFFLER

HENRYS

COUNTRY

STAFNEY

CARSON

FE
S

C
U

E

D
U

N
N

LAUREU

MULBERRY

MCCORMICK

BUNKER

C
AH

IL
L

LANDAU

6T
H

GARDEN

AN
N

A

WARREN

LU
BA

GREENVIE
W

KOERNER

TE
N 

O
AK

S

KE
LO

W
N

A

CONSTITUTION
DEER RUN

C
LA

C
K

AM
A

S

EAGLE

MAYANNA

PLUM

SANTIAM

VERA

WOODBURN-H
UBBARD

STEVEN

NEKIA

GOUDY GARDENS

FINZER

LI
LA

C

GEORGE

EV
ER

G
R

E
E

N

THOMPSON

IRONWOOD

JUDY

O
R

E
G

O
N

N
O

 N
A

C
AR

O
L

M
C

LA
U

G
H

LI
N

CAMAS

JA
NA

LE
AS

U
R

E

OATS

C
O

R
BY

JORY

ALEXANDRA

DOUD

W
HIT

NEY

RYE

SILVERTON

LINDA

MEADOW

AZTEC

IN
DU

ST
RI

AL

BR
YA

N

MYRTLE

C

HA
W

LE
Y

TUKWILA

W
O

R
KM

AN

R
O

Y

C
O

LU
M

B
IA

HARRISON

SERRES

PANA

COMMERCE

Q
U

IN
N

H
AL

L

TOMLIN

PU
B

LI
C

JU
NE

KING

ST
U

B
B

VANDERBECK

JAMES

PR
IN

C
ET

O
N

CLEVELAND

U
M

PQ
U

A

GARFIELD

D

CARL

4T
H

EAST LINCOLN

PROGRESS

EL
M

EL
AN

A
SA

LL
A

L

BO
O

NE
S 

FE
RR

Y

RAINIER

WILSON

BROW
N

BELLE PASSI

COOLE
Y

B

5

C
AS

C
A

D
E

SM
IT

H

W
O

O
D

LA
N

D

STARK

HAZELNUT

BLAINE

CROSBY

CLEVELAND

AS
TO

R

HARDCASTLE

GA
TC

H

W
IL

LO
W

LEBRUN SE
TT

LE
M

IE
R

PA
R

K

PARR

OGLE

YOUNG

HAYES

5T
H

A

AR
N

E
Y

3R
DLINCOLN

2N
D

1S
T

BU
TT

EV
IL

LE

FRONT

Oregon 219

Oregon 219

Oregon 211

O
regon 214 

Ore
go

n 
99

 E

CHERRY

Figure 7-1
Functional Classification

Designations
City of Woodburn TSP

Legend
Existing Facility

Freeway

Major Arterial

Minor Arterial

Service Collector

Access Street

Proposed New Facility

Minor Arterial

Service Collector

Access Street

Railroad

Historic Settlemier Transportation
Corridor

Urban Growth Boundary

Proposed Urban Growth Boundary

0 2,500

Feet

Note (1):   Roadway facilities shown outside the UGB are  recommended, not planned
                 facilities in the TSP, and are logical extensions and improvements to the
                 planned roadway network.  Land use decisions to authorize these as planned
                 facilities and improvements would occur as part of a subsequent UGB
                 amendment adding these areas or a subsequent amendment to the TSP.
         (2):  New facilities are only represented conceptually, actual alignment likely to vary.

File Path: \\rosa\proj\ODOT\185701\GIS\data\MapDocuments\ReportFigures\7-01_funct_class.mxd, Date: 01 11, 2005 9:35:17 AM

Attachment 105

199



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBITIndex

Sheet Index
Composite Aerial Site Plan  01

Project Information  02

Area Calculations  03

Building Type 1 23

Building Type 2

Clubhouse

Attachment 106

200



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT
Composite Aerial Site Plan 01

201



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT
Project Information 02

17'

ACCESS EASEMENT

35'

6' RIGHT OF WAY
DEDICATION

PROPERTY
LINE

PLAY
AREA

CLUB
HOUSE

ST
AT

E 
HI

GH
W

AY
 9

9E
 - 

NO
RT

H 
PA

CI
FI

C 
HI

GH
W

AY

26
'

26
'

6'

32
'

8'

8'

20'

6'

6'

17' 20' 6'6'

13
'

6'

20
'

13
'

17
'

20
'

13
'

6'

7.5'

9'

7.5' 9'7.5'

5' SIDE/ PARKING
SETBACK

DOG WASTE
STATION

10' REAR
SETBACK

10' PUBLIC UTILITY
EASEMENT

70' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
FOR FUTURE RIGHT OF WAY

TREES TO BE
REMOVED

4" CURBS -
TYP.

BBQ

CONCRETE PEDESTRIAN
CROSSINGS

CARPORTS TRASH ENCLOSURE
SEE 1/A3

EXTERIOR STORAGE
CLOSETS WITH WALL
MOUNT BIKE RACK
(2'-4" x 4'-6" FLOOR AREA)

DOUBLE STRIPING
PER WDO 3.05.02(K)

WHEELSTOPS

BIKE RACK W/
(2) 2'x6' BIKE SPACES
AT EACH STAIRWELL

(4) 2'x6' BIKE SPACES
W/ TIRE PUMP

6' TYP.

DD

NEW 8' SIDEWALK

23'

23'

21.5'

23'

SECONDARY
DRIVEWAY

28' R.

28' R.

28' R.

10'

5.
5'

2'

VISION CLEARANCE
AREA PER WDO
3.03.06(B)(5)

10
'

10'

6' 6'

50'

12' ACCESS
EASEMENT

5' SIDE/ PARKING
SETBACK

17'

15
'

19
'

19
'

19
'

17' 6'20'8' 19'

6' 9'

9'
8'

9'

V

V

9'
VAN-ACCESSIBLE
AISLE

70' PUBLIC UTILITY
EASEMENT FOR FUTURE
RIGHT OF WAY

9'

9'

9'

6' 6'

5'

V

8' CONCRETE
PEDESTRIAN/
BIKE PATH

BIKE RACK W/ (2) 2'x6'
BIKE SPACES

EXISTING CURB

28' R.

EXISTING TREES
TO REMAIN

ALEXANDRA AVE.

100 SF CONCRETE PATIO
(6.5' x 8' BALCONIES ABOVE)

SIGNIFICANT TREE
TO BE REPLACED

17'

6' BENCH

15
'

6'
6'

6'
9'

19'

26'

17'
6'

8' 9'
6'

19
'

6'

6'6' 8'

6' 8'

7' 6'

6' TYP.

8'

8'

A

FG

B

C

DE

J

H

K

28' R.

9'

28' R.

17' 6'20'6'

9'

17'

20
'

POROUS GRASS PAVING
FIRE ACCESS LANE W/
MOUNTABLE CURB

28' R.

FUTURE 8' PEDESTRIAN/
BIKE PATH BY OTHERS

MAINTENANCE
BUILDING

SCALE:  1"=40'-0"1 SITE PLAN

160'0' 80' 

UNIT SUMMARY
1-BEDROOM:   36 (18%)
2-BEDROOM: 150 (74%)
3-BEDROOM:   18 (9%)
TOTAL: 204

VEHICLE PARKING
STANDARD: 169 (44.5%)
COMPACT: 213 (55.5%)
TOTAL: 382 (1.86 SPACES/UNIT)

COVERED: 192 (50%)
UNCOVERED: 190 (50%)
TOTAL: 382

ACCESSIBLE:     9 (2%)

BICYLE PARKING
COVERED:   34 (51.5%)
UNCOVERED:   32 (48.5%)

  66

NOTE:
5% OF PARKING SPACES TO BE
PROVIDED WITH A CONDUIT SYSTEM FOR
THE FUTURE INSTALLATION OF ELECTRIC
VEHICLE CHARGING STATIONS PER OAR
918-020-0380

202



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT
Area Calculations 03

PARKING LOT
LANDSCAPING AREA
34,964 SF
(34% OF PARKING LOT AREA)

PARKING LOT AREA
103,264 SF

RECREATION AREA
(EXTERIOR)
3,200 SF

COMMON OPEN SPACE
107,585 SF
(37% OF SITE AREA)

SITE AREA
290,780 SF

RECREATION AREA
(INTERIOR)
1,400 SF

DRIVEWAY AREA
2,157 SF

SCALE:  1"=40'-0"1 SITE PLAN - AREA CALCULATIONS

160'0' 80' 

203



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

204



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

205



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

206



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

207



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

13

208



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

209



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

210



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

211



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3

0.7

0.8

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.5

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.3

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.5

0.7

3.0

1.7

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.8

2.5

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.4

0.6

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.3

0.3

1.3

3.8

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.6

1.9

2.5

1.2

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.9

2.8

0.8

0.6

1.7

3.4

1.9

0.9

0.7

0.8

1.6

2.8

0.6

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.6

0.9

1.9

1.2

4.2

1.4

1.3

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.8

1.4

0.6

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.7

1.5

3.4

1.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

2.5

1.8

0.4

0.5

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.9

1.0

0.7

1.4

1.3

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.1

0.6

1.3

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.4

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.7

0.6

1.0

0.8

0.3

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.7

1.0

3.3

4.3

1.0

0.3

0.1

0.7

2.9

2.9

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.8

2.2

2.7

2.7

0.7

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.6

3.0

3.4

2.1

1.2

0.7

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.9

1.2

2.7

0.7

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.5

2.4

3.3

2.7

1.5

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.4

0.6

1.1

2.1

0.7

0.6

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.5

1.5

3.9

3.1

1.6

1.0

0.7

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.6

1.6

3.3

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.7

3.3

2.9

2.6

1.8

1.1

0.9

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

1.0

1.3

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.6

1.4

1.7

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.9

3.5

2.2

2.0

1.7

1.3

1.3

0.2

0.5

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.9

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.7

1.7

2.9

2.5

1.8

1.1

0.8

0.3

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.1

0.9

1.0

2.8

4.4

3.2

1.7

1.0

0.6

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.8

2.2

4.1

3.4

1.6

0.8

0.4

0.1

0.5

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.5

0.6

1.3

3.8

3.3

1.6

0.8

0.3

0.5

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.5

1.4

3.9

4.0

2.9

1.5

0.9

0.4

0.8

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.6

1.0

2.0

2.8

2.5

1.5

1.0

0.4

1.0

1.4

1.6

1.3

0.9

1.4

2.3

2.0

1.9

1.6

1.2

0.7

1.3

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.1

1.5

2.3

1.9

1.9

1.5

1.3

0.7

1.5

1.7

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.3

2.0

2.6

2.1

1.4

1.1

0.4

1.3

1.6

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.9

3.5

3.2

2.0

1.2

0.9

0.2

1.0

1.5

1.7

1.5

1.0

0.5

1.3

2.6

1.8

1.1

0.9

0.3

0.8

1.2

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.4

0.6

1.8

1.7

2.4

2.1

0.6

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

1.4

1.4

1.5

1.6

5.0

4.1

1.1

1.2

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.9

4.4

3.2

2.0

1.4

1.8

1.2

3.3

2.2

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.6

3.3

3.4

2.6

1.5

2.9

1.7

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.6

1.8

3.7

2.7

1.4

1.5

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.7

2.3

2.6

2.5

1.7

3.3

1.7

3.2

2.1

1.3

1.2

1.3

0.7

2.6

2.7

2.4

1.6

1.6

0.9

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.7

1.7

3.8

2.7

1.7

3.3

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.9

3.4

4.4

2.9

1.4

1.6

0.7

3.3

2.1

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.5

1.0

3.6

2.9

1.3

0.5

0.3

1.7

1.5

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.8

2.4

3.9

2.7

1.4

1.3

0.5

0.6

3.3

2.1

1.1

1.0

0.8

1.1

3.1

3.0

2.2

1.6

3.5

0.9

0.4

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.9

1.6

1.9

1.5

1.3

1.4

0.6

0.4

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.6

3.2

1.6

1.3

1.8

3.4

0.7

0.6

3.1

2.0

1.3

1.2

1.3

1.0

1.5

1.9

1.4

1.3

1.5

0.5

0.4

1.3

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.9

2.0

3.4

2.6

1.7

1.8

2.6

0.6

0.4

1.0

1.2

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

1.1

2.1

2.7

1.5

1.4

1.6

0.6

3.2

1.9

0.9

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.8

1.2

1.4

1.2

0.9

1.2

4.1

4.5

2.5

1.8

3.9

5.0

0.9

0.3

0.3

0.6

0.5

0.7

0.3

0.3

0.5

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.9

1.9

1.5

1.3

2.3

2.4

0.9

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.5

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.1

0.9

0.8

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.5

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.7

1.0

1.

1.

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.

1.2

1.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.0

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.1 0.1 0.1

FG

J

H

K

Statistics

Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min MIN 
AVG.

ADA PARKING-1 2.0 fc 3.5 fc 0.8 fc 4.4:1 2.5:1 1.0 FC

ADA PARKING-2 2.1 fc 3.7 fc 0.8 fc 4.6:1 2.6:1 1.0 FC

ADA PARKING-3 1.2 fc 1.3 fc 1.0 fc 1.3:1 1.2:1 1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-4 1.6 fc 2.9 fc 0.7 fc 4.1:1 2.3:1  1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-5 1.5 fc 3.1 fc 0.7 fc 4.4:1 2.1:1  1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-6 1.4 fc 3.3 fc 0.3 fc 11.0:1 4.7:1 1.0 FC
LIGHT SPILL BLDG. F 0.1 fc 0.5 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT SPILL ON BLDG. K 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT TRESSPASS NORTH PROPERTY LINE 0.1 fc 0.3 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT TRESSPASS SOUTH PROPERTY LINE 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
OVARALL PARKINING & DRIVEWAY 1.2 fc 6.6 fc 0.1 fc 66.0:1 12.0:1

Schedule

Symbol Label Quantity Manufacturer Catalog Number Description Lamp Number 
Lamps Filename Lumens Per 

Lamp
Light Loss 

Factor Wattage

A
58 Lithonia Lighting CLX L24 1500LM HEF  

L/Lens  MVOLT GZ10 30K 
90CRI

CLX LED Linear 24" 1,500 lumens, 
Premium Efficiency, Less louver, 
L/Lens ,  General distribution, 
MVOLT, 0-10V dimming, 3000 
CCT, 90 CRI

LED 1 CLX_L24_1500LM
_HEF_L_Lens_MV
OLT_GZ10_30K_9
0CRI.ies

1221 0.85 10.39

B
27 Lithonia Lighting DSX0 LED P1 30K T3S 

MVOLT HS
DSX0 LED P1 30K T3S MVOLT with 
houseside shield

LED 1 DSX0_LED_P1_30
K_T3S_MVOLT_HS
.ies

3632 0.85 38

C
15 Lithonia Lighting DSXW1 LED 10C 700 30K 

T3S MVOLT
DSXW1 LED WITH (1) 10 LED 
LIGHT ENGINES, TYPE T3S OPTIC, 
3000K, @ 700mA.

LED 1 DSXW1_LED_10C
_700_30K_T3S_M
VOLT.ies

2593 0.85 26.2

D
15 Lithonia Lighting WST LED P1 30K VF 

MVOLT DS VG
WST LED, Performance package 1, 
3000 K, visual comfort forward 
throw, MVOLT, dual switching, 
vandal guard

LED 1 WST_LED_P1_30K
_VF_MVOLT_DS_V
G.ies

1664 0.85 14

Mounting
Hieght
10 Ft.

20 Ft.

10 Ft.

10 Ft.

Leeb Architects
03.18.19
DESIGN REVIEW

WEST COAST HOME SOLUTIONS
PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

1310 & 1340 N. PACIFIC HIGHWAY
WOODBURN, OREGON

For Information
Only

Not for
Construction

212



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

1.6

2.7

2.9

1.6

1.2

1.5

1.5

1.0

0.9

1.1

1.0

0.7

1.1

1.5

1.5

0.9

1.6

2.8

2.8

1.4

1.6

2.8

2.3

1.5

1.0

1.4

1.2

0.9

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.7

1.1

1.6

1.3

0.9

1.8

3.1

2.3

1.1

0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.3

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.1

0.9

0.8

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.5

0.8

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.3

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.9

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.4

1.2

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.7

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.6

1.3

1.2

1.1

0.8

0.5

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.8

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.5

0.8

1.2

1.3

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.5

1.6

1.4

1.3

0.7

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.3

1.0

0.7

0.5

0.5

0.7

0.9

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.2

0.4

1.5

1.9

1.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.7

2.8

1.3

0.8

0.7

0.6

1.5

2.9

2.6

1.9

0.2

0.4

0.6

2.1

1.2

0.8

0.7

0.6

2.8

6.6

4.7

2.9

1.9

4.9

3.7

0.6

0.3

0.6

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.8

1.7

3.1

3.3

2.5

1.4

2.8

1.9

0.3

0.4

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.8

1.1

1.8

1.6

1.1

1.6

1.1

0.3

0.9

3.6

1.5

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.6

1.0

0.9

0.8

1.4

0.9

0.2

0.5

1.1

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.6

2.4

1.0

0.9

0.9

3.0

1.6

0.3

0.4

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.4

0.5

1.5

1.3

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.2

0.8

3.1

1.6

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.2

0.7

2.4

1.8

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.7

1.9

1.2

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.9

1.5

2.7

1.8

0.8

0.9

0.4

0.1

0.6

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.6

0.3

2.0

2.6

2.0

1.5

1.3

3.5

1.0

0.2

0.9

3.7

1.6

0.9

0.9

0.8

0.3

0.8

0.9

1.3

1.1

0.9

1.2

0.6

0.2

0.6

1.3

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.9

0.4

1.7

1.6

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.6

0.6

0.1

0.7

1.9

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.2

0.4

1.9

2.0

2.2

1.6

1.3

3.2

0.8

0.1

0.8

3.1

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.1

0.4

1.4

2.6

1.4

0.7

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.3

0.7

0.9

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.3

1.0

1.2

2.2

1.5

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.9

1.0

0.8

0.8

3.4

2.3

2.0

1.4

1.6

2.2

0.8

0.2

0.5

1.3

1.0

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.5

1.1

1.2

2.1

1.5

2.7

5.9

1.1

0.2

0.8

3.6

1.5

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.5

1.3

1.9

2.5

1.3

0.9

1.0

0.3

0.1

0.5

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.9

0.7

0.6

3.2

2.7

2.5

1.2

1.8

2.9

0.5

0.1

0.7

2.3

1.4

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.3

0.7

1.0

1.7

1.1

0.8

0.9

0.3

0.1

0.8

2.7

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.2

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

0.9

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.5

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.3

0.5

0.9

1.4

1.0

1.3

1.4

0.3

0.1

0.8

3.2

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.1

0.8

2.7

2.3

2.2

1.1

1.9

2.1

0.4

0.1

0.6

1.7

1.2

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.6

1.8

3.6

2.5

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.7

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.8

1.5

2.0

2.0

1.5

3.6

3.2

0.6

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

1.5

3.7

1.9

1.4

1.2

1.8

1.8

0.9

0.4

0.7

2.5

1.3

0.9

0.8

0.7

0.7

1.2

1.0

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.0

0.7

2.5

1.4

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.9

2.3

1.5

0.6

1.2

1.7

1.6

1.4

1.3

1.3

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

1.2

4.5

1.0

1.2

1.6

2.4

2.6

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.5

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.9

3.5

1.5

1.2

1.2

1.3

0.4

0.8

0.8

3.3

1.2

2.1

2.9

2.4

1.7

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.4

0.6

1.5

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

0.3

0.7

0.4

0.3

1.2

1.8

1.3

1.0

0.9

1.2

1.3

1.2

1.4

1.2

0.4

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.1

0.3

1.7

2.9

0.6

0.5

0.9

1.6

1.9

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.9

0.6

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.7

0.2

0.7

0.9

0.4

0.4

1.0

1.9

2.6

2.2

1.7

1.3

0.9

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.7

0.6

0.2

0.2

0.6

2.8

1.7

3.3

2.8

2.2

1.4

0.8

0.6

0.8

0.8

0.8

0.6

0.4

1.4

0.8

0.4

1.4

1.8

1.1

0.6

0.5

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.2

0.3

0.5

2.8

1.7

0.5

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.1

1.1

1.1

0.3

1.1

0.7

0.2

0.1

0.3

0.6

1.1

1.2

1.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.1

1.1

1.2

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.8

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.2

0.5

0.8

0.9

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.7

0.9

1.0

0.8

0.5

0.6

1.0

1.2

1.2

0.8

0.5

0.9

1.2

1.5

1.3

0.9

0.6

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.5

1.2

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.6

1.6

1.3

1.1

0.6

1.0

1.4

1.7

1.4

1.4

0.4

0.8

1.1

1.4

1.3

1.2

0.2

0.5

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.1

0.4

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.6

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

A B

C

DE

Statistics

Description Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min MIN 
AVG.

ADA PARKING-1 2.0 fc 3.5 fc 0.8 fc 4.4:1 2.5:1 1.0 FC

ADA PARKING-2 2.1 fc 3.7 fc 0.8 fc 4.6:1 2.6:1 1.0 FC

ADA PARKING-3 1.2 fc 1.3 fc 1.0 fc 1.3:1 1.2:1 1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-4 1.6 fc 2.9 fc 0.7 fc 4.1:1 2.3:1  1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-5 1.5 fc 3.1 fc 0.7 fc 4.4:1 2.1:1  1.0 FC
ADA PARKING-6 1.4 fc 3.3 fc 0.3 fc 11.0:1 4.7:1 1.0 FC
LIGHT SPILL BLDG. F 0.1 fc 0.5 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT SPILL ON BLDG. K 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT TRESSPASS NORTH PROPERTY LINE 0.1 fc 0.3 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
LIGHT TRESSPASS SOUTH PROPERTY LINE 0.0 fc 0.2 fc 0.0 fc N/A N/A
OVARALL PARKINING & DRIVEWAY 1.2 fc 6.6 fc 0.1 fc 66.0:1 12.0:1

Schedule

Symbol Label Quantity Manufacturer Catalog Number Description Lamp Number 
Lamps Filename Lumens Per 

Lamp
Light Loss 

Factor Wattage

A
58 Lithonia Lighting CLX L24 1500LM HEF  

L/Lens  MVOLT GZ10 30K 
90CRI

CLX LED Linear 24" 1,500 lumens, 
Premium Efficiency, Less louver, 
L/Lens ,  General distribution, 
MVOLT, 0-10V dimming, 3000 
CCT, 90 CRI

LED 1 CLX_L24_1500LM
_HEF_L_Lens_MV
OLT_GZ10_30K_9
0CRI.ies

1221 0.85 10.39

B
27 Lithonia Lighting DSX0 LED P1 30K T3S 

MVOLT HS
DSX0 LED P1 30K T3S MVOLT with 
houseside shield

LED 1 DSX0_LED_P1_30
K_T3S_MVOLT_HS
.ies

3632 0.85 38

C
15 Lithonia Lighting DSXW1 LED 10C 700 30K 

T3S MVOLT
DSXW1 LED WITH (1) 10 LED 
LIGHT ENGINES, TYPE T3S OPTIC, 
3000K, @ 700mA.

LED 1 DSXW1_LED_10C
_700_30K_T3S_M
VOLT.ies

2593 0.85 26.2

D
15 Lithonia Lighting WST LED P1 30K VF 

MVOLT DS VG
WST LED, Performance package 1, 
3000 K, visual comfort forward 
throw, MVOLT, dual switching, 
vandal guard

LED 1 WST_LED_P1_30K
_VF_MVOLT_DS_V
G.ies

1664 0.85 14

Mounting
Hieght
10 Ft.

20 Ft.

10 Ft.

10 Ft.

Leeb Architects
03.18.19
DESIGN REVIEW

WEST COAST HOME SOLUTIONS
PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

1310 & 1340 N. PACIFIC HIGHWAY
WOODBURN, OREGON

For Information
Only

Not for
Construction

20

213



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT
Building Type 1

1

3

2
20’0’

20’0’

20’0’

20’0’

0’

0’

23

214



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT
Building Type 2

1

3

2
20’0’

20’0’

20’0’

20’0’

0’

0’

215



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT
Clubhouse

1

3

2

10’0’10’0’

10’0’ 10’0’

0’

0’

216



PACIFIC VALLEY APARTMENTS

LAND USE REVIEW

04 SEPTEMBER 2019

1310 & 1340 NORTH PACIFIC HIGHWAY  
WOODBURN, OREGON

EXHIBIT

MATERIAL-3

MATERIAL-2

MATERIAL-1

MATERIAL-1

MATERIAL-4

MATERIAL-1

RED/ORANGE

MATERIAL-2

DARK GREEN

MATERIAL-3

TAN

MATERIAL-4

VARIEGATED

217



Agenda Item 
 

 

 
 
Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___ City Attorney __x____ 
 

 November 12, 2019 
 

 
To:              Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
From: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director     
 
Subject: Call-Up Briefing:  Planning Commission Approval of a Modification to 

Conditions of Approval for Salem Health Clinic at 105 N. Arney Rd 
(MOC 2019-01) 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends no action and briefs the Council on this item pursuant to 
Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The Council may 
call up this item for review if desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review of 
this decision. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
In June 2018, the Planning Commission approved development of a 2-story 
health clinic on the subject property. Separately, a building permit was issued for 
a temporary modular clinic that would be operational until construction of the 
permanent clinic was completed. A condition of approval for the permanent 
clinic requires the temporary clinic to be removed prior to issuance of Certificate 
of Occupancy. 
 
The requested proposal is to modify the condition mentioned above to keep the 
temporary clinic open until the permanent clinic opens to provide an adequate 
transition period for shifting employees and patients into the new building. 
Following the opening of the permanent clinic, the temporary clinic will be 
removed and site improvements will be completed in accordance with the 
approved plans. On October 24, 2019, the Planning Commission held a public 
hearing and unanimously approved a Modification to Conditions of Approval 
application.  
 
The applicant testified in support of their proposal, no other parties testified. 

218

http://www.ci.woodburn.or.us/sites/default/files/WDO%20Ordinance%20-%20January%209%2C%202017.pdf#page=203


Agenda Item 
 

 

 
 

  November 12, 2019 
 

 
To:              Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
From: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director  
 Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A, Senior Planner     
 
Subject: Call-Up Briefing:  Planning Commission Approval of Conditional Use, 

Design Review, Street Exception, and Variance Applications for 
Heritage Elementary School at 440 Parr Rd (CU 2019-02, DR 2019-02, 
EXCP 2019-02, & VAR 2019-01) 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends no action and briefs the Council on this item pursuant to 
Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The Council may 
call up this item for review if desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review of 
this decision.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on October 24, 2019 and 
unanimously approved the Conditional Use, Design Review, Street Exception, 
and Variance (Type III) with the conditions recommended by staff through the 
staff report published October 3 – except that the Commission modified select 
conditions per the applicant’s testimony submitted the date of the hearing as a 
memo, “Requested Modifications to Conditions of Approval for Nellie Muir 
Elementary School Improvements”. 
 
The modified conditions: 

• Allow exterior wall-mounted lights to be up to 18 feet (ft) high instead of 
15 ft. (Condition C5) 

• Defer off-site improvement of the pedestrian crossing along the west leg 
of the intersection of Parr and Harvest Way to be compliant with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  (This is the nearest intersection east 
of the school.) (C7) 

• Defer public utility easements (PUEs) dedications until building permit final 
inspection, which is essentially the same time as certificate of occupancy 

219

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo


 

Page 2 of 2 

(C of O), later than building permit issuance as the recommended 
conditions had stated. (D2) 

• Allow lenient measure of the WDO 3.05.03E requirement that bicycle 
parking be within 50 ft of a main entrance by allowing it to be measured 
from the covered walkway that extends from the main entrance. (D4) 

• Defer right-of-way (ROW) and roadside public utility easement (PUE) 
dedications and construction of street improvements until building permit 
final inspection, which is essentially the same time as certificate of 
occupancy (C of O), later than building permit issuance as the 
recommended conditions had stated.  Deferral includes upgrading the 
existing sidewalk to be ADA-compliant and, following closure of middle 
driveway W3, replacement with curbing, sidewalk, and a street tree. 
(Condition EX1) 

 
No parties testified in opposition to the proposal. 
 
The proposal by Woodburn School District 103 is about partial site 
redevelopment including campus expansion through addition/expansion of the 
south rear annex outbuilding, removal of several modular buildings, restoration 
and upgrade of east side staff parking Lot C, and modifications to the north 
front visitor parking area and drop-off / pick-up drive aisle at Heritage 
Elementary School (E.S.) on Tax Lot 052W13 00500 in the Public and Semi-Public 
(P/SP) zoning district. 

220



Agenda Item 
 

 

 
 

  November 12, 2019 
 

 
To:              Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 
 
From: Chris Kerr, Community Development Director  
 Colin Cortes, AICP, CNU-A, Senior Planner     
 
Subject: Call-Up Briefing:  Planning Commission Approval of Conditional Use, 

Design Review, Street Exception, and Variance Applications for 
Lincoln Elementary School at 965 & 1041 N. Boones Ferry Rd (CU 2019-
06, DR 2019-08, EXCP 2019-04, & VAR 2019-06) 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends no action and briefs the Council on this item pursuant to 
Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO) Section 4.02.02.  The Council may 
call up this item for review if desired and, by majority vote, initiate a review of 
this decision.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on October 24, 2019 and 
unanimously approved the Conditional Use, Design Review, Street Exception, 
and Variance (Type III) with the conditions recommended by staff through the 
staff report published October 16 – except that the Commission modified select 
conditions per the applicant’s testimony submitted the date of the hearing as a 
memo, “Requested Modifications to Conditions of Approval for Nellie Muir 
Elementary School Improvements”. 
 
The modified conditions defer the following items until building permit final 
inspection, which is essentially the same time as certificate of occupancy (C of 
O), later than building permit issuance as the recommended conditions had 
stated: 
 

• Improvements to bring handicap parking stalls and sidewalk crossings of 
driveways into compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA).  
(Condition C1) 

221

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo


 

Page 2 of 2 

• Right-of-way (ROW) and roadside public utility easement (PUE) 
dedications (D3) 

• Cross-site public utility easements (PUEs) dedications. (D4) 
• Street improvements, namely repairing broken sidewalk, upgrading 

sidewalk crossings of driveways to be ADA-compliant, and planting trees 
and shrubbery in existing planter strips.  

 
No parties testified in opposition to the proposal. 
 
The proposal by Woodburn School District 103 is about partial site 
redevelopment including campus expansion through west rear 
addition/expansion, removal of several modular buildings, and partial upgrade 
of east front visitor parking area and drop-off / pick-up aisle at Lincoln 
Elementary School (E.S.) on Tax Lot 051W07BD 02300 in the Public and Semi-
Public (P/SP) zoning district. 
 
The request was for partial site redevelopment including campus expansion 
through west rear addition/expansion, removal of several modular buildings, 
partial upgrade of east front visitor parking area and drop-off / pick-up aisle.  
The subject property is in the Public and Semi-Public (P/SP) zoning district. 
 

222


	Agenda19-11-12
	Agenda Packet19-11-12
	Council Meeting Minutes October 28, 2019
	Easements
	Agenda Item - Nellie Muir  Temporary PUE Easement - Killian Springs
	ATTACHMENTS

	NES Killian TEMP PUE-Revised, WSD signed, 11-05-2019
	Agenda Item - Nellie Muir PUE Easements - Cascade  Killian (002)
	ATTACHMENTS

	NES Killian PUE-Revised, WSD signed, 11-05-2019
	NES Cascade PUE-Revised, WSD signed, 11-05-2019
	Agenda Item - Nellie Muir Right-of-Way Dedication - Cascade & Killian
	ATTACHMENTS

	Cascade and Killian Springs ROW

	Sr Grating Pacific
	Staff Report - Enterprise Zone Extended Abatement - Grating Pacific, LLC
	FROM: Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director
	UBACKGROUNDU:
	UDISCUSSIONU:
	UFINANCIAL IMPACTU:

	5 Year ExtendedTax Abatement Agreemnt
	Grating Pacific - OR Enterprise Zone Authorization Application

	I & E Construction Enterprise zone
	Staff Report - Enterprise Zone Extended Abatement - I & E Construction
	FROM: Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director
	UBACKGROUNDU:
	UDISCUSSIONU:
	UFINANCIAL IMPACTU:

	5 Year ExtendedTax Abatement Agreemnt
	I&E Construction - Oregon Enterprise Zone - complete

	Republic Services
	AGENDA ITEM - Nov 12 Republic Rate Incease
	2019 Rate Proposal Packet 9.24.19
	Republic Rate Increase Resolution 11.12.19
	Exhibit 1 - Woodburn Rate Sheets (w Adjustment)

	Supplemental Budget with attachments
	Supplemental Budget
	Staff Report FY 2019-20 Supplemental Budget Request for Creation of PERS Side Account

	Exhibit A-- FY 2019-20 Supplemental Budget Request for Creation of PERS Side Account
	Exhibit B-- FY 2019-20 Supplemental Budget Request for Creation of PERS Side Account
	Supplemental Budget
	Supplemental Budget Resolution PERS Side Account 11-12-19


	Enterprise Zone expansion
	Staff Report - EZ Expansion 11-12-2019
	Attachment A - Letter to Taxing Districts
	Attachment B 19-010 Enterprise Zone Boundary Change
	Resolution  - EZ Boundary Expansion
	COUNCIL BILL NO. 3114
	RESOLUTION NO. 2146

	Exhibit A - Boundary Expansion Map
	Exhibit B - Legal Description
	Exhibit C - City Limits Enterprise Map
	Tax Lot information.pdf
	Parcels


	Exhibit D - EZ Flier - boundary expansion

	CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM -  Murraysmith Contract Award - I-5 PS  Final Design
	Pacific Valley Apartments call-up staff memo 2019-11-12 DR 2019-03 draft 3
	Attach 1 PC Draft minutes 10-10-19
	staff_report_dr_2019-03_pac_valley_apts_fin_w_attachs
	City Council Agenda Item call-up briefing - MOC 2019-01 final
	City Council Agenda Item call-up briefing - CU 2019-02 final
	City Council Agenda Item call-up briefing - CU 2019-06 final




